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or email enquiries@companieshouse.gov.uk
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Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group

Koy Figures (1FRS)

in € million (as of December 31} 2018 2017
e ————————— = - - ——— F e — - - S— [ LW __ |
- 83,042 78,747

L bles attributable to
Retail financing 19,882 18,032
Dealer financing ~ 12,162 12,430
Leasing business 18,829 18,858
Customer deposits 32,389 33,583
Equity B 11,639 u3n
Ope(itjgg prqfrt 952 994
Prafit before tax 978 992
Income tax expense . =275 ~336
Profit after tax 703 656
in % (as of December 31) 2018 2437
Equity ratio ) 140 - 164
Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratic” 155 156
Tier 1 capital ratio’ 155 156
Total capital ratio1® 155 15.7
Numbes {as of December 31) 2018 iy
- AR AR ST
;mployees‘ 3,454 3,549

FRjING RS

CF T ERREY <)

Volkswagen Bank GmbH

1 Regulatory raties in accordance with Article 92(1} of the CRR.

STANNSRD A b0 s RO SINVESTUMS st RVICE
4l loen tory Tonm e tdiak Lere- T Toreg Far (AR
A=2 A- negative -1 Al stable

2 Due to the restructuring of the Volkswagen Bank GmbiH Group, SkaFIN, s.r.o0., Czech Republic, Volkswagen Finans Svenige AB, Sweden and volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Ltd.,

United Kingdom, have been part of the Group since 2017,
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Fundamental Information

about the Group

Continuous intetnational growth confirms the validity of the

Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group’s business model

BUSINESS MODEL

Within the Financial Services division of the
Volkswagen Group as a whole, the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is responsible for the operat-
ing activities relating to the provision of banking transac-
tions for retail and business customers. The individual activi-
ties include those described below.

Financing

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group provides finance for
retail customers, business customers and authorized dealers.
The principal activity is the financing of vehicles.

Leasing

At the branches of the Bank in Italy, Ireland and Portugal, the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group operates the finance lease
business. The branch in France and the companies in the
United Kingdom, Sweden and the Czech Republic are also
involved in the operating lease business in addition to fi-
nance lease activities.

Direct banking

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group offers retail customers
the entire range of direct banking services, including account
management, consumer finance, savings plans and invest-
ment products, The facilities provided for business custom-
ers by the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group include instant-
access accounts, fixed-term deposits and saving certificates
as well as a comprehensive range of payment services.

Broking

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group acts as an insurance
broker in connection with the financing of vehicles. As part
of its direci banking operations, it arranges loans secured by
charges entered in the land register and other long-term

forms of financing; it is also an intermediary for stock mar-
ket or fund investments.

One of the ways in which the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group pursues its objectives is joint
customer relationship management with other companies in
the Financial Services division of the Volkswagen Group and
this has led to continuous improvement in customer loyalty,
service quality and the range of products offered.

The business operations of the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are closely interlinked with
those of the manufacturers and the dealer organizations in
the Volkswagen Group.

ORGANIZATION OF THE VOLKSWAGEN BANK GMEBH
Generally speaking, the aim of all structural measures im-
plemented by Volkswagen Bank GmbH is to improve the
quality offered to both customers and dealers, make process-
es more efficient and leverage synergies. The motivation and
satisfaction of employees are key factors that enable us to
defend our position as a leading employer of choice.
Corporate Management is responsible for the Corporate
Sirategy & Market, Direct Bank Sales, Human Re-
sources & Organization, Internal Audit, International Busi-
ness and Legal & Compliance functions. Responsibility for
Corporate Management rests with Dr. Michael Reinhart,
Chairman of the Management of Volkswagen Bank GmbH.
The Accounting, Controlling, Treasury & Investor Rela-
tions, Payments and Regulatory Requirements functions
have been pooled under Finances, headed by Harald Hefike.
Christian Léibke is responsible for Risk Management,
which until August 31, 2018 included the Credit Rating Anal-
ysis & Parameters, Markets & Coordination, Risk Measure-
ment, Risk-Bearing Capacity & Stress Tests, Credit Analysis
and Back Office functions. This area was restructured with
effect from September1, 2018. The new structure groups
activities together to optimize interfaces, make responsibili-
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ties clearer and ready the organization for future challenges.
Risk Management now encompasses the Financial & Nonfi-
nancial Risks, Credit & Residual Value Risk Management, Big
Data & Analytics, Back Office, Strategic Risk Management and
Special Customer Care.

Responsibility for Operations, which encompasses IT
Governance & Management, Direct Bank Customer Service,
Direct Bank Process Management and Corporate Customer
Process Management, rests with Dr. Volker Stadler.

The structure and the  organization of
Volkswagen Bank GmbH satisfy the requirements of the
Mindestanforderungen an das Risikomanagement {MaRisk —
German Minimum Requiremenis for Risk Management in
Banks and Financial Services Institutions).

REPORT ON THE SUBSIDIARIES AND BRANCHES
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has a presence in nu-
merous countries within the European market. Each of the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH’s international branches in France,
Greece, the United Kingdom, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands,
Portugal, Poland and Spain serviced the business in the coun-
try concerned.

With effect from September 28, 2018, the subsidiary
Volkswagen Bank Polska S.A, Warsaw, was merged with
Volkswagen Bank GmbH. Since then, the Polish business has

Fundamental Information about the Group

been serviced at the newly established Poland branch. Please
refer to the section of this report covering equity invest-
ments for further information on changes in this regard.

The brand-related branches of the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group (Audi Bank, SEAT Bank, $KO-
DA Bank, Auto Europa Bank) are intended to provide specific
support for the financing of the corresponding vehicles. The
Ducati Bank Branch supports the financing of motorcycles.

in Braunschweig, Emden, Hanover, Ingolstadt, Kassel,
Neckarsulm, Salzgitter, Wolfsburg and Zwickau, the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group maintains branches offering
customers counter services, advisory support and, in some
cases, ATMs.

INTERNAL MANAGEMENT

The key performance indicators used by the Group are de-
termined on the basis of IFRSs and are presented as part of
the internal reporting system. The most important non-
financial performance indicators are penetration, current
contracts and new contracts. The financial key performance
indicators are the volume of husiness, deposit volume and
operating profit. Return on equity (RoE) and the cost/income
ratio {CIR) are used as further key perfoermance indicators in
the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.

Detmigan

Nonfinanclal peformance indicators

Amount of new contracts for new Group vehlcles under retail financing and leasing o
business to deliveries of Group vehicles, based on Volkswagen Bank GmbH’s consolidated

entities.

cammcﬁ recogmzed as of the reporting date

New contracts a 7 V Contracts recognized fur the ﬁrst timein the reportn;ng penod

Financial performam:e Indkﬂors

Loans to and receivables from cﬁstomers arisiné;f;a;n retall}inancTng;ieaier;“mancmg,

Volume of business leasing business and direct banking

Customer deposits, i.e. total I|abllmes from deposits arlsmg from dlrect banklng busmess

Volume of deposits dealer current account and from non-dlrect banking business

Interest income from Iendmg transactions and marketable secuntnes. net income from

leasing transaction, interest expenses, net income from service contracts, net income

from insurance business, provision for credit risks and net fee and commission income,

net gain or loss on hedges, net gain or loss on financial instruments measured at fair value

and on derecognition of financial assets measured at fair value through other

comprehensive income, general and administrative expenses and net other operating
Operating profit mcomelexpense

Return on equity before tax, which is calculated by dividing profit before tax by average
Return on equity eqmty

Persannel expenses, material overheads and accounting depreclatlon and

amortization/financial income and sales revenue net of risk costs, fee and commission
Cost/income ratic payments, funding costs and other direct costs?

1 Average equity is calculated on the basis of the structure of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group prier to September 1, 2017, using the
equity status as of December 31, 2016,
2 The earnings and cost elements are part of the management strategy of Volkswagen AG and are net reflected in the IFRS income
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staternent presented in this annual repert.

CHANGES IN EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Volkswagen Bank GmbH established Volkswagen Financial
Services S.p.A., Milan, Italy, on March 23, 2018. The company
will commence operational activities in 2019 once the licens-
ing process mandated by the Banca d'Italia has been com-
pleted.

Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Ltd., Milton Keynes,
UK, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Volkswagen Bank GmbH, acquired Volkswagen Insurance
Service Ltd., Milton Keynes, UK, from Volkswagen-
Versicherungsdienst GmbH and Velkswagen Group United
Kingdom Ltd. on May 4, 2018, This transaction was arranged
to integrate Volkswagen Insurance Service Ltd., UK, and with
it the company'’s insurance  business, into
Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Ltd.

Volkswagen Bank GmbH established a branch office in
Warsaw, Poland, on June 29, 2018. Volkswagen Bank Polska
S.A., a wholly owned subsidiary of Volkswagen Bank GmbH,
was merged with Volkswagen Bank GmbH on September 28,
2018. Since then, the business of Velkswagen Bank GmbH in
Poland has been conducted from the Polish branch office.

Volkswagen Bank GmbH transferred its 100% sharehold-
ing in Volkswagen Financial Services Ireland Limited, Dublin,
Ireland, to Volkswagen Financial Services AG on Septem-
ber 28, 2018. This transfer was completed with retroactive
economic effect from January 1, 2018.

The process that was initiated in 2016 to reorganize the
legal entities of Volkswagen Financial Services with the aim
of bringing European lending and deposits business together
consistently under Volkswagen Bank GmbH was continued
as planned. Further project activities are scheduled to achieve
the target structure in 2019.

Plans are in place to transfer Volkswagen Serwis Ub-
ezpieczeniowy sp. z 0.0. (Poland), SkoFIN s.r.o. {(Czech Repub-
licy and Volkswagen Financial Services S.p.A. (Italy) to
Volkswagen Financial Services AG. If the United Kingdom
leaves the European Union {EU) without a deal (hard Brexit),
action will also be taken te transfer Volkswagen Financial
Services (UK) Ltd., its subsidiaries MAN Financial Services plec.
and Volkswagen Insurance Service (Great Britain) Ltd., and
Volkswagen Financial Ltd. to Volkswagen Financial Ser-
vices AG. The merger of VW Finance 5.A.U. EF.C. (Spain) with
Volkswagen Bank GmbH is also planned.

Combined Management Report

SEPARATE NONFINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE GROUP

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has made use of the
option under section 289h({2) HGB and section 315b{2) HGB
exempting it from submission of a nonfinancial statement
and nonfinancial group statement and refers to the com-
bined separate nonfinancial report of Volkswagen AG for
fiscal year 2018, which will be available on the website
https://www.volkswagenag.com/presence/nachhaltigkeit/do
cuments/sustainability-report/2018/Nichtfinanzieller_
Bericht_2018_d.pdf in German and at
hitps://www.volkswagenag.com/presence/nachhaltigkeit/do
cuments/sustainability-report/2018/Nonfinancial_
Report_2018_e.pdf in English by no later than April 30, 2019.
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Report on Economic Position

Report on Economic Position

The robust growth of the global economy continued in fiscal year 2018 with a slight de-

crease tn momentien. Global demand for vehicles was somewhat lower than in the previous

veatr, Profit belore tax gencerated by the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is ot a Tevel with the

previous year,

PEVELOPMENTS IN THE GLOBAL ECONOMY
The global econemy sustained its rcbust growth in 2018 with
a slight decrease in momentum: global gross domestic prod-
uct (GDP) rose by 3.2 (3.3)%. Fconomic momentum nearly
matched the prior-year level both in advanced economies
and emerging markets. With interest rates remaining com-
paratively low and prices for energy and other commodities
rising year-on-year on the whole, consumer prices continued
to increase worldwide. Growing upheaval in trade policy at
international level and geopolitical tensions led to much
greater uncertainty.

Eu rope

The solid GDP growth in Western Europe slowed to 1.8 (2.3)%
as the year went on. The rate of change in the majority of
countries in this region decreased compared with the previ-
ous year. The Brexit negotiations between the United King-
dom and the Euro-pean Union (EU), which continued for the
entire year, generated uncertainty, as did the related question
of what form this relationship would take in the future. The
unemployment rate in the eurozone continued to decrease,
falling to an average of 8.1(9.0}%, though rates remained
considerably higher in Greece and Spain.

At 2.9{4.0)%, the Central and Eastern Europe region also
recorded a slower growth rate in the reporting period than in
the previous year. While the comparatively high level of GDP
growth in Central Europe slowed down on the whole, eco-
nomic growth in Eastern Europe remained unchanged. High-
er prices for energy and other commodities led to further
stabilization of the economic situation in the countries from
this region that cxport raw materials. Russia’s economy
improved somewhat with a growth rate of 1.6 (1.5)%.

Germany
Germany's GDP continued to grow in 2018 on the back of the
good labor market, however, momentum diminished year-

on-year to 1.5(2.5)%. Both company and consumer senti-
ment darkened as the year progressed.

TRENDS tN THE MARKETS FOR FINANCIAL SERVICES

Demand for automotive financial services remained high in
2018 despite a slight contraction in the overall market. Ser-
vice products such as maintenance/servicing agreements
and insurance were especially populaz, as customers in more
advanced automotive financial services markets arc putting
greater focus on optimizing overall running costs. In the fleet
segment, some customers tade use of support {rom auto-
motive financial service providers in order to optimize their
entire mobility management beyond mere fleet operation,
There was also increased demand from both private and
business customers for mobility services centered on vehicle
usage rather than ownership.

In Europe, sales of financial services climbed further in
the reporting peried. Both increased vehicle sales and a sig-
nificant rise in the number of finance and lease contracts
were contributing factors. Growth was also generated in the
used vehicle business, predominantly in Western and Central
Europe. Demand for after-sales products, such as servicing,
maintenance and spare parts agreements, as well as for au-
tomotive-related insurance saw an upward trend. The popu-
larity of automotive financial services products continued to
grow, especially in Spain and Italy. In the United Kingdom
and France, the demand for financial services was sustained
at a significant level.

In the German market, the share of loan-financed or
leased vehicles once again remained stable at a high level in
2018. Alongside traditional products, integrated mobility
services in the business customer segment and after-sales
products were particularly popular.

In the commercial vehicles segment, the European mar-
ket for financial services again performed positively.
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TRENDS IN THE PASSENGER CAR MARKETS

In fiscal year 2018, the global market volume of passenger
cars fell slightly below the prior-year level 1o 82.8 million
vehicles (—1.2%) after increasing for eight years in a row. This
decrease was attributable in particular to weaker perfor-
mance in the Western Europe and Asia-Pacific regions in the
fourth quarter. In the reporting period, stronger demand in
Central and Eastern Europe as well as in South America was
offset by declining volumes in the Asia-Pacific, Middle East,
North America and Western Europe regions.

Sector-specific Envirenment
The sector-specific environment was influenced significantly
by fiscal policy measures, which contributed considerably to
the mixed trends in sales volumes in the markets last year.
These measures included tax cuts or increases, incentive
programs and sales incentives, as well as import duties.

In addition, non-tariff trade barriers to protect the respec-
tive domestic automotive industry made the movement of
vehicles, parts and components more difficult.

Europe

In Western Europe, the total number of new passenger car
registrations in the reporting period was down 0.7% in total
on the prior-year figure, at 14.2 million. The continuing
slrong macreeconomic environment, positive consumer
sentiment and low interest rates generated a slight increase
in the first half of the year. The changeover to the new WLTP
{Worldwide Harmonized Light-Duty Vehicles Test Procedure)
as of September1, 2018 led to pull-forward effects in the
months of July and August and to significant declines from
September until December in some cases. New vehicle regis-
trations were mixed in the largest single markets. Spain
{+7.0%) and France {+3.0%) continued to record increases.
Both countries benefited from a buoyant macroeconomic
environment. In Italy, falling demand from both private and
commercial customers put a damper on market develop-
ment {-3.1%), among other things, as a consequence of the
political uncertainty during and after the formation of gov-
ernment. The UK passenger car market saw a continuation of
the negative trend from the previous year (~6.8%). This was
due, among other things, to the uncertain outcome of the
Brexit negotiations with the EU, The share of diesel vehicles
{passenger cars) in Western Europe slipped to 36.4 (44.4)% in
the reporting year.

In the Central and Eastern Europe region, the market vol-
ume of passenger cars in fiscal year 2018 rose markedly by
11.0% year-on-year to 3.4 million vehicles. New passenger car
registrations in the EU member states of Central Furope
increased further by 8.0% to 1.4 million units. Passenger car
sales in Eastern Europe also achieved a double-digit growth
rate {(+13.1%), starting from a low level. The Russian market
was the main growth driver in the region with an increase of
13.2%. This was mainly attributable to government programs

Combined Management Repert

to promote sales as well as to pull-forward effects resulting
from a value-added tax increase entering into force on Janu-
ary 1, 2019.

Germany

Amounting tc 3.4 million units (-0.2%) in the reporting peri-
od, passenger car registrations in Germany sustained the
previous year's high level. This was attributable not only to
the bueyant macroeconomic environment but alse to manu-
facturer discounts in the form of trade-in and scrapping
bonuses for older diesel models as well as to an environmen-
tal bonus for electric-powered vehicles (all-electric and plug-
in hybrid drives). The changeover to the WLTP test procedure
as of September 1, 2018, which limited model availability in
some cases, in total led te a declining overall market, whereas
the rise in new registrations for private customers (+2.0%) in
particular had a positive effect.

Domestic production and exports once again fell short of
the comparable prior-year figures in 2018: passenger car
production decreased by 9.3% to 5.1 million vehicles, white
passenger car exports fell by 8.9% to 4.0 million units. This
was primarily caused by declining volumes in Europe result-
ing to some extent from the changeover to the WLTP.

TRENDS IN THE MARKETS FOR COMMERCIAL VEHICLES
Overall demand for light commercial vehicles in fiscal year
2018 was slightly lower than in the previous year. A total of
9.0 (9.2) million vehicles were registered worldwide.

Despite the uncertain cutcome of the Brexit negotiations
between the EU and the UK, new registrations in Western
Eurcpe were up 2.8% to 2.0 million units. In Germany, the
comparative figure for 2017 was exceeded by 6.0%. The mar-
ket in Spain grew distinctly and the market in France record-
ed moderate growth, while Italy and the United Kingdom
registered a decline.

The markets in Central and Eastern Europe grew noticea-
bly on the whole, with 352 (324) thousand light commercial
vehicle registrations including 130 (124) thousand in Russia
alone. Most of the markets in this region succeeded in main-
taining or exceeding their prior-year results.

Global demand for mid-sized and heavy trucks with a
gross weight of more than six tonnes in the markets that are
relevant for the Volkswagen Group was higher in fiscal year
2018 than in the previous year, with 591 thousand new vehi-
cle registrations (+6.6%).

In Western Europe, the number of new truck registrations
exceeded the prior-year figure by 2.2% at a total of 297 thou-
sand vehicles, In Germany, Western Europe’s largest market,
the previous year's level was also exceeded slightly. While
demand in the United Kingdom and in Spain witnessed a
decline, it rose in France and ltaly.

The Central and Eastern Europe region saw demand rise
by 6.0% to 169 thousand units on the back of the positive
economic performance. The Russian market deteriorated as
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the year progressed and recorded only slight year-on-year
growth over the year as a whole. New registrations there
increased by 2.6% to 78 thousand vehicles.

GVERALL ASSESSMENT OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

The Management of Volkswagen Bank GmbH considers the
course of business in the year 2018 to have been satisfactory
overall. As expected, the operating profit was slightly Jower
than the prior-year figure,

The number of contracts increased further compared
with the previous year, and the total number of contracts in
the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group amounted to 6.4 million
(previous year: 5.5 million} as of the reporting date.

In 2018, the associated volume of loans to and receivables
from customers and the lease assets remained almost un-
changed year-on-year as a result of the relatively stable eco-
nomic development of the European markets.

The existing sales promotion programs with the brands
and continuous expansion of the fleet business led to further
growth in the volume of leans and receivables in the retail
and corporate portfolio in the reporting period, especially in
Germany and the United Kingdom. Measures previcusly put
in place, such as intensifying the remarketing processes, were
also sustained in fiscal year 2018,

Issues surrounding the WLTP led to a temporary fall in
the volume of loans and receivables for certain brands in the
dealer portfolie in fiscal year 2018. The first signs of recovery
were already in evidence in the fourth quarter of 2018 and
the volume of loans and receivables had regained the pre-
WLTP level by the end of the year.

Report on Ecanomic Position

A new global cross-company efficiency program was
launched in the year under review. The name of this program
is Operational Excellence (OPEX).

1t is focused on achieving further cost savings by 2025 in
addition to the requirements under current planning.

The main components are action plans to enhance
productivity {among other things by streamlining processes),
IT measures (including the global introduction of standard-
ized systems) and the optimization of selling costs (by out-
sourcing sales services to Volkswagen Financial Services AG
companies, for example).

CHANGES IN KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR FISCAL YEAR
2018 COMPARED WITH PRIOR-YEAR FORECASTS

The Bank managed to expand the portfolio of new contracts
and current contracts considerably on the back of continued
highly successful coilaboration with the brands and stronger
than expected growth in the markets.

The total volume of business was expanded substantially
in 2018 and exceeded the previous year's expectations. The
penetration rate was above expectations and significantly
higher than the prior-year level.

The volume of deposits, on the other hand, saw a moder-
ate decline.

We forecasted an operating profit for fiscal year 2018
maderately below that achieved in 2017, This forecast was
vindicated, despite the very substantial impact of positive
one-time effects on the resulis for fiscal year 2017, thanks to
an increase in the volume of business in 2018. Return on
equity and the cost/income ratio were accordingly also large-
1y as expected.
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Actual 2617° Forecast 2018 Artual 2018
- - e S - o—— —
Nenfinancial perfformance indicaters
Penetration (percent) 228 At 2017 leve! 308
Current contracts (tﬁ)u;;;;d—s)" 7 - B B 60?3 At 2017 level 6,393
New contracts (thousands 2292° At 2017 level 2,680
Financial perfarmance indicators _
Volume of business (€ million} i 59,592 At 2017 level 63548
Volume of deposits (€ million) " 33,583 At 2017 level 32389
T o T Moderately below 2017
Operating profit (€ million) 994 level 952
Return on equity (percent) i T T 108 Lower than in 2017 B.4
Cost/income. EB?E&:&) i ) i 387

1 The operating profit for 2017 includes pesitive non-recurring items.

o 387 Above 2017 level 45.0

2 A new tounting method for determining contract numbers was mtroduced on January 1, 2018
3 The new contracts figure for 2017 includes 2 550 thousand contracts from first-time consolidation.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group stabilized its overall
earnings performance in fiscal year 2018 at the level posted
in 2017.

At €952 million, the operating profit was moderately be-
low the level achieved in the prior year (€994 million), as
expected. At €978 million (-1.4%), profit before tax was also
just slightly lower than the figure of €992 million achieved in
the prior year. The share accounted for by the international
branches and companics was €791.0million or 81%. The
figures particularly reflected the profits generated by the
companies consolidated for the first time in the previous
year, which amounted to €517.5 million. These profits were
attributable to Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group for the full
fiscal year for the first time in 2018.

While the interest income from lending and securities
transactions fell slightly to €1,372.3 million {previous year:
€1,426.5 million), the net income from leasing transactions
rose significantly to €1,261.2 (previous year: €542.4 million).
This development is due in parlicular to the first-time con-
sideration of the net leasing income of Volkswagen Financial
Services (UK} Ltd. for the full fiscal year (€939.3 millien; pre-
vious year: €310 million).

Interest expense rose overall from €226.0 million to
€366.4 million, also due to the first-time consideration of the
intercst expense of Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Ltd.
for the full fiscal year.

Net income from service contracts is generated exclusive-
Iy in the branches and companies that also conduct leasing
business.

The required expenditure for provision for credit risks of
€648 million was more than double the equivalent expendi-

ture in the previous year (€315 million). Income from the
reversal of valuation allowances no longer required and
income from loans and receivables previously written off
totaled €554 million, significantly more than in the prior
year (€466 million). This resulted in a net addition of provi-
sions for credit risks in an amount of €94 million (previous
year: net reversal of €150 million).

Net fee and commission income was in negative territory
in 2018, with a net expense of €176 million {previcus year:
net expense of €13 million). This was mainly attributable to
the decline in fee and commission income from insurance
broking and the significant rise in fee and commission ex-
penses at Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Ltd. and at the
branch in France.

From fiscal year 2018, the following income statement
line items have been added within operating profit or loss to
adjust the breakdown in line with the standard market
presentation: net gain or loss on hedges, net gain or loss on
financial instruments measured at fair value and net gain or
loss on disposal of financial assets measured at fair value not
recognized in profit or loss. Net income of €60.8 million
{previous year: €9.6 million} was generated in total from
these two items. Both figures were influenced significantly in
a total amount of €59.1 million by Volkswagen Financial
Services (UK} Ltd.

General and administrative expenses were up slightly on
the prior-year level to €933 million (previous vear:
€916 million). The main reason for this was the increase of
€133 million in personnel expenses, other administrative
expenses having been reduced by €96 million.

Other operating income largely consisted of income from
the remarketing of vehicles. In 2018, the net income in this
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regard  amounted to €299 million (previous year:
€84 million). This also includes income from the reversal of
provisions in an amount of €67 million {previous year:
€68 million) and the reimbursement of costs from Group
companies in an amount of €33 million (previous year:
€165 million). Other operating expenses amounted to
€666 million (€315 million). This includes expenses arising
from the obligation to take over vehicles in an amount of
€375 million and expenses for legal and litigation risks of
€198 million.

Including the other components of financial gains or
losses, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group generated profit
after tax of €703 million {previous year: €656 million).

The profit of Volkswagen Bank GmbH determined in ac-
cordance with the HGB ({after deduction of taxes) amounting
t0 €204 million (previous year: €489 million) will be trans-
ferred to the parent company, Volkswagen AG, under the
existing profit-and-loss transfer agreement.

NET ASSETS AND FINANCIAL POSITION

Lending Business

The lending business of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group
mainly consists of vehicle-related loans granted to retail
customers, business customers and dealers. The volume of
these joans and receivables went up by 2.6% to €60.9 billicn.
The share of customer lending volume accounted for by
European countries other than Germany fell slightly from
€32.1 billion to €31.7 billion.

Retail financing

In the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, the total number of
current customer financing contracts rose to 2.5 million
(previous year: 2.4 million). 998 thousand new contracts were
entered into in fiscal year 2018 (previous yean
847 thousand). As of December 31, 2018, the volume of loans
and recejvables in retail financing amounted to €299 billion
{previous year: €28.0 billion). Of this total, €6.1 billion {previ-
ous year: €6.4 billion) was accounted for by Furopean coun-
tries other than Germany.

Dealer financing

The lending volume in dealer financing - which comprises
loans to and reccivables from dealers in connection with
financing for inventory vehicles, as well as working capital
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and investment loans — declined by 2.2% or €0.3 billion to
€12.1 billion.

The volume of loans and receivables related to the inter-
national branches and international subsidiaries came to
€6.7 billion (previous year: €6.9 billion) at the end of 2018.

Leasing business

Receivables from leasing transactions amounted to
€18.8 billion and were almost on a level with the previous
year (€189 billion}. Leasing business is offered exclusively in
European countries other than Germany.

Marketable securities

The poertfolio held by the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group
predominantly comprises bends from various countries
amounting to €3.3 billion (previous year: €2.1billion} and
ABS BONDS issued by the special purpose entities of
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH and Volkswagen Finance S.A.,
Madrid, Spain, totaling €0.1billion (previous year:
€0.4 billion).

Noncurrent assets held for sale

The noncurrent assets held for sale are the assets that will be
transferred as part of the intended transfer of SkoFIN s.r.o,
Prague, Czech Republic, and the leasing portfolio of the Ital-
ian branch to the Volkswagen Financial Services AG Group
within the one-year period.

Equity-accounted investments

The investments in DFM N.V., Amersfoort, Netherlands,
Volkwagen Finanéné sluZby Slovensko, s.r.o., Bratislava, Slo-
vakia, and Volkswagen Financial Services Digital Solu-
tions GmbH continue to be reported as equity-accounted
investments.

Long-term financial assets

As of December 31, 2018, Volkswagen Bank GmbH held 1% of
the equity in 00O Volkswagen Bank RUS, Moscow. This hold-
ing remained unchanged year-on-year. Following the merger
of  Volkswagen Bank Polska S$.A, Warsaw, with
Volkswagen Bank GmbH, the latter is the sole shareholder of
Volkswagen Serwis Ubezpieczeniowy Sp. z.0.0, Warsaw.
Volkswagen Finans Sverige AB, Sodertilje, is the sole share-
holder of Volkswagen Service Sverige AB, Sodertilje.
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CURRENT CONTRACTS AND NEW CONTRACTS

ol whith othyr

Vaolbswagen bene uf whids uf whal o whach: Ltwhich Unrted  branches/sansedia
thousand *2 Group Cermiany Haly Frange kingoem rles
Ll .. S
Current contracts’ 6,393 1,755 719 744 1727 1,448

Automotive r-et-ailﬂnancing B 173 R 164_5 T mm 132 25 300
- Consumer retail financing T IO_3 92 - o - - 1
Leasing business ' " 1516 - 59 o218 e; 260
Servicefinsurance @ 1w 3 394 7a L
Newcontracts’ 2680 580 329 332 s 602
* Automotive réi:aiiﬁnancing 970 553 1_3_6 68 61 153
‘Consumer retail financing ) ) 28 o - - - 2
Leasing business S - E(% - 7”178 s a1 o Eﬁ
Servicefinsuance 1p& 1 1 T
Emﬂl—m-:‘ e = e e e+ e e Mmoo e e e e e e 4 e e I - _
Loans to and receivables from customers - ’
attributable to
Retailfinancing 29882 2373 3240 870 199 1838
Dealer financgg- o - - 12,162 5,“0 986 15776 272799 ' 1,863
leasingbusiness®  aga - 77— 77 246 14088 2,279
i.;;e assets T EA_-S_:I-. - - - 7711265 o 2,908 o :!.:317
percent o ) )
Penetration rates® . Y B az1 55.0 285
1 Al figures shown are rounded; so minor discrepancies may arise from addition of these amounts.
2 A new counting method for determining tontract numbers was introduced on January 1, 2018,
3 Current contracts and new contracts in each case in relation to the markets shown for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.
4 Notincluding lease receivables of SkoFIN s.r.0. and the italian branch given the intended transfer of these business operations to the

Volkswagen Financial $ervices AG Group.
Ratic of new contracts for new Group vehicles to deliveries of Group vehicles in ach case in relation to the markets shown for the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.



Combined Management Report

Report on Economic Position

DEVELOPMENT OF NEW CONTRACTS AND CURRENT CONTRACTS AS OF DECEMBER 31

In thousunds

2018

2017

201e

2015

2014

g

1,516
2,421

21370
1422

1742

2,197
230
576

~
Y
cl

&
S e
s

4092
154
319

m Current contracts as of December 31

DIRECT BANK CUSTOMERS AS OF DECEMBER 31
Lending and deposit Drusiness and horrowings {in thousands)

2015 1,215
2017 A 1,269
2016 el ] 327
2015 1255
2014 1PV 1,243

Retail financing
< Leasing
Service/Insurance

Retail financing
< Leasing
Service/Insurance

Retail financing
< Leasing
Service/Insurance

Retail financing
< Leasing
Service/Insurance

Retail financing
< Leasing
Service/Insurance

CUSTOMER DEPOSITS AS OF DECEMBER 31
in £ million

2018

2017

2016

2015

2014

32,389

33,583

35,666

27,837

25152
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Deposit Business and Borrowings

On the equity and liabilities side of the balance sheet, the
main ilems other than equity are liabilities to customers,
which decreased by 3.6% to €39.6billion (previous year:
€41.1 billion), notes and commercial paper issued in the
amount of €16.9billion (previous year: €13.4billion) and
liabilities to banks in the amount of €8.9 billion (previous
year: €8.0 billion).

DEPOSIT BUSINESS
Deposit business in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group con-
tracted slightly compared with the prior year. As of the re-
porting date, the volume of customer deposits amounted to
€324 billion, which equates to a year-on-year decrease of
3.6% (previous year: €336 billion). The deposit business is
thus a significant contributing factor in helping the
Volkswagen Group retain its customers. Customer deposits
funded 39.0% (previous year: 42.6%) of the business volume,
which rose by 5.4% to 4.3 billion year-on-year.

In addition to the security provided by statutory deposit
guarantees, Volkswagen Bank GmbH is also covered by its
ongoing membership in the Deposit Protection Fund of the
Association of German Banks (Bundesverband deutscher
Bankene.V.}.

EQUITY
The subscribed capital of volkswagen Bank GmbH remained
unchanged at €318.3 million in fiscal year 2018,

The capital reserves of Volkswagen Bank GmbH remained
unchanged at €8.5 billion as of December 31, 2018.

The profit in accordance with the HGB to be transferred
1o Volkswagen AG under the existing profit-and-loss transfer
agreement amounted to €204 million (previous year:
€489 million}.

Equity in accordance with IFRSs as of December 31, 2018
was €11.6 billien {previous year: €11.3 billion). This resulted
in an equity ratio {equily divided by total assets) of 14.0%
(previous year: 14.4%) based on total assets of €83.0 billion.

Combined Management Report

CAPITAL ADEQUACY ACCORDING TO REGULATORY REGUIREMENTS
Under the provisions of the Capital Requirements Regulation
{CRR), a bank is deemed to have adequate capital backing if
the Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) capital ratio is at least 4.5%,
the Tier 1 capital ratio is at least 6.0% and the total capital
ratio is at least 8.0%. Banks must also comply with the capital
buffer requirements in the form of CET1 capital.

The ECB, acting on the basis of Article 16 of Council Regu-
lation No. 1024/2013 of October 15, 2013 conferring specific
tasks on the European Central Bank concerning policies relat-
ing to the prudential supervision of banks, issued a decision
on December 8, 2017, establishing regulatory requirements
for Volkswagen Bank GmbH. The decision was based on a
supervisory review in 2017. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH
Group satisfied the minimum requirements of the CRR, the
capital buffer requirements and the additional requirements
specified by the supervisory authorities at all times in the
reporting period.

The total capital ratio {ratio of own funds to the total risk
exposure amount) was 15.5% at the end of the reporting
period (previous year: 15.7%), well above the statutery min-
imum ratio of 8%.

The Tier 1 capital ratio and Common Equity Tier 1 capital
ratio were each 15.5% (previous year: 15.6%) at the end of the
reporting period, likewise well above the respective mini-
mum ratios of 6% and 4.5% specified in the CRR.

The total risk exposure amount is made up primarily of
credit risks, market risks, operational risks and credit valua-
tion adjustment {CVA charge). The Standardized Approach for
Credit Risk (CRSA) is used to quantify credit risk and to de-
termine risk-weighted exposures. The Standardized Ap-
proach as specified in Article 317 of the CRR is used to calcu-
late the own funds requirements for operational risk. The
own funds requirements for the CvA charge are determined
using the standardized method specified in Article 384 of the
CRR.

The following overview shows a breakdown of the total
risk exposure amount and own {funds:
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Dec. 31,2018 D 21,2007
VRS S — R ]

Total risk exposure amount* {€ million} 64,157 65,434
" of which nsk—welgﬁe;;;;orsure amounts for credit nsk ' - 56,682 -;3,503 o
of which own furds sequirements for market risk 125 7 2379 1,585
of whl_;-h_;wn funds ;-e;qulré;ﬁ:n?s furobe_;a-génal risk *12.5 4,417 4, 240
ofwhnch own funds; i it valuation ad]ij;;n{ 125 88 N _9_6

S 9973 o n iu,zai

Own funds (€ !mlllon) 7 ' h 9973 C E}Ei
;-f_\_ﬂ_l‘-l;;h commo-n-'n Equlty T'er 1 capltal a 6,945 7 16,333 7 o
of wihlicwl'nwliddltlon.;alrﬁrer 1 céﬁ.{éi - -
of which Tier 2 capital 28 )

Eommon Equlty Tier 1 :apli-a-l ratio™( (pen:enl) h N o 155 B 7 71_5.6

TIEI'ZCBPIHI ratlo (percent) - C 155 T 1ss

Total capital Ltlo_ {percent) o 7 _ 15.5 ' 157

1 According to Artide 92(3) of the CRR.

2 Aecording to Article 92{1) of the CRR.

REGULATORY RATIOS OF THE VOLKSWAGEN BANK GMBH AS OF DECEMBER 31

Own funds and total risk exposure/total sisk value Tier 1 capital ratio/ Overall ratios
in € biffion Comman equity Tier 1 capital ratio Total capital ratic

s 10.0 Tier1 capital/Common equrty Tier 1 capitall >
4) 5' 5 o)
s 100 o 155% »  155%
————— 4.2 Totaldiskvalue > >
— 1) 3 iier 1 capital’Common equity Tier 1 capitall >
L 07 [0)
2017 wemm Q3 Own funds 2.0%0 > . (4]
i ———————- € Totalrisk value > >
L K] Tier 1 capital/Commen equity Tier 1 capitall >
PR3] 2 s
2016 2w 64 Qwn funds ] 42 o > } 4_‘ 70
———emie G5 L Total risk valye > 3
- 43 Tier 1 capital/Common equity Tier Leapitall 5
o w e O funds [1.0% : 11.1%
— 3, o Total risk value > >
- 24 Tier 1 capital/Common cquity Tier 1 capital 2
i () PIRS RS
2014 w43 Own funds ] \%- ] %) > ] .%.s 0
————— ) G Tatah sk vatue 2 >

1 The amounts of Tier 1 capital and Common Equity Tier 1 capital are the same because Volkswagen Bank GmbH has not issued any
Additional Tter 1 capital instruments
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The year-on-year reduction in the regulatory capital ratios
(CET1 capital ratio, Tier 1 capital ratio and total capital ratio}
is largely attributable to the reduction in own funds. This
reduction in own funds stems largely from the increase in
the first loss position, which was deducted from the Com-
mon Equity Tier (CET) 1 capital.

TIER 1 CAPITAL RATIO/COMMON EQUITY TIER 1 CAPITAL RATIO

figures in %
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The total risk exposure amount decreased, primarily because
of the €3.8 billion reduction in the securitization position,
although some of this reduction was offset by the increasing
volume of business.

OVERALL RATIO/TOTAL CAPITAL RATIO

figqures in %

2013 I, 155
2017 R SR 15 &
2016 | 14.2
b | 119
2014 1 121

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has an adequate total
capital ratio, which ensures that there is an appropriate level
of capital even with a rising volume of business. In addition
1o making additions to capital reserves and using Tier 2 capi-
tal in the form of subordinated liabilities, the Bank can also
make use of ABS transactions to optimize its capital man-
agement. Volkswagen Bank GmbH therefore has the benefit
of a sound foundation for further expansion of the financial
services business.

CHANGES IN OFF-BA{ANCE-SHEET LIABILITIES

The off-balance-sheet liabilities relate mainly to irrevocable
credit commitments. At the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group,
they amounted to €2,313 million as of December 31, 2018
(previous year: €2,112 million).

LIQUIDITY ANALYSIS
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is funded largely
through capital market and asset-backed security programs,
and through direct banking deposits.
Volkswagen Bank GmbH holds liquidity reserves in the form
of securities deposited in its operational safe custody account
with Deutsche Bundesbank. Proactive management of the
operational safe custody account, which allows
Volkswagen Bank GmbH to participate in funding facilities,
has proven to be an efficient liquidity reserve approach. The
securities deposited as collateral in the operational safe cus-
tody account include senior ABS bonds issued by special
purpose entities of Volkswagen Leasing GmbH,
Volkswagen Finance S.A. and Volkswagen Bank GmbH total-

2018 | — 155
2017 157
2016 I 143
2015 I 111
2014 133

ing €10.8 billion as well as €3.3 billion of bonds from various
countries, German federal states (Linder bonds), suprana-
tional institutions and multilateral development banks plus
Pfandbriefe {mortgage bonds}. These senior ABS bonds are
not reported in the consolidated financial statements of
Volkswagen Bank GmbH because these special purpose enti-
ties are themnselves consolidated.

Certain standby lines of credit at other banks are also
available to protect against unexpected fluctuations in cash
flows. There are no plans to make use of these standby lines
of credit; their sole purpose is to serve as backup to safeguard
liquidity.

To ensure there is appropriate liquidity management,
Treasury prepares two different funding matrices, carries out
cash flow forecasts and uses this information to determine
the relevant range of liquidity coverage. In these calculations,
the contractual cash flows are assumed for funding instru-
ments, whereas estimated cash flows are used for other fac-
tors that affect liquidity. In the reporting period, the range of
ligquidity coverage taking into account simulated, limited
funding and a partial withdrawal of overnight deposits came
to a minimum of 30 weeks.

A stricter constraint on the management of liquidity at
Volkswagen Bank GmbH and in the entities within the regu-
latory basis of consolidation of the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is the liquidity coverage ratio
(LCR). From January to December in the year under review,
this ratio varied between 121% and 193% for
Volkswagen Bank GmbH and was therefore well above the
lower regulatory limit of 100% at all times. The changes in
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the liquidity ratio are continuously monitored by Treasury
and proactively managed by issuing a Jower limit for internal
management purposes. Highly liquid assets for the purposes
of the LCR include central bank balances and government
bonds plus other securities such as Linder bonds, suprana-
tional bonds and Pfandbriefe (mortgage bonds).

The requirement under the Mindestanforderungen an
das Risikomanagement (MaRisk - German Minimum Re-
quirements Risk Management) for Volkswagen Bank GmbH
10 provide a highly liguid cash buffer and appropriate liquidi-
ty reserves to cover any liquidity requirements over seven-
day and thirty-day time horizons was aiso satisfied at all
times, even under various stress scenarios. Compliance with
this requirement is determined and continuously reviewed
as part of the liquidity risk management system. In this pro-
cess, the cash flows for the coming twelve months are pro-
jected and compared against the potential funding available
in each maturity band. Adequate potential funding to cover
the liquidity requirements was available at all times, both in
the normal scenario and in the stress tests required by
MaRisk.

CAPITAL MARKET
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FUNDING

Strategic Principles

in terms of funding, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group
generally pursues a strategy of diversification with the aim of
achieving the best possible balance of cost and risk. This
means accessing the widest possible variety of funding
sources in the various regions and countries with the objec-
tive of safeguarding funding on a long-term basis at opti-
mum terms.

Implementation

In June 2018, Volkswagen Bank GmbH issued unsecured
bonds on the European capital market under its €10 billion
capital market program. It also funded its activities by carry-
ing out securitization transactions, using ECB funding in-
struments and attracting deposits.

Volkswagen Bank GmbH completed various securitiza-
tion transactions in Europe in the reporting period, among
them its first Italian securitization transaction.

The following tables show the transaction details:

Issuer Murnith Tauniey Vadumi- and curency Matuniy
Volkswagen Bank GmbH June Germany ELIR £00 million 33years
Volkswagen Bank GmbH June Germany EUR 600 million 3.5 years
Volkswagen Bank GmbH June Germany EUR 800 million 6 years
ABS TRANSACTIONS

Issuer Tramsaclion ninn Ma-sth Cutntiy Volurw and turrency
Volkswagen Finance S.A. Driver Espaiia five February Spain EUR 1.0 billion
\{plksvgagen Bank GmbH  Driver fourteen March  Germany EUR 900 rpi!lign
Volkswagen Financial Services UK Private Driver UK 2018-1 March United Kingdom GBP 1.25 billion
Volkswagen Bank GmbH, ttaly Branch Driver Italia one May Itaty EUR 500 million
Volkswagen Financialservies UK Drver UK Master C4 June United Kingdom GBP 621 millan
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Driver fifteen September Germany EUR 750 million

Customer deposit business contracted by €1.2hillion to
€324 billion in the reporting year.

The Bank continued to implement its strategy of obtain-
ing maturity-matched funding as far as possible by borrow-
ing on terms with matching maturities and by using deriva-
tives. Currency risks were largely eliminated by using
derivatives.

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group was able to meet its
payment obligations when due at all times in the reporting
period. Our diversified funding structure and our proactive
management of liquidity ensurc that the Bank will also re-
main solvent at all times in the future. No liquidity commit-
ments have been issued to special purpose entities.

15
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Ratings

Volkswagen Bank GmbH is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Volkswagen AG and, as such, its credit ratings with both
Moody's Investors Service {Moody’s} and Standard & Poor's
Global Ratings (S&P) are closely associated with those of the
Group's parent company.

Combined Management Report

In October 2018, S&P confirmed its short-term and long-term
ratings for Volkswagen Bank GmbH at A-2 and A- respective-
ly. The outlook remained negative over the course of the
entire year. Moody's adjusted its long-term credit rating for
Volkswagen Bank GmbH by two steps, from A3 to Al, in
August 2018 in response to changes in German banking law.
The outlook remains “stable”.
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Volkswagen Bank GmbH

Volkswagen Bank GmbH

{Condensed, in accordance with the HGRB)

As the parent company, Volkswagen Bank GmbH accounts
for a significant share of the business performance of the
Voltkswagen Bank GmbH Group. Please refer to the previous
section for a presentation of the business performance of the
Group in accordance with IFRS. In the section below, we
comment on the changes in the net assets, financial position
and results of operations of Volkswagen Bank GmbH in ac-
cordance with the HGB.

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE 2018

The result from ordinary activities amounted to
€225.9 million compared with €678.0 million in the prior
year,

The net interest income earned by

Volkswagen Bank GmbH, including interest anomalies from
negative interest and net income from leasing transactions,
came to €1,989.1 million compared with €1,700.5 million in
the prior year.

As in the prior year, interest income from lending and
money market transactions inciuding finance leases arose
predominantly from financing business with end customers
and from vehicle and capital investment financing with

dealers in the VolkswagenGroup, increasing by
€113.0 million year-on-year to €1,570.5 million.
Volkswagen Bank GmbH earned interest income of

€67.6 million (previous year: €71.0 million} from marketable
securities. Of this amount, €186 million (previous year:
€17.1 million) was attributable to marketable securities pur-
chased from ABS special purpese entities of
volkswagen Bank GmbH. A further €13.6 million {previcus
year: C18.6 million) was accounted for by interest income on
marketable securities purchased from special purpose enti-
ties of Volkswagen Financial Services (UK} Ltd, Milton
Keynes, UK, Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, Braunschweig, and
Volkswagen Finance $.A., Madrid, Spain.

Net income from leasing business amounted 1o
€441.6 million (previous year: €394.3 million). Here, income
from leasing transactions, which rose by €122.1 million or
17.1%, is set against expenses from leasing transactions,
which were up by €74.7 million or 23.3%. Interest anomalies
amounting to an expense of €82.3 million (previous year:
expense of €12.3 million) resulted primarily from money

market transactions in connection with the Bank's reserve
balance at the ECB in excess of the minimum reserve re-
quirement and from short-term deposits with domestic
banks.

Fee and commission income amounted to €352.0 million,
which equated to a year-on-year decline of €36.1 million,
largely caused by lower fee and commission income derived
from insurance broking. Other operating expenses amount-
ed to €749.2 million (previous year: €500.5 million). This rise
in other operating expenses stems from the new sales com-
mission maodel applying between Volkswagen Bank GmbH
and the companies of the Volkswagen Financial Services AG
subgroup since 2018, which provides for all sales activities to
be taken on by the companies of Volkswagen Financial Ser-
vices AG. Volkswagen Bank GmbH consequently ne longer
bears the direct costs associated with sales activities. Net fee
and commission income was in negative territory in 2018,
with a net expense of €397.2 million (previous year: net
income of €112.4 million).

General and administrative expenses decreased by
€629 million to  €7524 million  {previous  year:
€815.2 million}. Personnel expenses rose by €91.8 million to
€209.0 million. It should be noted in this connection that
following the reorganization of the legal entities in 2018,
personnel expenses are included in full in the income state-
ment. The equivalent figure for the previous year includes
the increased personnel expenses from the effective date of
the restructuring {September 30, 2017).

Among cost transfers from affiliated companies, expens-
es declined by €59.3 million to €265.6 million. This is mainty
because, following the restructuring, there is no longer any
need for Volkswagen Financial Services AG to lease employ-
ees to Volkswagen Bank GmbH. Data processing costs de-
creased by €50.2 million to €28.7 million.

Other operating income fell by €171.6 million to
€248.2 million as a consequence of the fact that under the
reorganized company structure, certain costs are borne di-
rectly by affiliated companies and income from the on-
debiting of indirect costs to affiliated companies is thus re-
duced.

Depreciation and write-downs on lease assets at the
French and Italian branches rose by €754 million to
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€4379 million. Other operating expenses amounted to
€316.0 million (previous year: €272.8 million).

In countries where additional credit risk had been identi-
fied in previous years, the provision for credit risk was re-
duced in the reporting period. This resulted in a net addition
of provisions for credit risk, amounting to €106.0 million in
the reporting vyear (previous year: net reversal of
€125.7 million). The profit after tax of €204.5 million {previ-
ous vear: €489.2million) will be transferred to
Volkswagen AG pursuant to the existing control and profit-
and-loss transfer agreement.

The volume of customer loans and receivables reported
in the balance sheet went up by €3.2 billion and amounted to
€51.1billicn on the reporting date {previous ycar:
€479 billion). Of this increase, a significant proportion
(€2.4 billion) was accounted for by sales financing loans and
receivables.

In 2018, loans and receivables in a nominal ameount of
€5.1 bhillion were sold Lo special purpose entities as part of
revolving ABS structures. In the case of ABS transactions in
which Volkswagen Bank GmbH has not acquired any securi-
ties from the special purpose entities concerned, the sold
loans/receivables are derecognized and are no longer report-
ed in the HGB balance sheet. As of the reporting date, the
carrying amount of these loans and receivables was
€1.9 billion (previous year: £1.7 billion).

Most of Volkswagen Bank GmbH'’s portfolio comprises
securities from ABS transactions, of which €11.2 billion {pre-
vious year: €11.6 billion) is attributable to securities from
own-account transactions. For investment purposes, the

INCOME STATEMENT OF VOLKSWAGEN BANK GMBH, BRAUNSCHWEIG
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portfolio also included ABSs with a total value of €0.9 billion
{previous year: €1.6 billion) issued by special purpose entities
of Volkswagen Financial Services (UK} Ltd., Milton Keynes,
UK, Volkswagen Leasing GmbH and Volkswagen Finance S.A,,
Madrid, Spain.

The main items on the equity and liahilities side of the
balance sheet are liabilities to customers ({including direct
banking business) of €34.4billion (previous year:
€35.4 billion), other liabilities of €12.2 billion (previous year:
€12.2 billion) and liabilities to hanks of €8.9 billion (previous
year: €7.2 billion).

The other provisions mainly comprised provisions to
cover costs associated with litigation and legal risks. The
provisions for litigation and legal risks reflect the risks identi-
fied as of the reporting date in relation to utilization and
legal expenses arising from the latest decisions by the courts
and from ongoing civil proceedings involving dealers and
other customers. They relate primarily to proceedings in
relation to design aspects of loan agreements with customers
that may obstruct the processing of statutory cancelation
periods, provisions for legal disputes in connection with
deatler financing agreements as well as customer financing
broking claims. As of the reporting date, provisions for litiga-
tion and legal risks amounted to €338.8 million {previous
year: €371.2 million).

The equity of Volkswagen Bank GmbH amounted to
€8.9 billion (previous year: €8.9 billion) as of the reporting
date.

€ million

Net interest income

Net feasing income
Net fee and commission income

Administrative expenses

Other comprehensive income o -
Incomne from the disposal of equity investments
Provisionforcreditrisks

flesukt from 0l'd|llil," business activities

Extractdinary result o

Tax expense

Profits transferred under a profit transfer agreement ’
Net chome for tl!g year
Retained profits brought forward

Net retained profits

2018 2017

— - = ]
1547 1,306

242 394

-397 =TT

. 752 815

508 221

i - 0 0
106 126

226 678

75 T3

96 C1m

204 " 489

0 0

) o

0 0
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Volkswagen Bank GmbH

BALANCE SHEET STRUCTURE OF VOLKSWAGEN BANK GMBH, BRAUNSCHWEIG

€ million

Assets

Cash feserve

Loans to and IECEI ables from banks

Loans to and receavables from customers

Ma rketable secuntaes
Equnty
l.ease aés s

her assets
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Liabilities to banks

ments and shares in aff'llated companies

Llabllitles to custumers )

Notes. cammercnal paper issued
Provmons

Subordmated liabilities

Funds for gener:l bi;\kl;lg nsks 7 o

Othel Llabllmes

Total assets

Balance sheel dlsdosures
Ccmtmgent lial bilities

Other obligations

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

Volkswagen Bank GmbH empioyed 1,144 people at the end of

2018.

A total of 832 people (previous year: 809) were employed
at the international branches of Volkswagen Bank GmbH,

Dec. 31,2018 Lhe 31 2017
e e

1,866
528
51,077
’ 15,419
) 635
1,408
679
71,612
’ ’ 887z 119
’ 34,444 35,434
5,671 “3,803
639 672
30 T
| 6 2%
’ 8BTS 835
13,056 "12,981
71,612 69,016
183 136
2,304 2,351

OPPORTUNITIES AND RISKS FACING VOLKSWAGEN BANK GMBH

The business performance of Volkswagen Bank GmbH is

largely subject to the same opportunities and risks as those
faced by the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. These opportu-
nities and risks are described in the report on opportunities
and risks in the following sections of this management re-
port.
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Report on Opportunities

and Risks

Sustainable business success for Volkswagen Bank GmbH through the balanced and proac-

tive management of opportunities and risks

RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES

In this section, we report on the risks and opportunities that
arise in connection with our business activities. The risks and
opportunities are grouped into varicus categories. Uniless
specifically stated, there were no material year-on-year
changes to the individual risks or opportunities.

We use analyses of the competitive and operating envi-
ronment, together with market observations, to identify not
only risks but also opportunities, which then have a positive
impact on the design of our products, the success of the
products in the marketplace and on our cost structure. Risks
and opportunities that we expect to materialize have already
been taken into account in our medium-term planning and
forecast. The following sections therefore describe funda-
mental opportunities that could lead 1o a positive variance
from our forecast and the risk report presents a detailed
description of the risks.

MACROECONDMIC OPPORTUNITIES
Against the backdrop of further economic growth in the
majority of markets, the Management of
Volkswagen Bank GmbH expects to see the number of vehi-
cle deliveries to Volkswagen Group customers remain high,
enabling il to build on its position in European markets on a
sustainable basis. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group sup-
ports this positive trend by providing financial services
products designed to promote sales,

The probability of a global recession is considered to be
tow overall. However, diminished rates of global economic
growth or a period of below-average growth rates cannot be
ruled out. The macroeconomic environment could also give
rise to opportunities for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group
if actual trends turn out to be better than forecasted.

STRATEGIC OPPORTUNITIES

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group will continue to grow in
and with the European markets and thereby systematically
press ahead with its strategy of internationalization. During
2018, various strategic projects were instrumental in setting
the course in this regard. Particular focus is being given to
continuous, dynamic optimization of all processes and sys-
tems in order to improve productivity. First and foremost,
the priority is to achieve efficiency by focusing on the needs
of our customers. In this way, we will continue to lay the
foundations over the coming years for supporting the Group
brands in each of the growth markets by providing innova-
tive, country-specific financial products, thereby promoting
sales in these markets over the long term while dealing re-
sponsibly with the related risks.

OPPORTUNITIES FROM CREDIT RISK

Opportunities may arise in connection with credit risk if the
losses actually incurred on lending transactions turn out to
be lower than the prior calculations of expected loss and the
associated provisions recognized on this basis. A situation in
which the incurred losses are lower than the expected losses
can occur particularly in individual countries in which eco-
nomic uncertainty resulted in the need for a higher provision
for credit risks but in which the economic circumstances
then stabilize, resulting in an improvement in the credit
quality of the borrowers concerned.

OPPORTUNITIES FROM RESIDUAL VALUE RISK
When vehicles are remarketed, the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group may be presented with the
opportunity to achieve a price that is higher than the con-
tractually guaranteed residual value if, for example, increas-
ing demand raises market values higher than expected. This
positive trend in market values would also be reflected in the
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continuous adjustment of projected residual values in line
with the prevailing market conditions.

KEY FEATURES OF THE INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM AND THE
INTERNAL RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM IN RELATION TO THE
FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCESS

The internal control system (ICS) for the consolidated and
annual financial statements of Volkswagen Bank GmbH, as
far as it is relevant to the accounting system, is defined as the
sum of all principles, procedures and activities aimed at
ensuring the effectiveness, efficiency and propriety of the
financial reporting and ensuring compliance with the rele-
vant legal requirements. The internal risk management sys-
tem (IRMS) related to the accounting system is concerned
with the risk of misstatement in the bookkeeping systems at
Bank and Group levels as well as in external financial report-
ing. The sections below describe the key elements of the
ICS/IRMS as they relate to the financial reporting process of
the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.

> The Management of Volkswagen Bank GmbH is the gov-
erning body with responsibility for the executive man-
agement of the business. In this role, the Management has
set up accounting, customer service, treasury, risk man-
agement, controlling and compliance units, each with
clearly separated functions and clearly assigned areas of
responsibility and authority, to ensure that the Bank car-
ries out accounting and financial reporting processes
properly.
> Group-wide rules and regulations have been put in place as
the basis for a standardized, proper and continuous finan-
cial reporting process.
For example, the accounting policies applied by the do-
mestic and foreign entities included in the consolidated
financial statements of Volkswagen Bank GmbH are gov-
erned by the Volkswagen AG Group's accounting policies,
including the accounting requirements specified in the In-
ternational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group's accounting stand-
ards also set out the specific formal requirements for the
consolidated financial statements. The standards deter-
mine the basis of consolidation and also describe in detail
the components of the reporting packages to be prepared
by the Group companies. The formal requirements include
the mandatory use of a complete, standardized set of
forms. The accounting standards also include, for example,
specific details relating to the recognition and processing
of intragroup transactions and the associated reconcilia-
tion of balances.
At Group level, specific contrel activities aimed at ensuring
that the consolidated financial reporting provides a true
and fair view include the analysis and any necessary ad-
justment of single-entity financial statements submitted
by the consolidated entities, taking into account the re-

v

v

v
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ports submitted by the independent auditors and the re-
lated discussions concerning the financial statements.
These activities are supplemented by the clear delineation
of areas of responsibility and by various monitoring and
review mechanisms. The overall aim is to ensure that all
transactions are accurately recognized in the accounts,
processed and evaluated, and then properly reported.

> These monitoring and review mechanisms are designed
with both integrated and independent process compo-
nents. For example, automated IT process controls account
for a significant proportion of the integrated process activ-
ities alongside manual process controls, such as double-
checking by a second person. These controls are enhanced
by specific functions at Group level carried out by the par-
ent company Volkswagen AG, for example functions with-
in the responsibility of the Group tax department.
Internat auditing is a key component of the

Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group’s monitoring and control
system. The Internal Audit department carries out regular
audits of accounting-related processes in Germany and
abroad as part of its risk-oriented auditing activities and
reports on these audits directly to the Management of
Volkswagen Bank GmbH.

v

v

To summarize, the existing internal monitoring and control
system of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is intended to
ensure that the financial position of the individual entities in
the Group and the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group itself as of
the reporting date December 31, 2018 has been based on
information that is reliable and has been properly recog-
nized. No material changes were made to the internal moni-
toring and control system of the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group after the reporting date.

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE OF RISK MANAGEMENT
In the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, risk is defined as the
danger of loss or damage that couid occur if an expected
future development turns out to be less favorable than
planned.

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is exposed to a large
number of risks typical for the financial services sector as
part of its primary operating activities. The Group acts re-
sponsibly when taking on these risks so that it can target and
exploit any resulting market opportunities.

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has put a risk man-
agement system into place to identify, assess, manage, moni-
tor and communicate risks. The risk management system
comprises a framework of risk principles, organizational
structures and processes for assessing and monitoring risks.
The individual clements are closely aligned with the activities
of the individual divisions. This structure makes it possible to
identify at an early stage any trends that could represent a
risk to the business as a going concern so that appropriate
correclive action can then be initiated. No material changes
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were made to the risk management methodology in the
reporting period.

Appropriate procedures are in place to ensure the ade-
quacy of the risk management system. Firstly, Risk Manage-
ment continuously monitors the system. Secondly, the indi-
vidual elements in the system are regularly reviewed on a
risk-oriented basis by the Internal Audit department, the ECB
{European Central Bank), the ESF {Deposit Protection Fund}
and as part of the audit of the annual financial statements by
the independent auditors.

Within the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, responsibility
for risk management and credit analysis is assigned to the
Chief Risk Officer {CRO) as the relevant member of Manage-
ment. In this function, the CRO submits regular reports on
the overall risk position in the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group to the other members of
Management and to the Supervisory Board.

An important feature of the risk management system at
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is the clear, unequivocal
separation of tasks and areas of responsibility, both organiza-
tionally and in terms of personnel to ensure that the system
is fully functioning at all times and regardless of the person-
nel involved.

The Risk Management unit underweni a reorganization
in 2018. This move was intended to establish a more con-
sistent end-to-end approach 1o processes in the risk man-
agement entities and to sharpen the focus of risk manage-
ment activities on the key future topics of big data and
advanced analytics by creating a corresponding department
to look after these areas along with project management and
support for the IT interfaces.

The risk management departments have the role of
providing guidelines for the organization of risk manage-
ment. This function includes drawing up risk policy guide-
lines, developing and maintaining methodologies and pro-
cesses relevant to risk management as well as issuing and
monitoring international framework standards for the pro-
cedures to be used across Europe.

In particular, these activities involve providing models
for carrying out credil assessments, quantifying the different
categories of risk, determining risk-bearing capacity and
evaluating collateral. Risk Management is therefore respon-
sible for identifying possible risks, analyzing, quantifying
and evaluating risks, and for determining the resulting
measures to manage the risks.

Local risk management units ensure that the require-
ments specified by Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group Risk
Management are implemented and complied with in each
market.

To summarize, continuous monitoring of risks, transpar-
ent and direct communication with the Management and the
integration of all information obtained into the operational
risk management system form a foundation for the best
possible leveraging of market potential based on conscious,

Combined Management Report

effective management of the overall risk faced by the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.

Ri5K STRATEGY AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Fundamental decisions relating to strategy and the instru-
ments of risk management are the responsibility of the Man-
agement of Volkswagen Bank GmbH.

As part of this overall responsibility, the Management of
Volkswagen Bank GmbH has introduced a MaRisk-compliant
strategy process and implemented a business and risk strate-
gy. The ROUTE2025 business strategy sets out the fundamen-
tal views of the Management of Volkswagen Bank GmbH on
key matters relating to business policy. It includes the objec-
tives for each major business activity and the strategic areas
for action to achieve the relevant objectives. The business
strategy also serves as the starting point for creating a con-
sistent risk strategy.

The risk strategy is reviewed each year and as required on
the basis of a risk inventory, risk-bearing capacity and legal
requirements. It is adjusted where appropriate and discussed
with the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. The
risk strategy describes the main risk management goals and
action plans for each category of risk, taking into account the
business policy focus (business strategy), risk tolerance and
risk appetite. A review is carried out annually to establish
whether the goals have been attained. The causes of any
variances are analyzed and then discussed with the Supervi-
sory Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH.

The risk strategy includes all material quantifiable and
non-quantifiable risks. Further details and specifics for the
individual risk categories are set out in risk substrategies and
included in operational requirements as part of the planning
round.

The Management of Volkswagen Bank GmbH is responsi-
ble for specifying and subsequently implementing the over-
all risk strategy in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.

RISK INVENTORY

The objective of the risk inventory, which has to be carried
out at least once a year, is to identify the main categories of
risk. To this end, all known categories of risk are investigated
to  establish  whether  they  arise in  the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. In the risk inventory, the
relevant categories of risk are examined in greater detail,
quantified or, if they cannot be quantified, assessed by ex-
perts, and then evaluated to determine whether they are
material for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.

The ad-hoc risk inventory carried out on December 31,
2017 came Lo the conclusion that the following quantifiable
categories of risk should be classified as material: counter-
party default risk, earnings risk, direct residual value risk,
market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk; it also con-
cluded that reputational risk and strategic risk, which are not
quantifiable, should also be considered material. Other exist-
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ing subcategories of risk are taken into account within the
categories specified above.

RISK-BEARING CAPACITY, RISK LIMITS AND STRESS TESTING
A system has been set up to determine the risk-bearing ca-
pacity of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, which com-
pares the economic risk against available financial resources
referred 1o as the risk-taking potential. An institution has the
capacity to bear its risk if, as a minimum, all material risks to
which the institution are exposed are covered at all times by
the institution’s risk-taking potential.

The results from the risk inventory provide the basis for
the level of detail in the design of the risk management pro-
cess and for inclusion in risk-bearing capacity.

The main risks are quantified as part of the risk-bearing
capacity analysis using a going-concern approach, predomi-
nantly with a confidence level of 90% and a time horizon of
one year. The risk categories of liquidity risk (funding risk),
market risk and earnings risk are quantified with a confi-
dence level of 99%. Risk-bearing capacity is also analyzed
using the gone-concern approach in addition to the going-
concern approach.

In addition, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group uses a
system of limits derived from the risk-bearing capacity anal-
ysis to specifically manage risk-cover capital in accordance
with the level of risk tolerance determined by the Manage-
ment,

Lhe establishment of the risk limit system as a core com-
ponent of capita! allocation limits the risk at different levels,
thereby sateguarding the economic risk-bearing capacity of
the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. Risk-taking potentiai is
determined from the available equity and earnings compo-
nents subject to various deductions. In line with the risk
tolerance of the Management of Volkswagen Bank GmbH,
only a portion of this risk-taking potential is specified as a
risk ceiling in the form of an overall risk limit. The overall
risk limit is apportioned to counterparty default risk, direct
residual value risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational
risk for the purposes of operational monitoring and control.
In this process, the limit allocated to counterparty default
risk, itself an overarching category of risk, is subdivided into
individual limits for credit risk, shareholder risk, issuer risk
and counterparty risk.

In a second step, the limits for the risk categories (with
the exception of those for shareholder risk, issuer risk and
counterparty risk) are broken down and allocated at the ievel
of the branches and subsidiaries.

The limit system provides the Management with a tool
that enables it to meet its strategic and operational corporate
management responsibilities in accordance with statutory
requirements.

The overall economic risk of the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group as of December 31, 2018

Report on Opportunities and Risks

amounted to €1.6billion. The apportionment of this total
risk by individual risk category was as follows:

DISTRIBUTION OF RISKS BY TYPE OF RISK
as of December 31, 2018

Credit risk
Shaseholder, 1ssuer
and counterparty nisk

Earnings risk

Operational risl

€ MILLION SHARE IN PLRCENT

Dec. 31,
2018 ©oc 31,2017 Dee. 31,2018 Duc. 31,2017
S =aeeeeees B SESS——

Risk category

Credit risk T m ss6 22 33
and counterparty risk 3 5 o 1]
Direct residual value o '
risk 553 433 35 24
Ea ‘rnings risk® 314 398 20 2
Market sk 13 82 7 s
Liquidity risk (funding I T
risk)" n 14 1 1
Operational risk o 168 o Wﬁ 11 o 5
Otherrisks® 80 88 5 5
Total 1,594 1,768 100 100

1 Confidence |eve| 99%

2 Global amount for material non-
quantifiable risks: reputational risk and
strategic risk.

13



24

Report on Opportunities and Risks

The risk-taking potential of €5.0billion as of December 31,
2018 comprised reported equity plus the forecast result for
the next twelve months (overall €12.3 billion) less regulatory
minimum own funds requirements (€6.4 billion) and other
adjustment items (€0.9billion}. As of December 31, 2018,
32% of risk-taking potential was utilized by the risks outlined
above. In the period January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018,
the maximum utilization of the risk-taking potential in ac-
cordance with Pillar IT was 37%.

In addition to determining the risk-bearing capacity in a
normal scenario, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group also
conducts bank-wide stress tests and reports the results di-
rectly to the Management. Stress tests are used to examine
the potential impact from exceptional but plausible events
on the risk-bearing capacity and earnings performance of
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. The purpose of these scenar-
ios is to facilitate early identification of those risks that
would be particularly affected by the trends simulated in the
scenarios $o that any necessary corrective action can be initi-
ated in good time. The stress tests include both historical
scenarios {such as a repeat of the financial crisis in the years
2008 to 2010) and hypothetical scenarios (including an eco-
nomic downturn in Europe or a sharp drop in sales in the
Volkswagen Group}. In addition, inverse siress tests are used
to identify what events could represent a threat to the ability
of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group to continue as a going
concern. A business model risk analysis is also completed
every year.

The calculations of risk-bearing capacity confirmed that
all material risks that could adversely impact the financial
position or financial performance were adequately covered
by the available risk-taking potential at all times. The stress
tests did not indicate any need for action.

RISK CONCENTRATIONS
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is a captive financial
services provider in the automotive sector. The business
model, which focuses on promoting vehicle sales for the
different brands in the Volkswagen Group, causes concentra-
tions of risk, which can take various forms.

Concentrations of risk can arise from an uneven distribu-
tion of activity in which

v

just a few borrowers/contracts account for a large propor-
tion of the loans {counterparty concentrations)

> a small number of sectors account for a large proportion of
the loans (sector concentrations)

many of the loans are to businesses within a defined geo-
graphical area (regional concentrations}

loans/receivables are secured by just one type of collateral
or by a limited range of collateral types (collateral concen-
trations)

v

v
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> residual values subject to risk are limited to a small num-
ber of vehicle segments or models {residual value concen-
trations), or

> Volkswagen Bank GmbH'’s income is generated from just a
few sources (income concentrations).

One of the objectives of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group's
risk policy in its business model is to reduce such concentra-
tions by means of broad diversification.

Counterparty concentrations from customer business are
only of minor significance in the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group because of the large propor-
tion of business accounted for by retail lending. From a re-
gional perspective, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has a
concentration of business in the German market, but looks to
achieve broad nationwide diversification within the country.

In contrast, sector concentrations in the dealer business
are part of the nature of the business for a captive provider
and these concentrations are therefore individually analyzed.
Overall, no particular impact has been identified, even in
pericds of economic downturn like the crisis experienced in
recent years.

Likewise, a captive provider cannot avoid collateral con-
centrations because the vehicle is the predominamt collateral
asset by virtue of the business medel. Risks can arise from
concentrations of collateral if downward pricing trends in
used vehicle markets or segments lead to lower proceeds
from the recovery of assets and, as a consequence, there is a
fall in the value of the collateral. Nevertheless, in terms of the
vehicles used as collateral, Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group
enjoys a broad diversification across all vehicle segments (see
following diagram) based on a large range of vehicles from
the different brands in the Volkswagen Group.
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COLLATERAL STRUCTURE AS CF DECEMBER 31, 2018
Sigures in %

Compact class I 27

Large-capacity van N 4

Premium segment IR 4

Mid-size I 14

Minis R 2

Minivans B 0

SUVs I 22

Small cars 11

Sparts cars S 3

Trucks and busses B 2

Upper mid-size HER H
Utility vehicles

and motorhomes I 9

Motercycles 0

Other °

This broaq vehicle diversification also means that there is no
residual value concentration in the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.

Income concentration arises from the very nature of the
business model. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group's par-
ticular role in which it helps to promote sales in the
Volkswagen Group gives rise to certain dependencies that
directly affect income growth.

RISK REPORTING
A detailed risk management report is submitted to the Man-
agement and to the Supervisory Board of
Volkswagen Bank GmbH on a quarterly basis. The starting
point for the risk management report is risk-hearing capacity
because of its importance from a risk perspective for the
successful continued existence of the business as a going
concern. To this end, the derivation of the available risk-
taking potential, the utilization of limits and the current
percentage allocation of the overall risk to the individual risk
categories is also presented. In addition, Risk Management
reports on counterparty default risk, direct residual value
risk, liquidity risk and operational risk, both at an aggregate
level and for markets. These reports include quantitative
information {financial data} and also qualitative elements in
the form of an evaluation of the current situation and ex-
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pected developments, including recommendations for action
where appropriate. Additional reports are produced for spe-
cific risk categories. Ad hoc reports are generated as needed
to supplement the system of regular reporting.

The high quality of the information centained in the risk
management reports about structures and trends in the
portfolios is maintained by a process of constant refinement
and ongoing adjustment in line with current circumstances.

RECOVERY AND RESOLUTION PLANNING

The EU’s Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive (BRRD), i.e.
the rules and regulations governing the recovery and resolu-
tion of banks, has been in force since the middle of 2014. The
requirements have been transposed into German law with
the Sanierungs- und Abwicklungsgesetz (SAG — Recovery and
Resolution Act).

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group completed ijts first
{(Group) recovery plan and submitted it to the European
Central Bank {the competent supervisory authority) in the
first quarter of fiscal year 2018.

The recovery plan covers matters including a system to
ensure that adverse developments are identified promptly,
and the possible measures that could be used by the Group in
different stress scenarios to safeguard or restore a robust
financial footing, In particular, the recovery plan sets out the
responsibilities and the processes to be followed in the man-
agement of a crisis.

The recovery plan will be updated and enhanced annually
and submitted to the competent supervisory authority.

Volkswagen Bank GmbH has additionally assisted the
competent resolution authorities with the preparation of a
reselution plan during the current fiscal year. This involves
Volkswagen Bank GmbH providing the resolution authorities
with information and analyses for this purpose in accordance
with its supporting duties as defined in Section 42 SAG.

BREXIT

The Brexit negotiations with the United Kingdom did not
have any impact on the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group's risk
situation in fiscal year 2018. Nevertheless, the Bank is con-
tinuing to monitor the risk situation closely so that it can
take a proactive approach to any developments that may
occur, Various scenarios were analyzed in 2018 in connection
with the imminent Brexit vote, allowing the Bank to be pre-
pared for all eventualities. Information is alse regularly
shared with the supervisory authorities concerning the latest
developments.

NEW PRODUCT AND NEW MARKET PROCESS

Before launching new products or commencing activities in
new markets, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group first runs
through its new product and new market process. All the
units involved (such as Risk Management, Controlling, Ac-
counting, Legal Affairs, Compliance, Treasury, IT) are inte-

15



26

Report on Opportunities and Risks

grated into the process. The process for every new activity
involves the preparation of a written concept, which includes
an analysis of the risks associated with the new product or
market and a description of the possible implications for
management posed by the risks. Responsibility for approval
or rejection lies with the relevant members of the Manage-
ment of Volkswagen Bank GmbH, and, in the case of new
markets, also with the members of the Supervisory Board.

OVERVIEW OF RISK CATEGORIES

Nonfinancial risks
L1

Fingraal risks

Counterparty default risk Operational risk )
Market risk Compliance and conduct risk
Liquidity risk Qutsourcing risk

Model risk
" stratégic risk

Direct residual value risk

Earnings risk

Reputational risk

FINANCIAL RISKS

Counterparty default risk

Counterparty default risk refers to a potential negative vari-
ance between actual and forecast counterparty risk out-
comes. The forecast outcome is exceeded if the loss incurred
as a consequence of defaults or changes in credit rating is
higher than the expected loss.

In the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, counterparty de-
fault risk encompasses the following risk categories: credit
risk, counterparty risk, issuer risk, country risk and share-
holder risk.

Credit nsk

Credit risk is defined as the danger of incurring losses as a
result of defaults in customer business, specifically the de-
fault of the borrower or lessee. Loans to and receivables from
entities in the Volkswagen Group are also included in the
analysis. The default is caused by the borrower's or lessee’s
insolvency or unwillingness to pay. This includes a situation
in which the counterparty does not make interest payments
or repayments of principal on time or does not pay the full
amounts,

Credit risk, which also includes counterparty default risk
in connection with leases, accounts for the greatest propor-
tion of risk exposures in the counterparty default risk catego-
ry by some distance,

The aim of a systematic credit risk monitoring system is
to identify potential borrower or lessee insolvencies at an
early stage, initiate any corrective action in respect of a po-
tential default in good time and anticipate possible losses by
recognizing appropriate write-downs or provisions.
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If a loan default materializes, this represents the loss of a
business asset, which has a negative impact on financial
position and financial performance, depending on the
amount of the loss. If, for example, an economic downturn
leads to a higher number of insolvencies or greater unwill-
ingness of borrowers or lessees to make payments, the
recognition of a higher write-down expense is required. This
in turn has an adverse effect on operating profit.

Risk identification and assessment

Lending or credit decisions at
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are made primarily on the
basis of the borrower credit check. These credit checks use
rating or scoring systems, which provide the relevant de-
partments with an objective basis for reaching a decision on
a loan or a lease.

A set of procedural instructions outlines the require-
ments for developing and maintaining the rating systems.
The Bank alsc has a rating manual which specifies how the
rating systems are to be applied as part of the loan approval
process. Similarly, other written procedures specify the pa-
rameters for developing, using and validating the scoring
systems in the retail business.

To quantify credit risk, an expected loss (EL) and an un-
expected loss (UL) are determined at portfolio level for each
entity. The UL is the value at risk (VaR) less the EL. The calcu-
lations use an asymptotic single risk factor model (ASRF
model} in accordance with the capital requirements specified
by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (Gordy
formula) taking into account the credit quality assessments
from the individual rating and scoring systems used.

Rating systems for corporate customers

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group uses rating systems to
assess the credit quality of corporate customers. These evalu-
ations take into account both quantitative factors {mainly
data from annual financial statements) and qualitative fac-
tors (such as the prospects for future business growth, quali-
ty of management, market and industry environment, and
the customer’s payments record). When the credit assess-
ment has been completed, the customer is assigned to a
rating class, which is linked to a probability of default. A
centrally maintained, workflow-based rating application is
used for the most part to support this analysis of credit quali-
ty. The rating determined for the customer serves as an im-
portant basis for decisions on whether to grant or renew a
loan and for decisions on provisions.

Scoring systems in the retail business

For the purposes of determining the credit quality of retail
customers, scoring systems are incorporated into the pro-
cesses for credit approval and for evaluating the existing
portiolio. These scoring systems provide an objective basis
for credit decisions. The systems use information about the
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borrower that is available both internally and externally to
estimate the probability of default for the requested loan,
generally with the help of statistical methods based on his-
torical data covering a number of years. An alternative ap-
proach adopted for smaller or low-risk portfolios also uses
generic, robust scorecards and expert systems to assess the
risk involved in credit applications.

To classily the risk in the credit portfolio, both behavieral
scorecards and straightforward estimation procedures at risk
pool level are used, depending on portfolio size and the risk
inherent in the portfolio.

Supervision and review ol retail and corporate systems

The models and systems supervised by Risk Management are
regularly validated and monitored using standardized proce-
dural medels for validating and monitoring risk classifica-
tion systems. The models and systems are adjusted and re-
fined as required. These review procedures are applied to
models and systems for assessing credit quality and estimat-
ing the probability of default {such as rating and scoring
systems) and to models used for estimating loss given de-
fault and estimating credit conversion factors.

In the case of the retail models and systems for credit as-
sessment supervised by local risk management units outside
Germany, Risk Management reviews the quality of these
models and systems on the basis of the locally implemented
validation processes, determines action plans in collabora-
tion with the local risk management units if a need for action
is identilied and monitors the implementation of the action
plans, In the validation process, particular attention is paid to
a review of the discriminant power of the models and an
assessment of whether the model calibration is appropriate
to the risk. The models and systems for corporate customers
are handled in the same way, although a centralized ap-
proach is used for their supervision and validation.

Collateral

The general rule is that credit transactions are secured by
collateral to an extent that is commensurate with the risk. In
addition, overarching rules specily the requirements that
must be satisfied by collateral, the evaluation procedures and
the evaluation bases. Further local regulations (collateral
policies) set out specific values and special regional require-
ments that must be observed.

The values in the collateral policies are based on historical
data and experience accumulated by experts over many
years. As the operating  activities of the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are focused on retail financ-
ing, dealer financing and the leasing of vehicles, the vehicles
themselves are hugely important as collateral assets. For this
reason, trends in the market values of vehicles are closely
monitored and analyzed. Procedures provide for adjustments
to evaluation systems and vehicle remarketing processes if
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there are substantial changes in the market values of vehi-
cles.

Risk Management also carries oul regular qualily assur-
ance tests on local collateral policics. This includes a review
of collateral values and implementation of any necessary
adjustments.

Provisions

The calculation of provisions is based on the expecled loss
model in accordance with IFRS 9 and is also derived from the
rating and scoring processes.

With regard to impaired loans and receivables, a distinc-
tion is also made between significant and insignificant loans
and receivables. Specific provisions are recognized for signif-
icant impaired loans and receivables, whereas specific provi-
sions evaluated on a group basis are recognized for insignifi-
cant impaired loans and receivables. Portfolio (global)
provisions are recoghized to cover impaired loans or receiva-
bles for which no specific provisions have been recognized.

The following average values have been determined for
the aggregate active portfolic (i.e. portfolio of loans and re-
ceivables not in default) based on a time horizon of twelve
months: probability of default (PD) of 2.4%) (previous year:
2.3%); loss given default (LGD) of 25.5% (previous year:
25.9%) and tolal volume of loans and receivables based on
the active portfolio of €728billion (previous year:
€67.7 billion).

Risk monitoring and control

Risk Management sets framework constraints for the man-
agement of credit risk. These constraints form the mandatory
outer framework of the central risk management system,
within which the divisions/markets can operate in terms of
their business policy activities, planning, decisions, etc. in
compliance with their assigned authority.

Appropriate processes are used to monitor all lending in
relation to financial circumstances, collateral and compliance
with limits, contractual obligations and internal and externat
conditions. To this end, exposures are transferred to a suita-
ble form of supervision or support depending on risk content
{normal, intensified or problem loan management). Approval
or reporting limits determined by {the)
Volkswagen Bank GmbH {Group) are also used to manage
credit risk. These limits are specified separately for each indi-
vidual branch and subsidiary.

A credit risk portfolio rating, together with analyses of
the breakdown of expected and unexpected risk, are used 1o
monitor risk at pertfolio level. This rating brings together
various risk measures into one indicator, facilitating compa-
rability between the internatiocnal portfolios in the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.
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Trends

Retail portfolio

In fiscal year 2018, further growth was achieved in the vol-
ume of loans and receivables in the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group's retail business on the back
of the established sales promotion program with the brands
and continuous expansion of the fleet business. The increase
in the retail portfolio is attributable largely to market devel-
opments in Germany, the United Kingdom and Italy. As in
the previous year, the German portfolio was instrumental in
driving growth based on its stable vehicle market environ-
ment. Persistently strong demand for our retail products in
the United Kingdem and Italy markets also gave a boost to
the volume of loans and reccivables in fiscal year 2018, The
decline in the volume of loans and receivables in the Dutch
market stems from the transfer of the finance lease business
of Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Netherlands Branch, Amersfoort
to Volkswagen Pon Financial Services B.V. — and thus to
Volkswagen Financial Services AG — in September 2018. The
remaining lending business of Volkswagen Bank GmbH,
Netherlands Branch, Amersfoort was transferred to DFM N.V,,
Amersfoort. Overall, the credit risk in the retail portfolio of
the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group remained stable.

BREAKDOWN OF CREDIT VOLUME BY REGION
in € mitlion
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Corporate portfolio

The corporate portfolio in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH
Group expanded in fiscal year 2018. This growth stemmed
largely from developments in the German and UK markets.
The driver in Germany was the non-dealer portfolio, alt-
hough the dealer portfolio in Germany also saw an increase
in the volume of loans and receivables due to higher utiliza-
tion of credit lines. The growth recorded in the UK was driven
by progress in the dealer portfolio, with higher utilization of
the credit lines for new vehicle finance (especially for the VW
and Audi brands) boosting the volume of loans and receiva-
bles. Issues surrounding the WLTP led to a temporary fall in
the volume of loans and receivables for certain brands in the
dealer portfolio in 2018. The first signs of recovery were
already in evidence in the fourth quarter of 2018 and the pre-
WLTP level had been regained by the end of the year. A slight
improvement in the credit risk in the corporate portfolic of
the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group was apparent overall,
This improvement was driven by declining losses in the
dealer portfolio in the German market, resulting primarily
from the recovery of a number of dealers. The completion of
a portfolio realignment also contributed.

1 Eurcpe excluding Germany

Counterparty/Issuer Risk
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group defines counterparty
risk as the risk of financial loss that could arise from mone-
tary invesiments or investments in marketable securities or
notes if the counterparty fails to make payments of interest
or repayments of principal as contractually required.

Similarly, issuer risk is the risk that the issuer of a finan-
cial product could become insolvent during the maturity of
the product and, as a consequence, some or all of the invest-
ed capital, including the expected interest payments, has to
be written off.

Counterparty risk arises in connection with interbank
overnight and term deposits, derivatives and the purchase of
pension fund units as part of the provision of pensions bene-

Data as of Dec 31,2018
Data as of Dec 31,2017

30,438
28,588

43,801
40684

fits for employees. Issuer risk results from the purchase of
securities to optimize liquidity management and to [ulfill
statutory and/or regulatory requirements. The primary ob-
jective in the management of counterparty and issuer risk is
to identify potential defaults in a timely manner, so that
corrective action can be initiated at an early stage as far as
possible. Another important objective is to ensure that the
Bank only takes on risks within the approved limits.

If a counterparty or issuer risk were to materialize, this
would represent the potential loss of a business asset, which
would have a negative impact on financial position and fi-
nancial performance, depending on the amount of the loss.
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Risk identification and assessment

Both counterparty risk and issuer risk are recorded as com-
ponents of counterparty default risk. Both risk categories are
determined by using a Monte Carlo simulation to calculate
the unexpected loss (value at risk and expected shortfall) and
the expected loss from a normal scenario and stress scenari-
0s.

Risk monitoring and control

To establish effective monitoring and control, volume limits
are specified in advance for each counterparty and issuer. The
Treasury Backoffice is responsible for monitoring compli-
ance with these limils on a day-to-day basis, The volume
limit is set at an appropriate, needs-driven level and is based
on the credit assessment. The Credit Analysis department is
responsible for the initial classification and then regular
reviews. The Risk Management unit assesses counterparty
and issuer risk on a monthly basis. The reporting of counter-
party and issucr risk to the Management is included in the
quarterly risk management report.

Country Risk

Country risk refers to risks in international transactions that
are not attributable to the counterparty itself but that arise
because of the counterparty’s domicile in a country outside
Germany. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group would need to
take into account country risk in particular in connection
with funding and equity investment activilies involving
foreign companies and in connection with the lending busi-
ness. Given the focus of business activities in
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, there is little chance that
country risk will arise because the Group is not usually in-
volved in cross-border lending business, except in the case of
intercompany loans. The conventional country risk analysis
is not applicable to intercompany lending because, if the
difficulties described above were to occur, the funding of the
entities through lending could be extended if necessary,
thereby ensuring that the entities could continue to operate
in the strategic market concerned. For these reasons, there
has been no need to establish limits related to the overall
level of business for countries or regions, for example, to
limit transfer risk.

Shareholder Risk
Shareholder risk refers to the risk that losses with a negative
impact on the carrying amount of an equity investment
could be incurred after the contribution of capital or loans
regarded as equity (e.g, silent contributions). In principle, the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group only makes such eguity
investments to help it achieve its corporate objectives. The
investments must therefore support its own eperating activi-
ties and are intended to be held on a long-term basis.

If shareholder risk were to materialize in the form of a
Joss of fair value or even the complete loss of an equity in-
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vestment, this would have a direct impact on relevant finan-
cial data. The net asscts and financial performance in the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group would be adversely affected
by write-downs recognized in profit or loss.

Risk identification and assessment

Shareholder risk is quantified on the basis of the carrying
amounts of the equity investments and a probability of de-
fault and loss given default assigned to each equity invest-
ment using an ASRF model. Simulations are also carried out
involving stress scenarios with rating migrations (upgrades
and downgrades) or complete loss of equity investments.

Risk monitoring and control

Equity investments are integrated into the annual strategy
and planning process of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.
The Group exercises influence over the business and risk
policies of the equity investments through its representation
in the relevant ownership or supervisory bodies. However,
responsibility for the operational use of the risk manage-
ment teols lies with the entities themselves,

Market risk

Market risk refers to the potential loss arising from adverse
changes in market prices or parameters that influence prices.
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is exposed to significant
market risk arising from changes in market prices that trig-
ger a change in the value of open interest rate or currency
transactions.

The objective of market risk management is to keep the
financial losses arising from this category of risk as low as
possible, With this in mind, the Management has agreed
limits for this category of risk. If limits are exceeded, the
situation is escalated on an ad hoc basis to the Management
and the Asset Liability Management Committee (ALM Com-
mittee). Action to reduce risk is discussed and initiated by the
ALM Committee.

As part of risk management activities, market risk is in-
cluded in the monthly risk report with a transparent analysis
based on value at risk (VaR), a calculation offsetting the total
market risk against the loss ceiling set for the
vVolkswagen Bank GmbH Group and recommendations for
targeted measures to manage the risk.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk refers to potential losses that could arise as a
result of changes in market interest rates. It occurs because of
interest rate mismatches between asset and liability items in
a portfolio or on the Dbalance sheet. The
vVolkswagen Bank GmbH Group is exposed to interest rate
risk in its banking beok.

Changes in interest rates that cause interest rate risk to
materialize can have a negative impact on financial perfor-
mance.
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Risk identification and assessment

Interest rate risk for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is
determined as part of the monthly menitoring process using
the value at risk {VaR) method with a 40-day holding period
and a confidence level of 99%.

The model is based on a historical simulation and calcu-
lates potential losses taking inte account 1,000 historical
market fluctuations (volatilities). Negative interest rates can
also be processed in the historical simulation and are fac-
tored into the risk assessment.

The VaR calculated for operational management purpos-
es estimates potential losses under historical market condi-
tions, but stress tests are also carried out for forward-looking
situations in which interest rate exposures are subject to
exceptional changes in interest rates and worst-case scenari-
05. The results from the simulations are analyzed to assess
whether any of the situations could represent a serious po-
tential risk. This process also inchides the monthly quantifi-
cation and monitoring of the changes in present value result-
ing from the interest rate shock scenarios of +200 basis
points and —200 basis points as specified by the German
Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin} and from the
scenarios relating to interest rate risk in the banking book
specified by the ECB and the Basel Commitiee on Banking
Supervision.

The calculation of interest rate risk uses notional maturi-
ties to take into account early repayments under termination
rights. The behavior of investors with indefinite deposits is
analyzed using internal models and methods for managing
and monitoring interest rate risk.

Risk monitering and control
Treasury is responsible for the management of this risk on
the basis of decisions made by the ALM Committee. Interest
rate risk is managed by using interest rate derivatives at both
micro and portfolio levels, The derivatives are recognized in
the banking book. Risk Management is responsible for moni-
toring and reporting on interest rate risk.

The Management of Volkswagen Bank GmbH receives a
separate report on the latest interest rate risk position in the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group each month.

Currency Risk

Currency risk arises from foreign exchange exposures and
potential changes in the corresponding exchange rates. The
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is exposed to structural
currency risks. These risks arise from the equity investments
in the relevant local currency in the international subsidiar-
ies/branches in the United Kingdom, Sweden, Czech Republic
and Poland.

Fund Price Risk
The risk in connection with fund investments arises from
possible changes in market prices. Fund price risk describes
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the risk relating to changes in market prices which can cause
the value of portfolios of securities to fall, thereby giving rise
to a loss.

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is exposed to fund
price risk arising from its employee post-employment bene-
fit arrangements that are funded by pension plan assets
consisting of fund investments. The
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has underiaken to meet
these pension obligations if the employees’ guaranteed enti-
tlements can no longer be satisfied from the pension fund.

Trends
Market risk at the level of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group
developed in line with strategic specifications. The main
factor influencing market risk, apart from the structural
currency risk arising from the sterling zone, was interest rate
risk.

The guantified risk remained within the specified limits
at all times.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of a negative variance between actual
and expected cash inflows and outflows.

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk of not being able to
meet payment obligations in full or when due, or - in the
event of a liquidity crisis - the risk of only being able to raise
funding at higher market rates or only being able to sell as-
sets at a discount to market prices. This results in a distinc-
tion between illiquidity risk (day-to-day cash flow risk includ-
ing deposit withdrawal/commitment drawdown risk and the
risk of delayed repayment of loans on maturity), funding risk
(structural liquidity risk) and market liguidity risk.

The primary objective of liquidity management in the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is to safeguard the ability of
the Group to meet its payment obligations at all times. To
this end, Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group holds liquidity
reserves in the form of securities deposited in its operational
safe custody account with Deutsche Bundesbank. Standby
lines of credit at other banks are also available to protect
against unexpected fluctuations in cash flows. There are no
plans to make use of these standby lines of credit; their sole
purpose is to serve as backup to safeguard liquidity.

If liquidity risk were to materialize, funding risk would
result in higher costs and market liquidity risk would result
in lower selling prices for assets, both of which would have a
negative impact on financial performance. The consequence
of illiquidity risk in the worst-case scenario is insolvency
caused by illiquidity. Ligquidity risk management in the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group ensures that this situation
does not arise.
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Risk identification and assessment

The expected cash flows in the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are brought 1pgether and
evaluated by the Treasury unit.

The Risk Management unit is responsible for identifying
and recording liquidity risk. Stress tests are applied to fund-
ing matrices using a scenario approach with scenario triggers
from the Bank itself or the market, or a combination of the
two. Two approaches are used to determine the parameters
for these stress scenarios. The first approach uses observed
historical events and specifies different degrees of impact
from hypothetical, but conceivable events. To quantify the
funding risk, this approach takes into account the relevant
aspects of illiquidity risk and changes in spreads driven by
credit ratings or the market. In the second approach, to en-
sure there is appropriate liquidity management, Treasury
also prepares four different funding matrices, carries out
cash flow forecasts and uses this information to determine
the relevant range of liquidity coverage.

Risk monitoring and controt

To manage liquidity, the Operational Liquidity Committee
(OLC} holds meetings every two weeks at which it monitors
the current liquidity situation and the range of liquidity
coverage. It decides on funding measures and prepares any
necessary decisions for the decision-makers.

Risk Management communicates the main risk man-
agement intormation and relevant early warning indicalues
relating to illiquidity risk and funding risk. As far as illiquidi-
ty risk is concerned, these indicators involve appropriate
threshold values for determined degrees of utilization over
various time horizons, taking into account access to relevant
sources of funding. The indicators relating to funding risk are
based on potential funding costs, which are monitored using
a system of limits.

A further strict requirement imposed under banking reg-
ulations is the need to provide a highly liquid cash buffer and
appropriate liquidity reserves to cover any liguidity require-
ments gver seven-day and thirty-day time hotizons. For this
reason, a contingency plan with an appropriate list of action
points for obtaining liquidity has already been drawn up so
that it can be implemented in the event of any liquidity
squeeze.

Risk communication
As part of risk communication, the members of the Man-
agement of Volkswagen Bank GmbH are informed on a daily
basis of outstanding funding, open confirmed bank credit
lines and the value of the securities in the operational safe
custody account held with Deutsche Bundesbank.

The Management of Volkswagen Bank GmbH is informed
of the prevailing liquidity position on a monthly basis.
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Trends
The development of liquidity risk at the level of the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group was stable. The liquidity
situation in 2018 was affected to a significant degree by the
portfolio and company transfers within
Volkswagen Bank GmbH (Group).

The funding structure retained a good level of diversity in
terms of the instruments utilized. Funding risk always re-
mained within the specified limits.

Residual Value Risk

Residual value risk arises from the fact that the predicted
market value for an asset leased or financed could turn out to
be lower on remarketing at the end of the contract than the
residual value calculated when the contract was concluded,
or that the sales revenue realized couid be less than the carry-
ing amount of the vehicle in the event of the contract being
ended early by the exercise of legal contract termination
options. On the other hand, there is an opportunity in that
remarketing could generate proceeds greater than the calcu-
lated residual vatue or carrying amount.

A distinction is made between direct and indirect residual
value risk in relation to the bearer of this risk. Direct residual
value risk refers to residual value risk borne directly by the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. An indirect residual value
risk arises if the residual value risk has been transferred to a
third party {such as a dealer) on the basis of a contractual
agrezinenl. [u such cases, there is a counterpanty default risk
in respect of the residual value guarantor. If the residual
value guarantor defaults, the residual value risk reverts to the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.

The objective of residual value risk management is to
keep the risks within the agreed limits. The net assets and
financial performance of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group
would be adversely affected by losses on disposal if the resid-
ual value risk were to materialize.

Risk identification and assessment
Direct residual value risks are quantified on the basis of ex-
pected loss {(EL) and unexpected loss (UL). The EL equates to
the difference between the latest forecast remarketing pro-
ceeds as of the measurement date and the contractual resid-
ual value specified at the inception of the lease for each vehi-
cle. Other parameters such as remarketing costs are also
taken into account in the calculation. The portfolio EL is
calculated by aggregating the individual ELs for all vehicles.
To determine the UL, the change is measured between the
projected residual value one year before the end of the lease
and the actual selling price achieved {adjusted for damage
and mileage variances). In a first step, the change in value is
determined for each individual lease for each period. Howev-
er, given the size of the portfolio and the huge number of
vehicles, systematic risk is significant and a second step is
therefore carried out in which the average change in value
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compared with projected residual values is determined over
several periods. The resulting markdown is calculated using
the quantile function of the normal distribution with a speci-
fied confidence level,

The UL is calculated by multiplying the latest projected
residual value by the markdown. As in the calculation of the
EL, the UL portfolio is determined by aggregating the ULs of
the individual vehicles. This figure is determined quarterly.
The results from the calculation of the EL and UL are fed in to
the assessment of the risk situation, e.g. they are one of the
factors used in assessing the adequacy of the provisions for
risks and are included in the calculation of risk-bearing ca-
pacity.

In the case of indirect residual value risk, the method
used to quantify residual value risk is generally similar to
that used for direct residual value risk. In addition, this
method takes into account the probability of default of the
residual value guarantor (dealer) and, if appropriate, other
factors specific to this category of risk.

The general requirements for developing, using and vali-
dating the risk parameters for direct and indirect residual
value risk are laid down in a set of procedural instructions.

Risk monitoring and control
Risk Management monitors residual value risk within the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.

As part of risk management procedures, the adequacy of
the provision for risks and the potential residual value risk
are regularly reviewed in respect of direct residual value risk;
residual value opportunities are disregarded in the recogni-
tion of the provision for risks.

Based on the resulting potential residual value risk, vari-
ous measures are initiated as part of a proactive risk man-
agement approach to limit the residual value risk. Residual
value recommendations for new lease originations must take
into account prevailing market circumstances and future
influences. There are also a number of stress tests for direct
residual value risks for creating a comprehensive picture of
the risk sensitivity of residual values. These stress tests are
carried out by experts with the involvement of risk special-
ists at head office and in the local units. Indirect residual
value risks faced by the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are
subject to plausibility checks and are assessed from the per-
spectives of risk amount and significance.

As part of risk management activities, Risk Management
regularly reviews the potential indirect residual value risk
and the adequacy of the associated provision for risks. If
necessary, it takes measures to limit the indirect residual
value risk.

Trends

Within the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group division, direct
residual value risk arises at the branches in France, Italy,
Ireland and Portugal, and at the international subsidiaries
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Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Ltd.,
Volkswagen Finan¢né sluzby Slovensko s.r.oc., SkoFIN sr.0.
and Volkswagen Finans Sverige AB. The number of contracts
involving direct residual value risk and the direct residual
value risk itself increased in fiscal year 2018. Steady year-on-
year growth in the number of contracts was evident in all
markets, driven by growth strategies such as the expansion
of the fleet business. The most significant growth driver was
the United Kingdom market. As a result of the inclusion of
Volkswagen Financial Services {UK) Lid. in  the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group in 2017, the largest market
with direct residual wvalue risk was integrated into
Volkswagen Bank GmbH. In terms of the number of contracts
with direct residual value risk, some 80% of these contracts
are attributable to Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Ltd. An
analysis of residual value risk itself shows that
Volkswagen Financial Services (UK)Ltd. alone accounts for
approximately 50%. Other than the residual value risk at-
tributable to Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Ltd., there
are only material direct residual value risks at the branch in
France and at the international subsidiary in Sweden because
the volume in the other companies is still very low or the
residual values have been set at such a conservative level that
it can be assumed the customers will take over the vehicle at
the end of the lease term. In France, direct residual vealue risk
continued to rise in fiscal year 2018 and therefore remained
at a high level. The reason for the high level of residual value
risk in France is the conservative evaluation of the residual
value situation.

Earnings Risk (Specific Profit or Loss Risk)

Earnings risk refers to the risk that actual values will vary
from the budgeted values for certain items on the income
statement that are not already covered by the other catego-
ries of risks described elsewhere, Earnings risk includes the
following risks:

> unexpectedly low fees and commissions {fee and commis-
sion risk):

> unexpectedly high costs {cost risk);

> excessively high income targets for new and existing busi-
ness volume (sales risk); and

> unexpectedly low investment income.

The objective is to regularly analyze and monitor the poten-
tial risk associated with earnings risk to ensure that values at
variance with budgeted values are identified at an early stage
and any necessary corrective action is initiated. If the risk
were to materialize, this would reduce income or increase
costs and thereby also adversely impact operating profit.

Risk identification and assessment
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group quantifies earnings risk
using a parametric earnings at risk (EaR) model with the
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confidence level specified in the calculation of risk-bearing
capacity and a one-year forecast period.

The relevant income statement items provide the basis
for these calculations. The estimates for earnings risk are
then based on two perspectives: firstly, the observed, relative
variances between target and actual values; secondly, the
volatility and interdependencies among the individual jtems.
Both compenents are incorporated into the EaR calculation.

Risk monitoring and control

During the course of the year, changes in the actual values for
the earnings risk exposures are compared with the forecast
values. This comparison is included in the standard reporting
procedure carried out by Controlling,

The results from the quarterly quantification of earnings
risk are fed into the calculation of risk-taking potential as a
deduction from risk-bearing capacity. The results are moni-
tored by Risk Management.

Trends

The change in earnings risk is due primarily to new parame-
ters resulting in a lower earnings risk compared to the previ-
ous year's parameters.

NONFINANCIAL RISKS

Operational Risk

Operational risk (OpR) is defined as the risk of loss resulting
from inadequate or failed internal processes (process risk),
people {HR risk) or systems (technological risk), or resulting
from external events {third-party risk). This definition in-
cludes legal risk.

Other categories of risk, such as reputational or sirategic
risk, do not fall within the scope of operational risk and are
analyzed separately.

The objective of operational risk management is to pre-
sent operational risks transparently and initiate precaution-
ary or cosTective measures with a view to preventing or,
when this is not possible, mitigating the risks or losses. If an
operational risk materializes, this represents an operational
loss with the resulting loss of a business asset, which has a
negative impact on financial position and financial perfor-
mance, depending on the amount of the loss.

The operational risk strategy specifics the focus for the
management of operational risk; the operational risk manual
sets out the implementation process and allocates responsi-
hilities.

Risk identification and assessment
Operational risks or losses are identified and assessed by
local experts working in pairs {assessor and approver) with
the help of two operational risk tools: a risk self-assessment
and a loss database.

The risk self-assessment is used Lo determine a monetary
assessment of future potential risks. A standardized risk
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questionnaire is provided once a year for this purpose. The
local experts use these questionnaires to determine and
record the details for various risk scenarios. The detaifs in-
clude the possible amount of the risk and the probability of
occurrence, in each case with typical and maximum figures.

The central loss database is used to ensure that infor-
mation about monetary operational losses is collected inter-
nally on an ongoing basis and the relevant data is stored. A
standardized loss form is made available te the local experts
to aid this process. The experts use this form to determine
and record the relevant data, including the amount and cause
of the loss.

Risk monitoring and control

Operational risk is managed by the companies/divisions
(operational risk units) on the basis of the guidelines in force
and the requirements laid down by the special operational
risk units responsible for specific risk categories. To this end,
local management decides whether future risks or losses are
to be ruled out (risk prevention), mitigated (risk mitigation),
consciously accepted {risk acceptance) or transferred to third
parties {risk transfer).

The Risk Management unit checks the plausibility of the
information provided by the companies/divisions in the risk
self-assessments, reviews the reported loss events and then
initiates any necessary corrective action, reviews the opera-
tional risk system to ensure it is fully functioning and insti-
gates appropriate modifications as required. This includes, in
particular, the integration of all operational risk units, a re-
view to check compliance with the risk sub-strategies for
operational risks and a review of the methods and proce-
dures used for risk measurement.

Communications relating to cperational risks are provid-
ed quarterly as part of the risk management reports. The
quarterly details are supplemented by an annual operational
risk report in which the main events in the year are presented
and assessed again in one coherent report. Ad hoc reports are
issued in addition to the regular reports, provided that the
relevant specified criteria are satisfied.

Trends

The increase in operational risk in the past is based on a
number of factors including business growth. As part of the
item relating to overall operational risk exposure in the past,
legal risk also had an impact on a large part of the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group attaches great im-
portance to operational risk factors and their active man-
agement. Particularly in relation to cyber risk, preventive
measures and countermeasures undergo continuous devel-
opment to ensure the availability, integrity, confidentiality
and authenticity of data.

In addition, a rolling program of training and briefing
sessions ensures that awareness of operational risk in the
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Report on Oppertunities and Risks

Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group continues to grow. Experi-
ence and information gained about past loss events also
means that potential future risks can be assessed more thor-
cughly and more accurately.

Compliance and Conduct Risk

At the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, compliance risk en-
compasses all risks that could arise from non-compliance
with statutory rules and regulations or other official or su-
pervisory requirements, or that could be caused by a breach
of internal company regulations.

This differs from conduct risk, which is defined as the risk
arising from inadequate conduct by the institution toward
the customer, unreasonable treatment of the customer or
provision of advice using products that are not suitable for
the customer.

Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group addresses both categories
of risk by means of a local compliance function whose task is
to specify and implement risk-mitigaling measures.

To counter compliance and conduct risks, it is the re-
sponsibility of the compliance function to ensure compli-
ance with laws, other legal requirements, internal rules and
self-proclaimed values, and to create and foster an appropri-
ate compliance culture.

As a component of the compliance function, the role of
the compliance officer is to work toward implementing effec-
tive procedures to ensure compliance with key and core legal
rules and regulations for the institution and toward estab-
lishing appropriate controls. This is achieved, in particular,
by specifying mandaiory compliance requirements for legal
stipulations classified as material. These requirements in-
clude documenting responsibilities and processes, establish-
ing contrels to the extent required and raising employee
awareness of pertinent rues so that employees comply with
the rules as a matter of course, reflecting a fully functioning
compliance culture,

Further regular activities are also nurturing a compliance
culture. These activities include, in particular, constantly
promoting the Volkswagen Group's Code of Conduct, raising
employee awareness on a risk-oriented basis {e.g. tone from
the top, face-to-face training, e-learning programs, other
media-based activities), carrying out communications initia-
tives, including distributing guidelines and other infor-
mation media, and participating in compliance programs.

The compliance function has been set up on a decentral-
ized basis. The depariments are responsible for complying
with the rules and regulations in their respective areas of
activity. A compliance theme coordinator is appointed for all
key and core rules and regulations. The coordinator is re-
sponsible for adhering to and implementing the defined
compliance requirements (such as documenting responsibili-
ties, setting up controls, raising awareness and training em-
ployees).
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Using the control plans and control documentation as a
basis, the compliance function checks whether the imple-
mented controls are appropriate. In addition, the findings
from various audit activities will be used to evaluate whether
there are indications that the implemented compliance re-
quirements are ineffective, or whether the audits have identi-
fied material residual risks on the basis of which further
action needs to be determined.

The compliance officer is responsible for coordinating
ongoing legal monitoring, the purpose of which is to ensure
that new or amended legal regulations and requirements are
identified promptly. For their part, the compliance theme
coordinators must work in collaboration with the legal de-
partment and the various other departments to implement
measures aimed at identifying new or amended regulations
and requirements relevant to their areas of responsibility at
an early stage and, if such relevance is established, furnishing
an analysis of materislity for the Bank. The compliance
theme coordinators immediately notify the compliance
officer of any regulations and requirements that have been
identified.

The internal Compliance Committee regularly conducts a
materiality analysis on the basis of the outcomes of this legal
monitoring, After taking into account the evaluated compli-
ance risks, the Compliance Committee makes a decision on
the matcriality of new legal requirements applicable to the
Bank. Compliance risk primarily includes the risk of a loss of
reputation vis-a-vis the general public or supervisory author-
ities and the risk of material financial loss.

Currently, the following specific legal fields have been de-
termined as being fundamentally material from the perspec-
tive of the Group:

> prevention of money laundering and terrorist financing,
> prevention of corruption and other criminal acts,

> data protection,

> consumer protection,

> securities trading law/capital market law,

> banking supervisory law,

> antitrust law and

> IT security law.

The compliance requirements for the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are specified centrally and
must be implemented autonomously in the local companies.
Any deviation from the minimum requirements or guide-
lines is only possible if accompanied by a description of the
reasons (such as local statutory requirements) and only in
consultation with, and with the consent of, the Compliance
Officer at the institution concerned.

The Compliance Officer receives regular reports and car-
ries out on-site visits on a risk-oriented basis to ensure that
the local eompliance units are meeting their responsibilities.
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To meet the statutory reporting requirements of the compii-
ance function, the Compliance Officer must submit to the
Management both regular reports on the outcome of the
meetings of the Compliance Committee and ad hoc reports
as necessary {for example, if control plans are not prepared
by the required deadline).

The Management also receives an annual compliance re-
port and other comparabie reports on an ad hoc basis, as
required. The annual compliance report contains a presenta-
tion of the appropriateness and effectiveness of the compli-
ance requirements implemented to ensure compliance with
key and core legal regulations and requirements.

Risk from Outsourcing Activities

Outsourcing describes a situation in which another entity
(the outsourcee} is engaged to carry out activities and pro-
cesses in connection with the provision of banking activities,
financial services or other typical banking-related services
that would otherwise be carried out by the outsourcing enti-
ty itself.

Arrangements for support services in relation to software
that are utilized for the identification, assessment, manage-
ment, monitoring and communication of risks or that are of
material significance for the performance of banking tasks
also constitute outsourcing.

A distinction needs to be made between outspurcing and
one-time or occasional procurement from third parties of
goods or services, or services that are typically obtained from
a supervised entity and, because of the actual circumstances
involved or legal requirements, cannot usually be supplied
by the buying entity itself, either at the time of the purchase
from the third party or in the future.

The procurement of software without accompanying ser-
vices or activities is also generally to be classified as other
procurement from third parties.

The objective of risk management for cutsourcing is to
identify and minimize the risks from all cases of outsourcing.
If an elevated level of risk is identified in the course of out-
sourcing management Or supervisory activities, measures
may be initiated, where appropriate, to restore the risk situa-
lion associated with an outsourced activity 1o the original
level.

A significant increase in risk can necessitate a change of
service provider or, if possible and strategically desirable, the
ending of the outsourcing arrangement. In this case, the
activities may be performed by the Bank itself or may be
eliminated entirely.
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Risk identification and assessment

Risks arising in connection with outsourced activities are
identified by examining the circumstances and performing a
risk analysis. In the first siep, an examination of the circum-
stances is used to establish whether the planned activity
constitutes outsourcing or procurement from a third-party
supplier. The risk analysis uses various criteria to determine
the risk content in an outscurcing arrangement. The out-
come is the classification of the outsourcing arrangement as
material or immaterial. Material outsourcing arrangements
are subject to more stringent levels of monitoring and con-
trol as well as special and stricter contractual provisions.

Risk monitoring and control
‘The risks from outsourcing activities are documented as part
of operational risk. To ensure cffective management of out-
sourcing risk, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has issued
a framework policy specifying the constraints that outsourc-
ing arrangements must observe, Before any activity is out-
sourced, a risk analysis must be prepared to determine the
risk in cach case. This analysis procedure is one of the com-
ponents of the constraints and ensures that an adequate level
of monitoring and control is applied. The framework policy
also specifies that all outsourced activities must be agreed
with the Group Outsourcing Coordination unit. This coordi-
natjon unit is thereflore informed about all outseurcing activ-
ities and the associated risks, and communicates these risks
to Lhe Management on a quarterly basis.

In addition, all risks arising from outsourcing activities
are subject 1o risk monitoring and control using the opera-
tional risk loss database and the annual risk self-assessment.

Model Risk

Model risk arises from inaccuracies in the risk values and
must be taken into account, particularly in the case of under-
estimated risk and complex models.

Depending on the complexity of the model, model risk
can occur in a number of areas of model development and
application.

Potential model risks relating to the risk models used for
the risk-bearing capacity analysis are qualitatively assessed
both in the original model development process and as part
of regular independent model validation. The objective is 10
examine the need for additional cover in relation to such
risks in the form of own funds.
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The assessment results indicate that the models used for the
risk-bearing capacity analysis overwhelmingly rank as
“straightforward”, “transparent” and “conservative”. Possible
drivers of model risk are additionally reviewed and validated
regularly in the context of the particularly significant risk
categories credit risk and residual value risk. Quantitative
backing with own funds is provided where necessary for any

model risks that arise,

Strategic Risk
Strategic risk is the risk of a direct or indirect loss arising
from strategic decisions that are flawed or based on false
assumptions.

Strategic risk also includes all risks that result from the
integration/reorganization of technical systems, personnel
or corporate culture (integration/reorganization risk). These
risks may be caused by fundamental decisions about the
structure of the business made by the Management in rela-
tion to the positioning of the company in the market.

The objective of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is 1o
manage its acceptance of strategic risk enabling it to system-
atically leverage earnings potential in its core business. In the
worst-case scenario, a materialization of strategic risk could
jeopardize the continued existence of the Bank as a going
concern.

Strategic risk is recognized quantitatively by applying a
markdown to aggregate risk cover in the calculation of risk-
bearing capacity.

Reputational risk
Reputational risk refers to the risk that an event or several
successive events could cause reputational damage (in the
eyes of the general public}, which in turn could limit current
and future business opportunities or activities (potential
earnings), thereby leading 1o an indirect adverse financial
impact (customer base, sales, funding costs, etc) and/or
direct financial losses such as penalties, litigation costs, etc.
The responsibilities of the Corporate Communications
unit include avoiding negative reports in the press or similar
announcements that could inflict damage on the reputation
of the Bank. I this is unsuccessful, the unit is then responsi-
ble for assessing the situation and initiating apprepriate
communications aimed at specific target groups to limit the
reputational damage as far as possible. The strategic objective
is therefore to prevent or reduce any negative variance be-
tween actual reputation and the level of reputation the Bank
expects. A loss of reputation or damage to the Bank’s image
could have a direct impact on financial performance.
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Reputational risk is recognized quantitatively by applying a
markdown in the calculation of risk-bearing capacity. This
global approach is reassessed each year from a qualitative
perspective,

SUMMARY
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group accepts risks in a respon-
sible manner as part of its operating aciivities. This approach
is based on a comprehensive system for identifying, measur-
ing, analyzing, monitoring and controlling risks, which is
part of a holistic risk- and return-oriented management
system. Risk-bearing capacity was maintained at ali times in
2018. We do not believe that there are any risks to the con-
tinued existence of our business as a going concern.

The ongoing refinement of the system continued in 2018,
with steps implemented including adjustments to methods,
models, systems, processes and IT. These activities were
supported by the reorganization of the Risk Management
unit,

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group will continue to in-
vest in optimizing its comprehensive control system and risk
management systems in order to meet the business and
statutory requirements for the management and control of
risks.

Forecast of Material Risks

Credit Risk Forecast

Overall, a stable risk position and a further expansion in the
volume of loans and receivables is anticipated for 2019. This
growth is likely to be achieved on the back of the well-
established sales promotion program with the brands and
continuous cxpansion of the fleet business.

Market Risk Forecast

We are expecting a generally stable market price risk situa-
tion for fiscal year 2019, based on the expected relatively
stable interest rate environment in the eurozone.

Liquidity Risk Forecast

The future trend in this risk depends to a large extent on
global political uncertainties. For example, failure of the
Brexit negotiations could lead to a disorderly exit from the
European Union by the UK, plunging the financial markets
into a new round of turmeil. In turn, this could affect the
funding situation in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group,
increasing funding risk and illiquidity risk.
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Residual Value Risk Farecast

We expect the volume of contracts with direct residual value
risk to continue 1o grow in fiscal year 2019. The main drivers
behind this are the implemented growth program, continued
economic recovery in the markets and further expansion in
the fleet business.

Operational Risk Forecast

Based on future business growth and the trend in operational
risk as described in the risk report, we anticipate a constant
to moderately rising level of risk. In this context, we expect
the effectiveness of fraud protection to remain stable and the
high level of quality in processes, staff skills and qualifica-
tions, and IT sysiems to be maintained.

This report contains forward-locking statements on the business development of
Volkswagen Bank GmbH. These statements are based onh assumptions relating to the
development of the econamic and legsl environment in individual countries and economic
regions in terms of the global economy and of the financial and automotive markats, which
we have made on the basis of the information available to us and which we currently
consider to be realistic. The estimates given entall a degree of risk, and the actual
developments may differ from those forecast. Any ted fall In d d or
stagnation in the key sales markets of the Volkswagen Group will

Report on Opportunities and Risks

have a corresponding impact on the development of our business. The same applies in the
event of material changes in exchange rates against the eura In addition, expected business
development may vary if the assessments of the key performance indicators and of risks and
opportunities presented in the 2018 Annual Report develop differently to our current
expectations, or additional risks and opportunities or other factors emerge that affect the
development of our business.
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Leadership and management in the digital revolution and fostering a willingness to change,

HEADCOUNT
Volkswagen Bank GmbH employed 1,144 people {previous
year: 1,110) at the end of 2018.

A total of 832 people (previous year: 809) were employed
at the branches of VolkswagenBankGmbH. The
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group comprises the bank branches
plus the following international companies: SkoFIN s.ro.,
Czech Republic - 247 employees (previous year: 239),
Volkswagen Finans Sverige AB, Sweden — 213 employees
(previous year: 204) and Volkswagen Financial Services {UK)
Ltd., UK - 1,018 employees (previous year: 1,043).

EMPLOYEES

Volkswagen Bank GmbH has deemed it its duty to offer em-
ployees a working environment worthy of a top employer.
This primarily includes a wide range of attractive tasks, a
comprehensive range of opportunities for personai and
professional development, options for international assign-
ments and working conditions that enable employees to
achieve a good work-life balance. It also offers remuneration
commensurate with the work performed, profit-sharing and
a number of social benefits,

Volkswagen Bank GmbH expects its top employees to
have a high level of expertise, provide excellent performance,
embrace change and flexible working arrangements, be will-
ing to gain new qualifications (in particular with regard to
future (digital) customer requirements), be willing to increase
productivity and to apply themselves to their profession with
commitment and passion. The long-term success of the Bank
will only be made possible by the outstanding performance
of its employees, taking an agile approach to collaboration
and using innovative methods.

Human Resources Strategy

The ROUTE2025 program has created new areas of focus in
terms of HR strategy. Six strategic areas for action are listed
under the heading “Tap Employer/Top Employees”. These
areas of activity are helping Volkswagen Bank GmbH to posi-
tion itself as “the key to mobility”. With the support of the
best employees, the objective is to continue to drive forward
development around the other strategic cornerstones of
customers, volume, profitability and operational excellence.

By implementing specific measures to develop and retain
personnel, coupled with profit-sharing arrangements com-
mensurate with the work performed, we aim to encourage
top performance and ensure that we provide outstanding
customer service with top employees, whilst also taking our
excellent reputation as a top employer to yet another level.

Responsibility for implementing the employee strategy
at an international level lies locally with the branches and
international subsidiaries, supported by the international HR
unit at the head office. The Human Resources Strategy Card
remains the most important management tool for imple-
menting the HR strategy. The objectives and definitions set
out in the tool provide our local companies with uniform
guidelines. The local entities hold regular meetings with the
head office — at least once a year — to report on their progress
and share detailed information in this regard. Depending on
the situation, support measures are agreed and/or highly
positive examples are systematically made available to other
branches using the HR toolbox so that synergies can also be
leveraged between the different branches and iocal compa-
nies.

In the year under review, the strategic focus both in Ger-
many and at the international sites was on strengthening
employee willingness to change and on reinforcing leader-
ship and management in the digital revolution.

To foster a willingness to change, eight inhouse job fairs
were held in 2018, which included motivational speeches and
departmental “market stalls”. Other events included various
seminars on the subject and a twe-hour “Quali-Quick” ses-
sion, in which the employees are given short motivational
briefings. This is intended to promote employee willingness
to change. On the subject of leadership and management in
the digital revolution, the Company organized national IT
innovation days, external presentations and an event for
managers held over several days covering the topic of digital
entrepreneurship. Many of the branches and international
subsidiaries arranged a variety of discussion sessions and
workshops for managers and experts {for example in Portu-
gal) and went as far as integrating the topic into the General
Management Program — the professional development event
for prospective branch managers and managing directors.
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The Bank assesses the extent to which it has achieved its
objective of being a top employer by regularly taking part in
external employer competitions. Our aim is to continue to
enhance the working cenditions and implement correspond-
ing action with a view to becoming one of the top 20 interna-
tional employers in the “Great Place to Work” employer
ranking by 2025. Working with Volkswagen Financial Ser-
vices AG, Volkswagen Bank GmbH has once again entered the
competition for an award from “Great Place to Work” in 2019
based on a comprehensive presentation of its HR activities
{which is nearly 500 pages long) and a survey of 1,000 em-
ployees. Participation in “Great Place to Work” in Europe had
been suspended in the previous year because of the Europe-
wide reorganization.

Customer satisfaction with the work of the employees is
given top priority at Volkswagen Bank GmbH. The results of
external and internal customer satisfaction surveys are used
as indicators of target achievement. A system of internal
customer feedback, which reflects satisfaction with internal
collaboration, has now been introduced in eleven countries
{Germany, France, Italy, Ireland, Netherlands, Poland, Portu-
gal, Sweden, Spain, Czech Republic and the United Kingdom).

Volkswagen Bank GmbH offers competitive, perfor-
mance-related remuneration. Performance appraisals are
conducted as part of the annual staff dialogs in almost all
branches and international subsidiaries.

{MPLEMENTATION OF THE CORPORATE STRATEGY

ROUTE2025 is complemented by “The FS Way” and the asso-
ciated leadership and management principles. The FS Way
describes the corporate and leadership culture, i.e. the way in
which the objectives of the five strategic areas for action -
customers, employees, operational excellence, profitability
and volume - can be met to enable us to live up to the strate-
gic vision, “The key to mohility”, as an automotive financial
services provider. The F§ Way is anchored in the five FS val-
ues, living commitment to our customers, responsibility,
trust, courage and enthusiasm, combined with an attitude of
continuously looking for improvement and proactively
making the changes this requires. The FS values fit very neat-
ly into the new basic principles of the Volkswagen Group,
known as the “Essentials”. The FS values are repeatedly ex-
plored, discussed and turned into specific action at events for
managers and employees, especially from the perspective of
digital transformation.

Following the launch in the second half of 2018 of To-
getherdIntegrity (T4}, a groupwide integrity and compliance
program, strategy has been focused on the issues of compli-
ance, culture and integrity in relation to processes, struc-
tures, attitudes and conduct. T4 is a program aimed at organ-
izing and tracking integrity and compliance initiatives
throughout the Group but will also help to refine and im-
prove the corporate culture at Volkswagen Bank GmbH so
that the culture becomes more focused on integrity. The HR
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unit is using its processes, tools, rules and policies to make a
significant contribution to the creation of a working envi-
ronment in which the values and conduct requirements of
Volkswagen Bank GmbH are taken seriously, The objectives
of the T4I initiatives assigned to the HR unit are to enshrine
the issues of integrity and compliance in key HR processes
{recruitment, professional development, remuneration,
disciplinary processes and employee retention} and give
these issues greater focus. The implementation of initiatives
was launched at the end of 2018 and will be continued
throughout 2019 and subsequent years in accordance with
the framework plan for the Group.

REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS RELATING TO REMUNERATION
SYSTEMS

In the reporting year, Volkswagen RBank GmhH was subject to
direct supervision by the ECB and implemented the Insti-
tutsvergiitungsverordnung (IVV - German Regulation Gov-
erning Remuneration at Institutions) of August4, 2017
throughout the Group. The special regulatory requirements
relating to remuneration systems applied in addition to the
general requirements. Strategies and instruments already
introduced, such as the Works Council agreement on variable
remnuneration, the variable remuneration ceiling, national
and international risk-taker identification, the IVV-compliant
bonus process and the reporting system using a remunera-
tion report, continued to be applied and enhanced in fiscal
year 2018. Furthermore, special governance tunchons {Re-
muneration Committee and Remuneration Officer) ensured
that the adequacy of the remuneration systems was continu-
ously monitored.

HUMAN RESQURCES PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT

In 2018, 44 new vocational trainees/dual vocational training
students  started  their  professional careers  at
volkswagen Financial Services AG in Braunschweig, focusing
on specialist professional IT qualifications in application
development, prolessional banking qualifications and pro-
fessional insurance and finance qualifications. The dual ap-
proach combines vocational training with study for a univer-
sity degree, The Bachelor of Arts in Business Administration
is offered in collaboration with WelfenAkademie e.V.; the
Bachelor of Science in Business Informatics is offered in
collaboration with Leibniz University of Applied Sciences. In
2018 too, vocational trainees were recruited predominantly
to train for specialist professional IT qualifications in applica-
tion development, and dual vecational training students
mainly to become business informatics specialists, with a
view to designing vocational training con a forward-locking
basis and incorporating the topic of digitalization. A degree
study program in informatics is also offered. Under a training
collaboration agreement between Volkswagen Financial
Services AG and Volkswagen Bank GmbH, vocational train-
ees, dual vocational training students and IT students will
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have the opportunity to obtain their professional qualifica-
tions in departments at Volkswagen Bank GmbH.

In order Lo continue to attract qualified, committed em-
ployees, Volkswagen Bank GmbH has a rigorous concept for
recruiting and retaining young university graduates. For
example, as part of the development program for young
graduates, it offers a three-year doctoral program. Based on
the introduction of a new recruiting tool {SAP Success Fac-
tors), the Bank has been pursuing the objective of enabling
applicants to enjoy a simple, but optimum, comprehensive
candidate experience in the recruitment process. For those
involved in the process internally, the introduction of the
Success Factors 1ool means that the process of managing
applicants is faster and simpler.

Another critical element determining the successful im-
plementation of ROUTE2025 is to identify talent in the exist-
ing workforce and to nurture this talent with professional
development in the Bank. The objectives are to provide indi-
vidual persenal and professional development and to en-
hance the participant’s profile in the Bank.

A wide variety of programs aimed at developing experts
and management talent is also available in the branches and
international subsidiaries of Volkswagen Bank GmbH.

‘The strategic approaches of the FS Values and the result-
ing leadership principles have also been incorporated at
Volkswagen Bank GmbH in Germany as part of the holistic
training program for new and experienced managers; the
program is aimed at developing effective leadership and
management skills.

In addition to the mandatory and modular “Erfolgreich
durchstarten” (hit the ground running) program for new and
newly appointed managers, there are advanced modules for
enhancing the management know-hew of experienced man-
agers as well as the option of an individual review to assess
the current level of a manager's skills. The program is com-
plemented by the “Boxenstopp Fithrung” {(management pit
stop), which gives all managers the opportunity to get infor-
mation on current issues. Here they can obtain support for
specific management situations; internal and external facili-
tators help them analyze their own leadership and in this
way enhance their skills,

Volkswagen Bank GmbH thus ensures consistent quality
standards of management know-how as well as a shared
understanding of the leadership culture and principles as set
out by the F§ Way for employees with line management
responsibilities.

The branches and international subsidiaries also attach
great importance to continucusly enhancing management
skills. The international “leadership license” standard, com-
prising training modules and a concluding assessment center
event, has now been introduced in all branches and interna-
tional subsidiaries. Furthermore, professional development
has become internationally established as an integral part of
management. A few of the branches and international sub-
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sidiaries carry out the management assessment center (MAC)
themselves or offer it in collaboration with the Group brands
in the country concerned. As an alternative option, managers
can participate in cross-regional MACs offered once or twice a
year.

Te promote an  entrepreneurial  spirit in
Volkswagen Bank GmbH, an internal program known as
FS.Start.Up was run for the first time in 2018. The program
was open to any employees who wished to contribute busi-
ness ideas, such as new business models, new product sug-
gestions or process improvements that could also form part
of the ROUTE 2025 corporate strategy. The ideas were initially
made accessible to all employees throughout the Bank via a
web-based platform. A shortlist was then drawn up, after
which the employees or start-up teams were then required to
pitch their ideas briefly to a selection panel comprising
members of the Board of Management and senior managers.
The teams that were able to make a convincing presentation
to the panel received supplementary funding for the neces-
sary support to enable them to take their ideas to the next
stage.

INCREASE IN THE PROPORTION OF WOMEN

As of December 31, 2018, women accounted for 57.3% of the
workforce of Volkswagen Bank GmbH in Germany, but this is
not yet reflected in the percentage of women in management
positions. The target is to increase the proportion of women
in management positions permanently. We do so, for exam-
ple, by giving special consideration to female candidates in
recruitment and succession planning, in combination with
measures to improve work-life balance as well as the devel-
opment of HR tools.

The target figures for the period through 2023 were rede-
fined and adopted by Management in 2018 following the
separation of Volkswagen Bank GmbH from
Volkswagen Financial Services AG.

Proportion of Women - Target and Actual Values for Germa-
ny

Toigat 2024 lisgt 2018 Al 761w
Secend management
level 261 19.0 16.3
First management
level 103 37 4.0
Supervisory Board - - -

A cross-brand mentoring program is run throughout the
Group with the aim of increasing the proportion of women
in management. The aim of the nine-month program is for
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suitably qualified female employees to receive advice, sup-
port and coaching from managers in the Group.

DIVERSITY

In addition to the specific advancement of women, the no-
tion of diversity is an integral component of the corporate
culture at Volkswagen Financial Services AG. The Bank sent a
clear signal with its corporate initiative around the Diversity
Charter, which was signed in 2007. Under this initiative,
Volkswagen Bank GmbH undertook to recognize and appre-
ciate diversity, and to promote it according to skills and
ability. Volkswagen Bank GmbH adopted a Diversity Policy in
2018 to reinforce this approach. The Diversity Policy ensures
that diversity is recognized as the norm rather than some
kind of special feature. Diversity becomes a strength through
the conscious appreciation of the diversity in the workforce.
The diversity of our employees makes a significant contribu-
tion to the commercial success of our multinational compa-

ny.
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Report on Expected Develop-

ments

The global econotnic growth is expected to slow down somewhat in 2019, We also assume

that global demand for vehicles will vary from region to region and remain at the prior-yea

fevel on the whole. Based onits brand diversity, ils broad range of products and its ground-

breaking technologies and services, the Volkswagen Group is well prepared for the future

challenges in the mobility business and the variety of different market conditions.

Having set out the main opportunities and risks arising from
operating activities in the report on opportunities and risks,
we now outline the expected future developments in the
section below. These developments give rise to opportunities
and potential benefits that are included in our planning
process on an ongoing basis so that we can exploit them as
soon as possible.

Our assumptions are based on current estimates by third-
party institutions. These include economic research insti-
tutes, banks, multinational organizations and consulting
firms.

DEVELOPMENTS IN THE GLOBAL ECONOMY
Our forecasts are based on the assumption that global eco-
nomic growth will slow down somewhat in 2019. We still
believe risks will arise from protectionist tendencies, turbu-
lence in the financial markets and structural deficits in indi-
vidual countries. In addition, growth prospects will be nega-
tively affected by continuing geopolitical tensions and
conflicts. We therefore anticipate weaker momentum than in
2018 in both the advanced economies and the emerging
markets. We expect the strongest rates of expansion in Asia’s
emerging economies.

Furthermore, we anticipate that the global economy will
also continue to grow in the period from 2020 to 2023.

Eurcpe

In Western Europe, economic growth is likely to slow down
in 2019 compared with the reporiing period. Resolving
struc-tural problems continues to pose a major challenge, as
do the uncertain impacts of the United Kingdom’s planned
exit from the EU.

In Central Europe, we estimate that growth rates in 2019 will
be lower than those for the past fiscal year. The economic
situation in Eastern Europe should stabilize further, provid-
ing the conflict between Russia and Ukraine does not worsen.
The growth of the Russian economy is expected to lose some
of its momentum.

Germany

We expect that gross domestic product (GDP) in Germany
will increase slower in 2019 than in the reporting period. The
situation in the labor market will probably remain stable and
holster consumer spending.

DEVELOPMENTS IN THE FINANCIAL MARKETS
Volkswagen Bank GmbH believes that automotive financial
services will be very important for vehicle sales worldwide in
2019. The Bank expects demand to continue rising in emerg-
ing markets where market penetration has so far been low,
such as China. Regions that already benefit from developed
automotive financial services markets will see a continuation
of the trend toward customers requiring mobility at the
lowest possible total cost. Integrated end-to-end solutions,
comprising mobility-related service modules such as insur-
ance and innovative packages of services, will become in-
creasingly important in this regard. Additionally, demand is
expected to increase for new forms of mobility, such as car
sharing, and for integrated mobility services including park-
ing, refueling and charging. The Bank anticipates that this
trend will continue in the period from 2020 to 2023,

In the mid-sized and heavy commercial vehicles category,
demand for financial services products is rising in emerging
markets. In these countries in particular, financing solutions
support vehicle sales and are thus an essential component of
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the sales process. In mature markets,
Volkswagen Bank GmbH is projecting increased demand in
2019 for telematics services and services aimed at reducing
total operating costs. This trend is also expected to continue
in the period 2020 to 2023.

TRENDS IN YHE PASSENGER CAR AND LIGHT COMMERCIAL VEHI-
CLES MARKETS

We expect trends in the markets for passenger cars in the
individual regions to be mixed in 2019. Overall, global de-
mand for new vehicles will probably be at the 2018 level. We
are forecasting growing demand for passenger cars world-
wide in the period from 2020 to 2023.

Trends in the markets for light commercial vehicles in the
individual regions will be mixed again in 2019; on the whole,
we anticipate a slight dip in demand in 2019. We expect a
return to the growth trajectory for the years 2020 to 2023.

The Volkswagen Group is well prepared for the future
challenges peniaining io the automotive mobility business
and the mixed developments in regional automotive mar-
kets. (hur brand diversity, our presence in all major world
markets, our broad, selectively expanded product range and
picneering technologies and services place us in a good com-
petitive position worldwide. Our goal is to offer all customers
mobility and inneovations suited to their nceds and thus
ensuring long-term success.

Europe

For 2019, we anticipate that the volume of new passenger car
registrations in Western Europe will be in line with that seen
in the reporting period. The uncertain impact of the United
Kingdom's planned exit from the EU is likely to further exac-
erbate the ongoing uncertainty among consumers, continu-
ing to put a damper on demand. We expect to see slight
growth in the Italian market in 2019, whereas growth mo-
mentum in Spain wiil probably slow somewhat. We antici-
pate volumes in the French passenger car market to be on a
level with the previous year. In the United Kingdom, we es-
timate that new vehicle registrations in 2019 will be at the
prior-year level.

For light commercial vehicles we expect demand in West-
ern Europe in 2019 to narrowly miss the prior-year level
owing to the uncertain impact of the United Kingdom’s
ptanned exit from the EU. We estimate a marked decline in
Italy and a moderate decline in the United Kingdom and
France. In Spain, we anticipate a noticeable increase in de-
mand.

Sales of passenger cars in 2019 are expected 1o slightly
exceed the prior-year figures in markets in Central and East-
ern Europe. In Russia, we anticipale a market volume that is
slightly higher than in the previous year following the
marked recovery in the reporting period. The number of new
registrations should continue to grow in most of the other
markets in this region.

Report on Expected Developments

Registrations of light commercial vehicles in the Central and
Eastern European markets in 2019 will probably be some-
what lower than in the previous year. In Russia, we expect the
market volume to decline perceptibly compared with 2018,

Germany
After a positive performance overall in recent years, we ex-
pect demand in the German passenger car markel to fall
slightly year-on-year in 2019.

We anticipate that registrations of light commercial vehi-
cles will be around the previous year's level.

TRENDS IN THE MARKETS FOR COMMERCIAL VEHICLES
In the markets for mid-sized and heavy trucks that are rele-
vant for the Volkswagen Group, new registrations in 2019 are
set to be slightly up on the level seen in 2018. We anticipate a
solid increase for the period from 2020 to 2023.

We assurne that demand in Western Europe will taper off
moderately year-on-year in 2019. In Germany, we also expect
the market to decline slightly compared to the previous year.

Central and Eastern European markets should record a
moderate increase in demand. In Russia we expect to see a
marked rebound in demand in 2019.

INTEREST RATE TRENDS
In 2018 and also at the beginning of the current fiscal year,
the overall picture regarding central hanks' interest rate
policies was somewhat varied. In the USA and the United
Kingdom, the central banks have already hiked interest rates,
whereas the ECB has continued to pursue its expansionary
monetary policy. The level of interest rates still remains close
to the historic lows. This divergence in central bank policy is
likely to continue because there are signs of an end to the
economic downturn in Europe, but also indications of an end
to the overheating economy in the USA resulting from the
expansionary fiscal policy. Further rises in interest rates in
the US dollar and pound sterling zones will probably ensue.

if necessary, the ECB will gradually scale back its policy of
cheap money in 2015. It is not anticipated that there will be
any initial rise in interest rates before the ECB has completely
ended its bond-buying program. Interest rates will therefore
probably remain stable in the eurozone for the time being.

SUMMARY OF EXPECTED DEVELOPMENTS

Despite ongoing restructuring measures, the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group predicts that the volume of
business in the current fiscal year will be at the level of 2018,
Please refer to the statements in the opportunities and risks
report for information on the trends in credit risk, liquidity
risk, and residual value risk.

Sales activities related to the Volkswagen Group brands
and cur sales partner Volkswagen Financial Services AG will
be further intensified, particularly through joint strategic
projects.

43
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Furthermore, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group intends to
continue enhancing the leveraging of potential along the
automotive value chain. Our aim is to satisfy the wishes and
needs of our customers in the most efficient manner in co-
operation with the Group brands. Qur end customers are
looking, in particular, for mobility with predictable fixed
costs. In addition, we intend to further expand the digitaliza-
tion of our business.

The product packages and mobility solutions successfully
launched in the last few years will be refined in line with
customer needs.

in parallel with its market-based activities, the position of
the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group vis-a-vis its global com-
petitors will be further strengthened through strategic in-
vestment in structural projects as well as through process
optimization and productivity gains.

OUTLOOK FOR 2018
When the above factors and the market trends are consid-
ered, the following overall picture emerges for

Combined Management Report

Volkswagen Bank GmbH, from both single entity and Group
perspectives: our earnings expectations assume z slight
increase in funding costs, greater levels of cooperation with
the individual Group brands, further optimization of costs as
part of our efficiency program and a continued high degree
of uncertainty about macroeconomic conditions in the real
economy and the impact of this uncertainty on factors such
as risk costs.

New contracts, current contracts and penetration are like-
ly to be moderately lower in 2019 than in fiscal year 2018
because of the transfer of portfolios and companies to
Volkswagen Financial Services AG as part of the Group re-
structuring. The volume of business and deposits is neverthe-
less projected to remain stable in 2019, For the reasons out-
lined above, we expect both operating profit and return on
equity for fiscal year 2019 to fall slightly below the prior-year
levels. We expect the cost/income ratio in 2019 to be at the
level of the previous year.

FORECAST CHANGES IN KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2019 COMPARED WITH PRIOR-YEAR FIGURES

Nonfinancial performance indicators
Penetration (percent)

Current contracts {thousands)

New contracts (thousands)®

Financial performance indicators
Volume of business {€ million)

Volume of deposits (€ million}
Operating profit (€ million)’

Return on equity (percent)
Costfincome ratio (percent}

Actual 2017 Actual 2013 Forecast for 2019
]

Moderately below 2018

- 228 30.8 level

Moderately below 2018

6,032 6,393 level

Moderately below 2018

42927 2,680 level

59,592 63,548 At 2018 level

33,583 32,389 At 2018 level

Moderately below 2018

994 952 level

Maderately below 2018

- 10_& 84 level

387 46.0 At 2018 level

1 A new counting method for determining contract numbers was introduced on January 1, 2018.
2 The new contracts figure for 2017 indudes 2,550 thousand contracts from first-time consolidation.

3 The operating profit for 2017 includes positive non-recurring items.
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C lidated Financial Stat Income Statement

Income Statement

of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group

Jan.1=Dec 31, Jun 1 - D 31
€ milkion Notes 2018 2017-  Changein percent
Interest income from lending transactions and marketable
securities ) 19 1,372 1,427 -39
Income ;‘n:'nrm 'leasing traﬂsactlons o . 5,470 ;.;i 145.0
Depre;:;hsﬁ |mpa|rr;;MT.:sses and other expenses from -
leasing transactions 5,209 148.2
'Net incomne from Ieasnng transactions 20 1,261 1327
Interest expé77 o ' . 21 —366 619
Income from servic; contracts 7 o 160 BB2
Expenses from sennce contracts - B 7 -120 | g8l8
Nﬁc/cm;é fmm service contracts ) 7 - 22 40 1105
8,23 -84 -162.7
Fee and commission ir income 224 ~23.0
Fee and comm;;s|;n 1 expenses 7 —400 316
Net fee and commission income ) 24 -176 12538
Net Ea—m or loss on hedge?w T ’ _BE 12 -200.0
" Net gain or loss on financial instru ments measured at fair value T
and on derecognition of financial assets measured at fair value
through othel comprehensive income 26 48 3 1,500.0
- General and admmustratlve expenses T h ’ ;7 —533 N —;1; 19
" Other operatmg income T - o o 452 - ;g 34.5
OtheropeTtlng expenses o o T T —__EEE ) _;; T ma
Net cthéf;perai;aé Eor_nelexpenses 28 ——TH 26 ——1,1?5
Operating profit o ' T T
Share of proFtsian& Ib;;és of eqmty-accounted jom‘t ventures - B 23 ; 4—-5;
Net gain ot loss on miscellaneous financial assets ) ig _—; ; T s
Oth;r?n;r;aal galns or Iosses ' ’ 39 _.,.__4 _:4 Y
Profit before tax B T T om w2 | -la
lncomé tax expense 6,31 __.._ﬁ _335 T ez
Profit from continuing 6peratlons, net of tax o 703 5;5 7.2
P;;Eflgss fr;)n; algé;nlinued o;;eratlans, net of tax - S -
Profit after tax 703 656 12
Profit aﬂer tax aﬂnbutable to the sole shareholder ' 703 555 72

1 Prior year adjusted as described in the disclosures relating to the changes to the presentation of the income statement in the section
“sdjustmant of peloc-year figures”.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Financial Statements

Statement of Comprehensive

Income

of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group

€ million Mot
[ ]

Profit after tax _ ) o
Pension plan remeasurerments recognized in other comprehens
Pension plan remeasurements recpgmzed in other comprehensive income, before tax

Deferred taxes relatmz to pension plén remeasurements recognized in other
comprehensive income . 8N

Pension plan remeasurements recognized in other comprehensive income, net of tax

Fair value valuation of other participations and securities (equity instruments) that will
ot be reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax -

Share of other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investments
that will not be reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax

Items that will not be reclassified to profit orloss

‘Exchange differences on translating foreign operations

Gains/losses on currency translation r recogmzed in other comprehensl

Transferred to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations, before tax

Deferred taxes relating to exchange differences on lranslatlng forengr] cfperatlons
Exchange differences on translatlng forelgn operations, net of tax

Hedging ’ ’ - g

~ Fair value changes recognlzed in other. comprehenswe income (OCI I)
Transferred to proﬂt or lass (OCI )

Cash flow hedges {OCI 1}, before tax o ) -
Deferred taxes relating to cash flow hedges (CCIl) ) o 6 31
Cash fiow hedges (0L, net of tax

"Fair value changes recognized in ather comprehensive i income {OCI II)
Transferred to profit or loss {OCI 1Y) )
Cash flow hedges (

Deferred taxes rei:
Cash flow hedges (OCI 1), net of tax

Fair value valuation of securities and receivables (debt lnstrurnents) that may be

reclassified to profit or loss

 Fair value changes recogmzed in other comprehenswe |ncome

Transferred to profit or loss

Fair value valuation of securities and receivables {debt instruments) that may be
reclassified to profit or loss, before tax

‘Deferred taxes relating to fair value valuation of securities and receivables (debt
instruments) recognized in other comprehensive income 6,31

Fair value valuation of securities and receivabies (deb‘! instruments} that may be
reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax

Share of ather comprehensive income of equity-accounted investments that may be
reclassifiedto profit or loss, net of tax

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

" Other comprehensive income, before tax
Deferred taxes relating to ogher cumprehenswe mcpmg

Otherrcomprehenslve income, net of tax

hedges (OCI )

-]

Total comprehenswe |ncorne attrlbutabie to the sale shareholder

Jan. 1—-Dec. 31,
2018

703

=S

2
=3

-2

=2

656

Jan 1 Ded 31
2017
I

1

1illoloroio o
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Balance Sheet

of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group

€ million

Assets
Cash reserve

Loans to and receivables frqm b;ﬂlg ) )
Loans to and receivables from customers attributable to

Retail financing

Dealer financing

Leasing business

Other loans and receivables

Total loans t6 and receivables from customers

Derivative Eﬁ;ﬂaijp§tfuments

Marketable securities

Equity-accounted joint ventures
Miscelaneous ﬁnar\c_ia_l_aise_ts_

Intangible assets
Property and cquipment
lesseassets
!nTvestment pr&be&x

Deferred tax assets
Current tax assets

Other assets
Assets held for sale (IFRS 5)
Total

Nyte Dec. 31, 2018 Dec, 31,2017
7,33 1,858 1,866
8 661 970
29,882 28,032
12162 12430
) 18,829 18,858
_ a0 5,592
&34 65,143 64,912
835 27 289
836 3,359 2509
L 216 197
837 12 .3
10,38 40 48
11,39 20 25
13,40 5,491 5426
13,40 1

6,41 1,642

& 45
42 1,370

43 2028
83,042

8,747

Change

i operient

Balance Sheet

4
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Changs
€ million Note Dec. 31,2018 Dot 31,4017 i priient
Equity and liabilities ) o
Liabilities to banks 14,45 8,898 8032
Liabilities to customers o 14,45 39,602 41,066
Notes, commercial paper issued . X 1) 16,868 13,446 _
Derivative financial instruments o 848 24 277
Provisions 7 15,16,49 536 564
Deferred tax labilities 80 1657 1502
Current tax liabilities 6 184 210
Other liabilities ! §99 629
Subordinated capital ... ans2 2103 L
Liabilities related to the assets held for sale {IFRS 5) - 639 0 -

Equity 54 11,639 _
Subscribed capital o L 318
Capital reserves 8,531
Retained earnings ) B S 3,006
Other reserves o -216 .

Tatal

.- B — e 78,747 : 3
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Statement of Changes in Equity

of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group

OTHER KESERVES

Hodging trans ations -

Equrty
beferred Equity ateoun- Ner-
Subs Currency  Cash Huw hedping  and dept ted control-

seribed Capital  Retamio s hedges costs instru inwest- Lig Total

€ million capital ICSErues  CRnINgs iation {o 1 {ogi ) ments ments  anderests equity
As of Jan. 1, 2017 318 6,026 826 54 o - 40 - - 7156
Ero?ﬂ;;téft;x 7 - - 656 - _ - - - _ 656
Other comprehensive income, net of tax - 2 n “ 0 . s . 14
Totalcomprehenisiv;iaa{r‘nﬂe' R - - .5:; 4: - ; - :;8 6 _ 670
Capitalincreases ~ 2508 - - - =z - Z 2508
Profit transfer m_Vo_Ek-su;tagen AGH - o :43;) - - - - ~ - -489
Other changes - - - 139 1m0 - - 4 - - 1458
As of Dec. 31, 2017 M8 85N 2622 %1 o - 20 ° - Asn
Balance before adjustment on Jan.1,2018 318 g5 2622 =191 ¢ - 20 o - 1130
‘(:;‘P;a;gewirl:lhaccounting treatment as a result - T T o ’ i B o T
ofFRSS .. e 8 1 - - - -1 - - s
As of Jan. 1, 2018 318 8531 2510 -191 0 - 19 0 11,188
Profit after tax - - s - - _ T - LT
Other comprehensive income, netoftax _ 3 45 1 "z 0 P - a7
Total com siveincome - - 700 a5 1 3 o - 656
t:_;pitj;\creases - - _ o _ _ - - -
Profit transfer to Volkswagen AG’ T - - Z - - 204
Other changes o - o - Tz - - _ - 0
318 8531 3,006  -235 O 18 o - 1639

1 The figures show the share of HGB profit attributable to Volkswagen AG.

Further informatien on equity is presented in note {54).
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Cash Flow Statement

Cash Flow Statement

of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group

Consolidated Financial Statements

€ million

Profit/floss after tax
Depreciation amortization, impairment

ses and reversals irment losses

Change in pro\nsrons
Change in other noncash |terns

Gamlloss on dlsposal offl nancral as;ets end |tems of property vand equlpment

Net interest expense and dividend income

Other adjustments
Change in loans to and receivables from banks
Change in loans to and receivables from customers

Change in Iease assets

Change in other assets related to operatlng ties

| Change in liabilities to banks
Change in liabilities to customers
Change in notes, commercial paper |ssued

Change in other hablhtres related to operatlng actlvrtles

Interest recelved

Di

lnterest pald

idends recelved

Income taxes paid

f.ash flows from operatlng activities

Proceeds from dlsposal of |nvestment property
Acqulsltlon of investment property
Proceeds from dlsposal of subsudlanes and jomt ventures

Acqulsntlon of subsidiaries and |omt ventures

Proceeds from dlsposal of Dther assets

Acqmﬂtlon of uther assets

Change in investments in marketa ble securities
Cash flows from investmg activrties

Proceeds from changes in caprtal

Dustnbutlonlproﬁt teansfer to the sole shareholder

Change in cash funds attributable to subordmated capltal

Cash ﬂuws from fi ﬂnancang activlties

Cash and cash equivalents at end of prior period

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing actl\rltles

Cash flows from financing 2 activities
Effect of exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equhralents atend of period

See note 67 for disclosures on the cash flow statement.

Jan.1-Dec 31, jar 1- Dot 31
2018 2017
.|

703 656
g4 311
-23 11_?
320 8

0 ]
-2,041 “1668
8 3

304 1065
3,131 4,605
_1,541 1013
=506 104
1,084 2,229
-762 —2,438
3,650 1,4';2
54 7
2,399 1,887
s 13
—366 o -234
-216 —88
968 -3,242

0 0

5 -m

1 o

-17 =13
—870 839
895 615
- 2,505
489 a1
409 59
—80 2,032
1,866 :I. 457
968 —2 242
—895 615
_80 2,032
1 T a
1,858 1,866
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

al the Valkswagen Bank GmbH Group for the Year Ended Deceniber 31, 2018

General Information

Volkswagen Bank GmbH is a limited liability company (Gesellschaft mit beschrinkter Haftung, GmbH) under
German law. It has its registered office at Gifhorner Strasse, Braunschweig, Germany, and is registered in the
Braunschweig commercial register (HRB 1819).

The object of the Bank is to develop, sell and process its own and third-party financiat services both in Ger-
many and abroad, the purpese of such financial services being to support the business of Volkswagen AG and
of Volkswagen AG’s affiliated companies.

Volkswagen AG, Wolfsburg, is the sole shareholder of the parent company Volkswagen Bank GmbH.
Volkswagen AG and Volkswagen Bank GmbH have entered into a control and profit-and-loss transfer
agreement.

The annual financial statements of the companies in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are included in
the consolidated financial statements of Volkswagen AG, Wolfsburg, which are published in the electronic
German Federal Gazette and Company Register.

Basis of Presentation

Volkswagen Bank GmbH has prepared its consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS}, as adopted by the European Union (EU), and
the interpretations issued by the [FRS Interpretations Committee as well as in accordance with the additional dis-
closures required by German commercial law under section 315e{1) of the Handelsgesetzbuch {HGB — German
Commercial Code). All IFRS issued by the International Accounting Standards Board {IASB) up to December 31, 2018
for which mandatory application was required in fiscal year 2018 in the EU were taken into account in these consol-
idated financial statements.

In addition to the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income and the balance sheet, the
IFRS censolidated financial statements also include the statement of changes in equity, the cash flow statement
and the notes. The separate report on the risks associated with future development (report on opportunities
and risks in accordance with section 315(1) of the HGRB) tan be found in the combined management report.
This includes the qualitative disclosures on the nature and scope of risk from financial instruments required
under IFRS 7.

All the estimates and assumptions necessary as part of recognition and measurement in accordance with
IFRS comply with the relevant standard, are continuously updated and are based on past experience and other
factors, including expectations regarding future events that appear tc be reasonable in the given circumstanc-
es. Where significant estimates have been necessary, the assumptions made by the Bank are explained in the
disclosures on management’s estimates and assumptions.

The Management completed the preparation of these consolidated financial statements on February 19,
2019. This date marked the end of the period in which adjusting events after the reporting period were recog-
nized,
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Significant Events

With effect from September 28, 2018, the subsidiary Volkswagen Bank Polska $.A., Warsaw, was merged with
Volkswagen Bank GmbH. Since then, the Polish business has been serviced at the newly established Poland
branch.

The next few years will see further changes in the international subsidiaries within the European Economic
Area as part of the progress toward the target structure.

Adjustment of Prior-Year Figures

The structure of the income statement prepared by the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has been modified to
increase transparency in the reporting of the Group's performance as part of voluntary changes to accounting
policies. Key elements are the introduction of a subtotal for operating profit/ioss, the presentation of income
and expenses from service business as separate items in the income statement and, as part of the implementa-
tion of IFRS 9, the reporting of gains and losses from the measurement of financial instruments in the new
income statement items “Net gain or loss on hedges” and “Net gain or loss on financial instruments measured
at fair value and on derecognition of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income”,

The following table shows a reconciliation of the prior-year comparative figures from the previous presen-
tation of the income statement to the new presentation, broken down by reconciliation columns according to
the reason for the change.
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Previous presentation
Interest inome from lending
transactions before provision for
credit risks
Income from leasing
transactions and service
contracts

Expenses from leasing
transactions and service
contracts

Depreciatién of and o
impairment losses on lease
_ assets and investment property
Net income from leasing
transactions before provision for
credit risks
Interest expense

Net income fral;ile}\ding and
leasing transactions before
provision for credit risks

Provisi&ﬁ for credit risks from
asing business

Net income from lending and
leasing transactions after provision
for credit risks

Fee and commission income

Fee and commission expenses

Net fee and commission income

Net éainlloss on the measurement
of derivative financial instruments
and hedged items

Share of p.roﬁts and losses of equity-
accounted joint ventures

Net gain/loss on marketable
securities and miscellaneous
financial assets

General and administrative
expenses
Qther operating income
Other operating expenses
Net other operating
income/expenses

ALIHSTMENT OF T!iE FREMIRIATION FOR.

an 1o Dec 21
2017 Jan. 1-Dec. 31,
before Rrwersal of Other 2017
wjusinient provisicns  Servite centiacls adjustments ad‘iusted Anccnded prosntstioe.
Interest income from lending
transactions and marketable
1429 - - -3 1427 securities
Income from leasing
1726 - -85 - 2,641 transactions
Depreciation, impairment
losses and other expenses from
-1,733 - =366 - -2,099 leasing transactions
—432 _— T 432 - -
Net incotne from leasing
561 19 - 542  transactions
~234 .= oz 8 -6 Interestexpense
— - 85 - 85 Income from Service Contracts
Expenses from service
- - ~66 - —66 . _ . ___ftontracts
Net Income from Service
- = 18 - 18 Contracts
1,756 I T = = B
150 - - - 150 Provision for cre(_iit risks
1807 LT - = = e e
201 - - - 291 Fee and commission income
=328 24 - - —304 Feeand commission expenses
Net fee and commission
=37 .24 e - -13 i income
—48 - - 48 -
- - - -12 -12 Net Gain or !.o;s on Hedgej
Net Gain ¢r Loss on Financial
Instruments Measured at Fair
Value and on Derecognition of
Financial Assets Measured at
Fair Value through Cther
- - - 3 3 Comprehensive Income
29 - - -29 -
16 - - =16 -
General and Administrative
—531 15 - 1 916 Expenses
74 -39 - 0 335 Other operating income
-7 - - 2 315 Other operating expenses
Net Other Operating
57 -39 - 2 0 Income/Expenses
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ADIUSTMLNT OF THE PRESENTATION FOK

Revyisal af

FrOVISINTE

Seraee cantracts

lan 1 Dec 33,
2017

Lefore

Previous presentation adjustinent
Profit/loss before tax 992
Income tax expense -336

Profit/loss from continuiﬁg‘
operations, net of tax 556

Profit/loss from discontinued
operations, net of tax -

Profit/loss after tax 656

Profit/loss after tax attributable to
the sole shareholder 656

The basis of the changes to the presentation of the income statement is described in the 1able below.

KN

Jan.1=Dec 31,
Ciher 2017
2d ssimunts adiusted Amended presentation
. = Se——
T 954 Operating profit/loss
Share of profits and losses of
equity-accounted joint
29 29 ventures
Net Gain or Loss an
13 13 Miscellaneous Financial Assets
—44 —44 Other Financial Gains or Losses
- 9932 Profitfloss before tax
- -336 Income tax expense
Profit/loss from cantinuing
- 656 operations, net of tax
Profit/loss from discontinued
- - operations, net of tax
- 656 Profit/less after tax
profit/loss after tax
attributable to the sole
656 shareholder
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Basis for reconciliation cotumn Descoption

Implementation of a voluntary change in accounting policy as permitted by 1AS 8.14b} to
irmprove the presentation of income from the reversal of provisions and accrued liabilities.

Up to fiscal year 2018, income from the reversal of provisions and of accrued liabilities was
only recognized under other operating income. From fiscal year 2018, some of the income
from the reversal of provisions and of accrued liabilities is allocated to "Depreciation,
impairment losses and other expenses from Jeasing transactions”, “Fee and commission
expenses” and “General and administrative expenses” on the income statement, in which
the associated provisicns were recognized in previous fiscal years. The reclassification of
income from the reversal of provisions and accrued liabilities improves the presentation of
the income statement for the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. The prior-year figures have
been restated accordingly.

Implen.'.\;ntation ofa \roluntéry change in a&élmtﬁg policy as Ee?rnTneE I;yTAgéi4ii);; o
improve the presentation of the net income/expense from service contracts.

Reversal of pravisions

3) Net income/expense from service contracts was previously included in the income
statement under net income from leasing transactions before provision for credit risks, As
service contracts do not arise solely in connection with leases, the associated
income/expense is now presented separately under “Income from service contracts” and
“Expenses from service contracts”.

b} As a consequence of separating out the net income/expense from service contracts, the
expenses from leasing transactions previously reported under expenses from leasing
transactions and service contracts can now be combined with depreciation of and
impairment losses on lease assets and investment property in a new income statement item
referred to as “Depreciation, impairment fosses and other expenses from feasing
transactions”, thereby improving the presentation of the net income from leasing
transactions in the same way as the other net income items on the face of the income
Service contract: statement.

Implementation of a voluntary change in accounting policy as permitted by I1A5 &.14b) Lo
improve the presentation of the net income/loss from operating activities as a subtotal
referred to as “Operating profit/loss”.

Net income/expenses and net gains/losses that are not allocated to operating profit/loss or
the existing “Share of profits and losses of equity-accounted joint ventures” or “Net gain or
loss on miscellaneous financial assets” line items have been recognized under the new
“Other financial gains or losses” item,

Other adjustments

Effects of New and Revised |IFRSs

Volkswagen Bank GmbH has applied all financial reporting standards adopted by the EU and subject to manda-
tory application from fiscal year 2018.

Since January 1, 2018, there has been a requirement to apply amendments to IAS 40 Investment Property,
which clarify when a property falls within the scope, or no longer falls within the scope, of 1AS 40.

In addition, amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28 are applicable, which the International Accounting Standards
Board issued as part of the improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (Annual Improve-
ment Project 2016). The short-term exemptions in IFRS 1 First-time Adoption ef International Financial Report-
ing Standards available to entities applying IFRSs for the first time have been deleted. 1AS 28 Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures now includes a clarification for investment entities.

[FRS 2 Share-based Payment has also been amended. These amendments relate to the clarification of how
transactions with share-based payment are classified and measured.

In addition, amendments to TFRS 4 Insurance Contracts had to be applied from January 1, 2018. These
amendments reduce the impact from the different initial application dates specified for IFRS 9 and IFRS 17.
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IFRIC 22 {Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration) also applies; this interpretation clarifies
the exchange rates to be used in foreign currency transactions with advance consideration.

The changes referred to above do not have any material impact on the financial position or financial per-
formance of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.

IFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments revises the financial reporting provisions governing the classification and meas-
urement of financial assets, impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting.

Financial assets are classified and measured on the basis of the business model operated by an entity and
the structure of its cash flows. On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as “at amortized cost”, “at fair
value through other comprehensive income” or “at fair value through profit or loss”. The procedure for classi-
fying and measuring financial liabilities under IFRS 9 is largely unchanged compared with the current account-
ing requirements under IAS 39.

The model for determining impairment and recognizing the provision for credit risks is changing from an
incurred loss model to an expected loss model. The expected loss model breaks down the provision for credit
risks into three stages. Financial assets that are newly acquired or issued and that are not deemed to be under-
performing or non-performing on the date of initial recognition are allocated to Stage 1. Stage 1 includes ex-
pected defaults that could arise from potential default events within the subsequent twelve months. In the case
of financial assets in which the credit risk has increased significantly since acquisition or issue but in which the
financial asset is not underperforming (Stage 2) and non-performing financial assets {Stage 3), the provision for
credit risks is recognized on the basis of the remaining maturity of the financial asset {lifetime expected loss).
In addition, interest income on financial assets classified as Stage 3 is recognized on the basis of the net carry-
ing amount, i.e. amortized cost less recognized impairment losses, in contrast to the rules applicable to Stages 1
and 2. The change in the measurement methodology to an expected loss model described above leads to an
increase in the provision for credit risks. This increase in the provisions for credit risks results firstly from the
requirement not only to recognize portfolio valuation allowances for losses that cannot yet be allocated but
also to recognize a provision for credit risks for all performing assets that have not been affected by a signifi-
cant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Secondly, the increase arises from the requirement to rec-
ognize a provision for credit risks on the basis of the total expected time to maturity for financial assets that
have been affected by a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

As regards hedge accounting, IFRS 9 introduces wider designation oplions and the need 10 implement more
complex recognition and measurement logic. IFRS 9 also removes the quantitative limits for the effectiveness
test.

Overall, IFRS 9 also gives rise to significantly more extensive disclosures in the notes.

The following tables show the main effects of the new accounting requirements under IFRS 9 concerning the
classification and measurement of financial assets and the impairment of financial assets.

Within the “Derivative financial instruments designated as hedges” class, there have been no reclassifica-
tions to or from other classes as a consequence of IFRS 9,
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CHANGES IN BALANCE SHEET CARRYING AMOUNTS AS OF JANUARY 1, 2018 AS A RESULT OF IFRS 9

€ million

Cash reserve

H}p& Lo- and receivables from banks

ioans to and receivaj:ff fmm custorljgfs attrib-hﬁtraiqf;ei tq

Retail financing
Dealer financing

Other loans and receivables

Total loans to and receivables from customers

Derivative financial instruments

Marketab|

securities

Miscellanecus financial assets

Deferred tox assets

Current tax assets

Otherassets

Equity and kabilkties
Liabilities to banks

Liabilities to customers

Notes, commercial paper issued
Derivative financial instruments

Provisions
Deferred 1ax liabilities
Current tax liabilities
Other liabilities
Subordinated capital
Equity

Retained earnings

DEC. 33, 2017
Befare

adjustments

Adpustoents

8,032
41,06
13,446

277

564
1,502

210
629
1
1,301
2622

1w

-104
-104

AN 1, 28018

After adjustments
|

1,866
970

27,990
12,425
18,789

5,599
64,803

289
2,507
194

1,522

53

8,032

41,066

13,446

277

1,488

210
634

172
11,187
2,518

In addition to the adjustments set out in the table, the revised requirements relating to the recognition of the
provision for credit risks also had an impact on the measurement of lease assets. The effect of the adjustment
on the carrying amount of lease assets amounted to €9 million. This initial application effect has been recog-
nized in other comprehensive income after taking into account deferred taxes.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE CLASS: RECONCILIATION FROM IAS 39 TO

IFRS & AS OF JANUARY 1, 2018

€ million

Loans to and rect_z_ivab!g_s fror_r_l_ bar_|l_t§

Loans to and receivables from customers

Derivative financial instruments

Marketable securities

Equity-accounted joint ventures

Miscellaneous financial assets

Current tax assets

Other assets

Total

Equity and liabilities
Liabilities to banks
Liabilities to customers

Notes, commercial paper tssued

Derivative financial instruments

Current tax liabilities
QOther liabilities
Subordinated capital

Total

Moasared st fu o

__BECLASSIFICATION

From

measurod at

Te

Micgbured b

230

L Mg A5 33 amadized ot ymertizeg cos

Carrying wmount Farvalue Fart wubue

Dec. 31, 2617 Dec 31,2017 Gec 33,7017

] T (1252 -

. . 52 .- -
2,509 - y

2561 1,252 -

230 - -

Measused ot fan
valuc, IFRS 9

Carrying amount
Jan, 1, 2018
—

1,252
52

2,509

230
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTIZED COST CLASS: RECONCILIATION FROM
1AS 3% TO IFRS ¢ AS OF JANUARY 1, 2018

R . . L CRELLASSHMCATION -

Measured ol amtized cost From T Messuted at amorteed cost
iR

A8 39 wreanbircd at farvilue measurcd ad fan vakue

Cariying Provision fur

Corrying smicunt toedit ks Carrying Carryir g Carrying .

anuunt Fait valut Fairvofue adpstmient adjpustaent amaunt . Lt tatrvatae amount Fair value
€ mitiion pee 31, Do 31 2000 b Lan. 1,20 20 pu L3006 Do ai 7 G 3LI0N  Jand Jan. 1, 2018
, " Dec 31,2017 fne 33 2017 Les 31 2017 san. 12018 Jan 1 2018 WL 2006 Do 41,2007 Ui 7 _Jan.1,2018
Assets } , . _
Cash reserve 1866 1866 - - - T - - 1Bec 1866
Loans to and
receivables from
banks 970 70 - - .- - . = 970 970
Loans to and
receivables from
customers 46054 45533 - - - L= . L5 1252 sag09 45281
Derivative financial
instruments - - - - ) - - - - - -
securities — - - - - - - - - -
Equity-accounted
joint ventures - - - - - - - - - -
Miscellaneous
financial assets - - - - - - = - - -
Curent tax assets’ 3 3 - - - - - - 3 3
Other assets 512 512 - - - = - - 512 512
Total 49,405 49,884 - - = - 1245 1,252 sn160 48632
Equity and iabiites , ] _
Liabilities to banks 8,032 7,918 - - - - -~ - 8,032 7,919
Liabilities to
Customers - - - - - - 41,066 41,087
Notes, commercial
paper issued 13,446 - - - - - - 13,446 13,451
Derivative financial
instruments - - - - - - - - - -
Current tax
tiabilities* 162 162 - - - - - - 162 162
Other liabilities 184 184 - - - - - - 184 184
§ubordinated capital 1,721 1,730 - - - - - - 1721 1,730
Total 64610 64533 - - - - - - 6410 64532

1 Revised presentation as a result of including financial instruments in “current tax assets” and "current tax Babilities”.
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RECONCILIATION OF THE PROVISION FOR CREDIT RISKS IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

FROM IAS 39 TO IFRS 9 AS OF JANUARY 1, 2018

Consclidated Financial Statements

€ million

To financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss,

Adjustments

Jan. 1, 2018 o

To financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive Income, IFRS 9 (equity instruments)

Dec 31,2017

Adjustments

fan. 1, 2018 B

To financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income, IFRS 9 (debt instruments)

Dec. 31,2017
Adjustments
Jan. 1, 2018

‘E financial assﬁ; H!ea_sured Bt ;fn;anlz-e-;-cost, {FRS 9

Dec. 31, 2017

Adjustments

Jan. 1, 2018
To lease receivables

Dec. 31, 2017

Adjustments

Jan. 1, 2018
To credit commitments

Dec.31,2007

Adjustments

fan. 1, 2018
To financial guarantess
Dec.31,2017
Adjustments.

Jan. 1, 2018

Totalas ofjan. 1, 2018

brom
freanial asscts
ruasured st farr

walas through O

Frem
tinancial assets
mpasured at

sertizid eost

Mo moasurement

catygory under

s =9 ias 35 155 39
. 2 = B -
2 _ = =
- B66 o -
o < _50 -
- ) 917 -
B - 20
- } = &8
LT = 189
- - s
- T 5
2 917 293

Tatal

866

50

917

220
68

289

1,211
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CARRYING AMOUNTS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS: RECONCILIATION
FROM IAS5 39 TO {FRS 9 AS OF |JANUARY 1, 2018

Catrping amount IFRS 9 Change in
155 39 IFRS 8 carrying amount  Fetained earnings
€ miltion Dee, 31 2017 Reclassiligalions adjustenents Jan. 1, 2018 Jan. 1,2018
Financial assets measured at fair value through
. profit or loss, IAS 39 52 - - - -
Additions
Available-for-sale financial assets, IAS 39 - 359 - 359 -
. Financial assets measured at amortized
~ 1,252 - 1,252 -
! cost, IFRS 9 ~ - - - -
Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income,
IFRS 9 - - - - -
Financial assets measured at fair value through
profit or loss, IFRS 9 - - 1,664 =

CARRYING AMOUNTS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:
RECONCILIATION FROM LAS 39 TO IFRS 9 AS OF JANUARY 1, 2018

Latrylsg amours IFRS 9 Change in

14% 39 Hhe O carrying amount retained eamings

' € million s 41,2000 Reddassidications sdjustments Jan. 1, 2018 Jan. 1, 2018
. LW |

Available-for-sale financial assets, IAS 39 2,509 - - - -

* Financial assets measured at amortized cost,

ms39 ) - - p -

) Financia! assets measured at fair value
! through profit or loss, IAS 39 , - - - - -

IFRS S - _ -
Financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss, IFRS 9 - 359 - 359 -

Financial assets measured at fair value tﬁrough
other comprehensive income, IFRS$ - - - 2,150 =
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CARRYING AMOUNTS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTIZED COST: RECONCILIATION FROM IAS 39 TO IFRS 9
AS OF JANUARY 1, 2018

Carrying amaount IFRS 9 Change in

1a5 33 RS9 carryingamount  Tetalned eamings

€ million Due 31 2017 Ruddussibiiatans adportmnt Jan. 1, 2018 Jan.1, 2018
U I EEEE——

Financial assets measured at amortized cost,
IAS 39 S Assos - - - -

ns

ﬁbié;;nr-sale ﬁnaflcial assets, IAS 39 - - - - - -

Financial assets measured at fair value

~_through profit or loss, I1AS 39 - - - - -
Deductions
Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income,
IFRS 9 - - - - -

Financial assets mea;:red ;tkfaiil: ;;iue
through profit or loss, IFRS 9 - 1,245 . - 1,245 -

Financial assets measured at amortized cos;,
IFRS 9 - - o - 48,140 -

tFRS 15 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

IFRS15 revises the financial reporting requirements for revenue recognition. The
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group recoghizes the main components of revenue from contracts with customers in
accordance with IFRS 9 and IAS 17. For the components not covered by IFRS 9 or 1AS 17, there are no changes
resulting from the initial application of TFRS 15 as the approach applied to date is already in accordance with
the new rules of IFRS 15 for the most part.

New and Revised {FRSs Not Applied

In its 2018 consolidated financial statements, Volkswagen Bank GmbH has not applicd the following financial
reporting standards that have already been issued by the JASB but were not yet subject to mandatory applica-
tion in fiscal year 2018.
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Fubibsshie g Appheatnn Aopted
Standacd o prcLtion by the AR rguirerent’ by EU ixpectvd mipact
Business Combinations: October 22,  January 1,
IFRS 3 Definition of a Business 2018 2020 No  Nomaterialimpact
Financial Instruments:
Prepayment Features with October 12, Januaryl,
IFRS9 Negative Compensation 2017 2019 Yes  MNone
Consolidated Financial
Statements and Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures:
Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and is September
IFRS 10 and 1AS 28 i 12,2004 Postponed’ - MNore
January 13,  January 1, Detailed description following the table
IFRS 16 Leases oL w2009 Yes ~ overview
Changes to presentation and
measurement methods that, as a whole,
May 18, January 1, do not have a material impact; extended
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 2017 2021 No disclosures in the notes
Presentation of Financial
Statements
and Accounting Policies,
Changes in
Accounting Estimates
15 1and and Errors: October 31, January 1,
A58 Definition of Material 2018 2020 No  Nomaterial impact
Employee Benefits:
Remeasurement on a Plan
Amendment, February 7,  |anuary 1,
18519 Curtailiment or Settlement 208 2019 No  Nomaterialimpact .
Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures:
Long-term Interests in October 12,  January 1,
s 28 . Assodiates and joint Ventures 2017 2018 Yes  None
Improvements o International
Financial Reporting Standards December January 1,
2007 . 22027 2019 Mg Nomaterial impact
Uncertainty over Income Tax January 1,
IFRIC 23 Treatments . ne7.2007 2019 ves  Nomaterialimpact
1 Requi fornitial application from Volk gen Bank GmbH's perspective.

2 The IASB decided on December 15, 2015 to defer the effective date indefinitely.
3 Pestponed until January 1, 2018 (lASB decision on September 11,2015)

1FRS 16 LEASES
IFRS 16 amends the provisions governing the accounting treatment of leases and supersedes the previously
applicable 1AS 17 and the associated interpretations.

The main objective of IFRS 16 is to recognize all leases. Accordingly, the previous requirement for lessees to
classify a lease as either a finance lease or operating lease has been eliminated. Instead, for all leases, lessees
must recognize both a right-of-use asset and a lease liability in their balance sheet. The lease liability is meas-
ured at the present value of the outstanding lease payments, whereby the lease payments are discounted using
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate, whereas the right-of-use asset is generally measured at the amount of
the lease liability plus any initial direc1 costs. During the term of the lease, the right-of-use asset must be depre-
ciated and the lease liability measured using the cffective interest method, taking into account the lease pay-
ments. There are exemptions for short-term leases or those of low value. For these cases, the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group will make use of the practical expedient provided for in [FRS 16, and opt not to
recognize a right to use the leased asset or a lease liability arising from such lease agreements; instead it will
continue to recognize the lease payments as expenses in profit or loss.

€5
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The required accounting treatment for leases by lessors will be largely the same as under the current provisions
in IAS 17. In the future, lessors will still have to classify a lease as either a finance lease or an operating lease
based on the allocation of opportunities and risks from the asset.

As of J]anuary 1, 2019, the Volkswagen Bank GmhbH Group will for the first time account for leases in accord-
ance with IFRS 16, using the modified retrospective transition method. On the changeover date, the lease liabil-
ity is measured at the value of the remaining lease payments, discounted to present value using the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate. To simplify matters, the right-of-use assets are recognized at an amount equal to
the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments. As the amounts initially
recognized for the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities will be virrually identical, the total assets {total equity
and liabilities) are only expected 1o increase by a negligible amount (in the mid two-digit million range). This is
due in part to the application of the exemptions described above. No material impact on equity is anticipated.

In contrast to the current procedure, in which operating lease expenses are reported in full under general
and administrative expenses, only the depreciation charge in respect of the right-of-use assets is posted in
general and administrative expenses under [FRS 16. Interest expenses from unwinding the discount on lease
liabilities are recognized under interest expenses. It is anticipated that these changes will give rise Lo a slight
decrease in general and administrative expenses and a marginal increase in interest expenses in the income
statement.

The change to the recognition of operating lease expenses is projected to have only a minor impact on the
cash flow statement.

Moreover, there will be significantly more extensive disclosures in the notes.

Vertksweioenn Bank Goilsf (FRS ! Ansioal Report 2018
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Accounting Policices

1. Basic Principles

All entities inctuded in the basis of consolidation have prepared their annual financial statements to the report-
ing date of December 31, 2018,

Financial reporting in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group complies with IFRS 10 and is on the basis of
standard accounting policies.

Unless otherwise stated, amounts are shown in millions of euros (€ million). All amounts shown are
rounded, s¢ minor discrepancies may arise when amounts are added together.

Assets and liabilities are presented broadly in order of liquidity in accordance with IAS 1.60.

2. Basis of Consolidation

In addition to Volkswagen Bank GmbH, the consolidated financial statements comprise all significant German
and foreign subsidiaries, including structured entities that are directly or indirectly controlled by
Volkswagen Bank GmbH. This is the case if Volkswagen Bank GmbH has power over potential subsidiaries
directly or indirectly from voting rights or similar rights, is exposed, or has rights to, positive or negative varia-
ble returns from its involvement with the potential subsidiaries, and has the ability to use its power to influ-
ence those returns. In the case of the structured entities consolidated in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group,
the originator holds no equity investment but nevertheless determines the main relevant activities remaining
after the structure is created and thereby influences its own variable returns. The purpose of the structured
entities is to facilitate asset-backed-securities transactions to fund the financial services business.

Subsidiaries are included in the consolidation from the date on which control comes into existence; they
cease to be consolidated when conuol no lunger exists. Subsidiaries in which activitics are dormant or of low
volume and that, individually and jointly, are of minor significance in the presentation of a true and fair view of
the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are not consol-
idated. They are recognized in the consolidated financial statements under financial assets at cost.

Significant companies where Volkswagen Bank GmbH is able, directly or indirectly, to significantly influence
financial and operating policy decisions {(associates), or that are directly or indirectly jointly controlled (joint ven-
tures), are accounted for using the equity method. Joint ventures also include entities in which the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group controls a majority of the voting rights but whose partnership agreements or
articles of association specify that key decisions may only be resolved unanimously. Associates and joint ventures
of minor significance are not accounted for using the equity method but are reported under financial assets at
cost.
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The composition of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is shown in the following table:

2018 2017
. e e e e e e e T e ]

VW Bank GmbH and wnsolidgg! f"lj"ji'ﬁf{

International 3

_g_ﬁ_bsidla!'ies r_ecogr&ud at&sl

Germany - -
international N i T T 7 3
-Eqdity-;:-oun-ted associates andrjﬂo'iﬁ'tventrlr.lr;s . ” o o a
" Germany - )
Associates, Joint ventures and equity investments recognized at cost S o o '
Germany 7 S i ) 1 o TL
Intemational 7 T T T
Tetwd T 7 " R T

Volkswagen Bank GmbH maintains nine branches abroad. As of the balance sheet date, 24 (previous year: 31)
structured entities were consolidated in the consolidated financial statements. The list of all shareholdings in
accordance with section 313{2} of the HGB and in accordance with IFRS 12.10 and IFRS 12.21 can be accessed at
www. vwisag com/listotholdingsbank2(18. Disclosures in accordance with IFRS 7.30 are not provided because
they are of minor significance.

SUBSIDIARIES
A single significant change occurred at subsidiaries in the reporting period.

With effect from September 28, 2018, the subsidiary Volkswagen Bank Polska S.A., Warsaw, was merged with
Volkswagen Bank GmbH. Since then, the Polish business has been serviced at the newly established Poland
branch. Following the merger of Volkswagen Bank Polska S.A., Warsaw, with Volkswagen Bank GmbH, the latter
is the sole shareholder of Volkswagen Serwis Ubezpieczeniowy 5p.z.0.0., Warsaw.

Neither the change referred to above nor any other changes have any material impact on the financial position
or financial performance of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.

JOINT VENTURES
From a Group perspective, the equity-accounted joint ventures require separate presentation because they
were deemed material at the reporting date on the basis of the size of the entity concerned.
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Summarized financial information for the joint ventures on a 100% basis:

£ million

Shareholding (percent)

Laans to and receivables front banks

I.oan; {5}}1.1 re(erv:blés from customers
Le eassets

Other as sels

: rentassets
ofth: h: cash

Uab|l es to banks

Lrabll es to customers
Notes, (<]

crar paper i rssued

of which: noncurrent Irabrhtles

of which: Current Ilabllmes

ofwhrch noncu"entfinanclal ||;b||n|es

VOLTKASWAGEN FINANCIAL

ufwhrch current ﬁnancral Ilabrlrties

Revenue

Ofwhrch mterest mcome

Ea{penses
of which: |nteres! expense

) of which: depreclatron and amnrtlzatlon
Ploﬂ't frnm continuing nperatlons, before tax

Income tax expense or mcome

Profit from contin

Profitflass from discontinued ¢ operatlons. net
of tax

mcnme net on téx

cnmpré!rensh; Inr.orne

Dlwdends received

SERYICLS DIGITAL VOLKSWAGEN FENANCIVE
DEM NV SOIUINIONS GMBH STUTEBY SLOVENSKD S R O
ANETHERLANMOS) L {GERMAANY) o [SIDVAKIA) _
1018 2017 2018 917 2018 2017
60 % L B0% _ 51% __ 51% _ S8%  58%
- w___ 2 : 20 1 1
__ 1923 1814 39 3 A 402
= i - - s1 . M
_ 4 .m0 140 _ 00 22 22
.. isa7 195 208 183 s 489
498 _s80 127 & _ 30 24
__ 1429 lais 82 s 146 15
- 2 ___ ¢ o __ 1 0
1687 Jl477 38 .28 A 389
52 69 68 2 9 ) 15
- 161 - = - -
3 23 8 6 4 . 3
184 165 94 B2 & 52
) 1) 1,895 209 a3 506 baid
— | 286 3 S e 116
142 1,344 uz % a2
201 86 - .2 _ a5
__ 1538 L4 107 93 3 289
44 3 720 0 232 & .
2 21 - - 16 o 8
-3 -5 ____ -rel -0 52 -0
-2 = 2 o ___ - -1
0 -_ =3 -5 ___ -3

31 “ 0 2 n__ %
=S -3 -8 .3 -3 -
22 0 12 L O 0
¢ e ___ - - = -
2 10 12 4 = 6 0
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Reconciliation from the financial information to the carrying amount of the equity-accounted investments:

Volsswagen
Jaleswayen
Fanancial Sernces Voliswapen

Digttal Sudutiars  FIm3ncne sluiby

DF 4 N, Cmprt Sfovensbos e
€ million (Netholunds) Gy (slavakral
2017
Equity of the joint venture as of the acquisitiondate e m e
Profit o ' s o
Other comprehensive income o . -
Change in share capitat - S - o . U B -
Changeduietodemieaerrwaéo;ﬁﬁénies o T -_ -
Exchange differences on transiating foreign opt;;a:;{s__m T ) Z - ) -
Dividends ' ’ 7 ' - -
Equity of the jolnt venture as of Dec. 31, 2017 D T &2
Share of equity S o - —9; - i E T s
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Difference ' 7 ' 19 0 -
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1 As a consequence of the impact from the new IFRS 9 accounting requirements on financial assets in equity-accounted joint ventures, there is a difference between
the carrying amounts as of December 31, 2017 and the carrying amounts as of Januaty 1, 2018.

There were no unrecognized losses relating to interests in joint ventures. Cash attributable to joint ventures
amounting to €31 million was pledged as collateral in connection with ABS transactions and was therefore not
available to the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. There are no contingent liabilities to joint ventures.

3. Consolidation Methods

The assets and liabilities of the German and foreign entities included in the conselidated financial statements
are reported in accordance with the wuniform accounting policies applicable throughout the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. In the case of the equity-accounted investments, we determine the pro rata
equily on the basis of the same accounting policies. The relevant figures are taken from the most recently au-
dited annual financial statements of the entity concerned.

Acquisitions are accounted for by offsetting the carrying amounts of the equity investments with the pro-
portionate amount of the remeasured equity of the subsidiaries on the date of acquisition or initial inclusion
in the consolidated financial statements and in subsequent periods.
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When subsidiaries are consolidated for the first time, the assets and liabilities, together with contingent consider-
ation, are recognized at fair value on the date of acquisition or on the date of inclusion {for newly established
subsidiaries). Subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration do not generally result in an ad-
justment of the acquisition-date measurement. Acquisition-related costs that are not equity transaction costs are
not added to the purchase price, but instead recognized as expenses. Goodwill arises when the purchase price of
the investment exceeds the fair value of the identified assets less liabilities. Goodwill is tested for impairment at
least once a year and additionally if relevant events or changes in circumstances occur {impairment-only ap-
proach). If the carrying amount of goodwill is higher than the recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recog-
nized. If this is not the case, there is no change in the carrying amount of goodwilt compared with the previous
year. If the purchase price of the investment is less than the net value of the identified assets and liabilities, the
difference is recognized in profit or loss in the year of acquisition. Goodwill is accounted for at the subsidiaries in
the functional currency of those subsidiaries.

The net assets recognized at fair value as part of an acquisition transaction are depreciated or amortized over
their relevant useful lives, If the useful life is indefinite, any requirement for the recognition of an impairment loss
is determined at individual asset leve] using a procedure similar to that used for goodwill. Where hidden reserves
and charges in the recognized assets and liabilities are uncovered during the course of purchase price allocation,
these itemns are amortized over their remaining maturities.

The acquisition method described above is not applied when subsidiaries are newly established; no good-
will or negative goodwill can arise when newly established subsidiaries are included in the consolidation.

In the consolidation, the recognition and measurement arising from the independence of the individual
companies is adjusted such that they are then presented as if they belonged to a single economic unit.
Loans/receivables, liabilities, income and expenses relating to business relationships between consolidated
entities are eliminated in the consolidation. Intragroup transactions are conducted on an arm's-length basis.
Any resulting intercompany profits or losses are eliminated. Consolidation transactions recognized in profit
or loss are subject to the recognition of deferred taxes.

Investments in companies that do not meet the consolidation requirements are reported as other equity
investments under miscellaneous financial assets.

4. Currency Translaticn

Transaciions in foreign currencies are translated in the single-entity financial statements of
Volkswagen Bank GmbH and its consolidated subsidiaries at the rates prevailing at the iransaction date. Foreign
currency monetary items are recorded in the balance sheet using the middle rate at the closing date.

The foreign branches and subsidiaries forming part of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are independent
subunits whose financial statements are translated using the functional currency principle. Under this princi-
ple, all assets and liabilities, but not equity, are translated at the closing rate. With the exception of income and
expense items recognized in other comprehensive income, equity is translated at historical rates. Until the
disposal of the subsidiary concerned, the resulting exchange differences on translating foreign operations are
recognized in other comprehensive income and are presented as a separate item in equity.

The transaction data in the statement of changes in noncurrent assets is translated into euroes using
weighted average rates. A separate “Foreign exchange differences” line is reported to reconcile the carryfor-
wards transiated at the middle spot rate on the prior-year reporting date and the transaction data translated at
average rales with the final balances iranslated at the middle spot rate on the reporting date.

Income statement items are translated into curos at weighted average rates. The exchange rates used for
currency translation are listed in the table below.

7
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BALANCE SHEET. INCOME STATEMINT AVIRALL

B MIDDLE SPOT RATE ON Dic 31 RaiL 7 o

- 2018 2017 2018 2017

United Kingdom GBP 0.89690 0.88730 0.88479 0.87679
Poland PLN 429780 417430 426220 425797
Sweden - 7 i ;-E—IE 10.25070 T 9.83140 1026034 963524
Czech Republicr S o i Ez; 25.72450 : 25 575900 2564840 263276

5. Recognition of Revenue and Expenses

Revenue and expenses are recognized in accordance with the accrual basis of accounting and are reported in
profit or loss in the period in which the substance of the related transaction occurs.

Interest income is recognized in the income statement using the effective interest method.
Income from financing activities is included in the interest income from lending and securities transactions;
leasing income is reported under income from leasing transactions. Expenses relating (o the funding of financ-
ing and leasing transactions are reported in interest expenscs. lLeasing revenue from operating leases is recog-
nized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and includes both the interest portion and the repayment of
the principal.

Contingent payments under finance leases and operating leases are recognized when the conditions for the
contingent payments are satisfied.

In the case of service contracts, such as maintenance or inspection agreements, revenue is recognized on ei-
ther a percentage-of-completion or straight-line basis, depending on the type of service performed. Percentage
of completion is normally calculated by considering the services provided up to the reporting date as a propor-
tion of the total anticipated services (output-based). If the customer pays for services in advance, the Group
recognizes a corresponding contractual liability until the relevant service is performed.

Net fee and commission income includes income and expenses from insurance brokerage as well as fees
and commissions from the financing and financial services businesses. Fee and commission income from
insurance brokerage is normally recognized in accordance with contractual arrangements when the entitle-
ment arises, i.e. when the policyholder pays the related premium.

Dividends are reported on the date on which the legal entitlement is established, i.e. generally the date on
which a dividend distribution resolution is approved.

General and administrative expenses comprise personnel expenses, non-staff operating expenses, depreci-
ation of and impairment losses on property and equipment, amortization of and impairment losses on intan-
gible assets, and other taxes.

Significant items reported within net other operating income are income arising from the allocation of
costs to other entities in the Volkswagen Group and income from the reversal of provisions recognized in
previous years within net other operating income,

6. Income Taxes

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates expected to apply in respect of the
refund from or payment to the tax authorities concerned. Current income taxes are generally reported on
an unnetted basis. Provisions are recognized for potential tax risks.

Deferred lax assets and liabilities are recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet and those in the tax base and in respect of
tax loss carryforwards. This gives rise to expected income tax income o1 expense effects in the future (tempo-
rary differences). Deferred taxes are measured using the domicile-specific income tax rates expected to apply
in the period in which the tax benefit is recovered or liability paid.
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Deferred tax assets are recognized if it is probable that in the future sufficient taxable prefits will be generated
in the same tax unit against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized. If it is no longer likely that it will be
possible to recover deferred tax assets within a reasonable period, valuation aliowances are applied. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities with the same maturities and relating to the same tax authorities are netted.

The tax expense attributable to the profit before tax is reported in the Group’s income statement under the
“Income tax expense” item and a breakdown into current and deferred taxes for the fiscal year is disclosed in
the notes. Other non-income-related taxes are reperted as a component of general and administrative expens-
es.

7. Cash Reserve

The cash reserve is carried at the nominal amount; this corresponds to amortized cost.

8. Financial Instruments

Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or
equity instrument of another entity.

In the case of regular way purchases or sales, financial instruments are normally recognized on the settle-
ment date, i.e. the date on which the asset is delivered.

Financial assets are classified and measured on the basis of the business model operated by an entity and the
structure of its cash flows.

IFRS 9 breaks down financial assets into the following categories:

> financial assets measured at fair value through profit orloss,

> financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income {debt instruments),

> financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (equity instruments), and
> financial assets measured at amortized cost.

Financial liabilities are classified using the following categories:
> financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, and
> financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.

In the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, the categories shown above are allocated to the classes “financial as-
sets and liabilities measured at amortized cost” and “financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value”.

The fair value option for financial assets and financial liabilities is not applied in the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.

Financial assets and financial labilities are generally reported with their gross values. Offsetting is only
then applied if, at the present time, the offsetting of the amounts is legally enforceable by the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group and there is an intention to settle on a net basis in practice.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are held within a business model whose objective is 10 hold fi-
nancial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows. The contractual cash flows of these financial assets
consist solely of payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, such that the cash
flow criterion is satisfied.

Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost unless these liabilities are derivatives, Note (14) Liabili-
ties explains the accounting policies for financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.

The amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount
> at which the financial asset or financia} liability is measured on initial recognition,
> minus any repayments of principal,

73



74 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Consolidated Financial Statements

> adjusted, in the case of financial assets, for any recognized valuation allowances, impairment losses or uncol-
lectibility and

> plus or minus the cumulative amortization of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity
amount (premium, discount) using the effective interest method.

Financial assets (debt instruments) measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (with recy-
cling) are held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows and sell financial
assets, The contractual cash flows of these financial assets consist solely of payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Changes in fair value that extend beyond the changes in the amortized cost of these financial assets are
recognized in other comprehensive income {taking into account deferred taxes) until the financial asset con-
cerned is derecognized. It is only at this point that the accumulated gains or losses are then recognized in profit
or loss. The changes in amortized cost, such as impairment losses, interest determined in accordance with the
effective interest method and foreign currency gains or losses, are immediately recognized in profit or loss.

Financial assets {(debt instruments) for which the cash flow criterion is not satisfied, or that are managed
within a business model that aims to sell these assets, are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The
same applies to financial liabilities that are not measured at amortized cost.

Changes in the fair value are recognized in profit or loss.

In the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, financial assets that represent an equity insirument are measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income (without recycling) in exercise of the fair-value-through-
OCI option unless they are held for trading purposes. The accumulated gains or losses from remeasurement
are reclassified on derecognition to retained earnings and not te the income statement (i.e. they are not
recycled through profit or loss).

To adjust the presentation of the income statement in line with standard practice in the market, the follow-
ing items will be reported within eperating profit or loss from the reporting period onward: net gain or loss
on hedges, net gain or loss on financial instruments measured at fair value, and net gain or loss on the
measurement of non-hedge foreign currency loans/receivables and liabilities, together with the net gains
and losses on the corresponding hedged items. For this reason, there are no comparative prior-year figures
within operating profit or loss for certain income statement line items (net gain or loss on hedges, net gain
or loss on financial instruments measured at fair value and on derecognition of financial assets measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income) or for some gains and losses from the measurement of
foreign currency loans/receivables and liabilities under net other operating income/expense. The prior-year
figures for the items referred to above are reported under the “Other financial gains or losses” income
statement item.

Othcrwisc, the accounting policies for financial instruments in accordance with IAS 39, on which the prior-
year comparative figures have heen based, have not been changed. In this regard, please refer to the disclo-
sures in the 2017 Annual Report.

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES
Loans to and receivables from banks, and loans to and receivables from customers, originated by the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are generally recognized at amortized cost using the effective interest meth-
od. Gains or losses arising from the changes in amortized cost are recognized in profit or loss, including the
effects from changes in exchange rates.

In individual cases, some loans to and receivables from customers are recognized at fair value through prof-
it or loss because the cash flow criterion is not satisfied. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are
recognized in profit or loss under net gain or loss on financial instruments measured at fair value.

F'or reasons of materiality, current loans and receivables (due within one year} are not discounted and no
unwinding of discount is therefore recognized.

Some of the loans to and receivables from customers are included in portfolio hedges. Loans to and receiv-
ables from customers assigned to portfolio hedges are measured at hedged fair value.
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Loans and receivables are derecognized when they are repaid or settled. There are no indications of derecogni-
tion for loans/receivables from ABS transactions carried out by the Group.

MARKETABLE SECURITIES

The “Marketable securities” balance sheet item largely comprises investments of resources in the form of
fixed-income securities from public-sector issuers and asset-backed securities issued by special-purpose enti-
ties.

The fixed-income securities are allocated to the category of debt instruments measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Valuation allowances for fixed-income securities are recognized in
profit or loss under the “Provision for credit risks” line item. Interest determined in accordance with the effec-
tive interest method and effects from changes in exchange rates are also recognized in profit or loss. In addi-
tion, the differences between the amortized cost and fair value arising from the remeasurement of fixed-
income securities are recognized in other comprehensive income, taking into account deferred taxes.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS

The equity investments included in the “Miscellaneous financial assets” balance sheet item are measured as
equity instruments generally at fair value through other comprehensive income {without recycling) in exer-
cise of the fair-value-through-OCI option. As the equity investments are strategic financial investments, this
classification provides a more meaningful presentation of the investments.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING
Derivative financial instruments comprise derivatives in effective hedges and derivatives not designated as
hedging instruments. All derivatives are measured at fair value and are presented separately in notes (35) and
{48}.

The fair value is determined with the help of measurement software in IT systems using the discounted
cash flow method and taking into account credit value adjustments and debt value adjustments.

In the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Greup, cntities enier into derivative transactions solely for hedging pur-
poses as part of the management ot interest rate and/or currency risk,

Derivatives are used as hedging instruments to hedge fair values or future cash flows (referred to as hedged
items). Hedge accounting in accordance with IFRS 9 is only applied in the case of hedges that can be demon-
strated to be effective, both on designation and continuously thereafter. The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group
documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items.

When fair value hedges are applied, changes in the fair value of the derivative designated as the instrument
used to hedge the fair value of a recognized asset or liability (hedged item) are recognized in profit or loss un-
der net gain or loss on hedges. Changes in the fair value of the hedged item in connection with which the risk is
being minimized are also reported in profit or loss under the same item. The effects in profit or loss frorn the
changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the hedged item balance each other out depending on
the extent of hedge effeciiveness. Gains or losses arising from the ineffectiveness of fair value hedges are also
recognized in gain or loss on hedges.

IAS 39 permits the use of fair value hedging not only for individual hedged items, but also for a group of
similar hedged items. In the reporting period, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group used portfolio-based fair
value hedges to hedge interest-rate risks. In portfolio-based hedging, the accounting treatment of changes in
fair value is the same as in fair value hedging at micro level.

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has opted not to retain [AS39 hedge accounting for all its hedges.
Therefore, from the beginning of fiscal year 2018, enly the provisions governing portfolio hedges under 1AS 39
have been relevant in addition to the IFRS 9 provisions.

In the case of derivatives that are designated as hedges of future cash flows and that satisfy the relevant cri-
teria, the designated effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized in other com-
prehensive income (OCI I). Effects on profit or loss under net gain or loss on hedges arise from the ineflective
portion of hedges of changes in fair value as well as from the reclassification (on recognition of the hedged
itemn) of changes in fair value previously recognized in other comprehensive income. The measurement of the
hedged item remains unchanged.
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Changes in the fair value of derivatives that do not satisfy the IFRS 9 criteria for hedge accounting are recog-
nized in profit or loss under net gain or loss on financial instruments measured at fair value.

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments are classified as financial assels or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss.

PROVISION FOR CREDIT RISKS

The provision for credit risks, which is recognized in accordance with the expected credit loss model specified
by IFRS 9 and in accordance with uniform standards applied throughout the Group, encompasses all financial
assets measured at amortized cost, financial assets in the form of debt instruments measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (with recycling), lease receivables that fall within the scope of IAS 17 and
credit risks from off-balance-sheet irrevocable credit commitments and financial guarantees. The calculation of
the provision for credit risks generally takes into account the exposure at default, the probability of default and
the loss given default.

Financial assets are subject to credit risks, which are taken into account by recognizing valuation allowances
in the amount of the expected loss; such valuation allowances are recognized for both financial assets with ob-
jective evidence of impairment and non-impaired financial assets. These allowances are posted to separate valu-
ation allowance accounts.

The general approach is used for financial assets measured at amortized cost (with the exception of trade
receivables), financial assets {debt instruments) whose changes in fair value are recognized in other compre-
hensive income and for irrevocable credit commitments and financial guarantees unless there is already objec-
tive evidence of impairment on initial recognition. Financial assets are broken down into three stages in the
general approach. Stage 1 consists of financial assets that are being recognized for the first time or that have
not demonstrated any significant increase in probability of default since initial recognition. In this stage, the
model requires the calculation of an expected credit loss for the next twelve months. Stage 2 consists of finan-
cial assets for which the probability of default has increased significantly since initial recognition. Financial
asscts demonstrating objective indications of impairment are allocated to Stage 3. In Stages 2 and 3, an ex-
pected credit loss is calculated for the entire remaining maturity of the asset.

In the case of financial assets already impaired on initial recognition and classified as Stage 4 for the pur-
poses of the disclosures, the provision for credit risks is recognized in subsequent measurement on the basis of
the cumulative changes in the expected credit loss for the entire life of the asset concerned Any financial in-
strument already classified as impaired on initial recognition remains in this stage until it is derecognized.

In the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, the provision for credit risks relating 1o trade recejvables and to op-
erating and finance lease receivables accounted for in accordance with IA5 17 is uniformly determined using
the simplified approach. In the simplified approach, an expected loss is calculated over the entire lifetime of
the asset. The amount of the valuation allowance for trade receivables is calculated according to the amount by
which the receivable is past due using a valuation allowance table (provision matrix).

Both historical information, such as average historical default probabilities for each portfolio, and forward-
looking information is used to determine the measurement parameters for calculating the provision for credit
risks. Insignificant loans/receivables and significant individual loans/receivables with no indication of im-
pairment are grouped together into homogeneous portfolios using comparable credit risk features and broken
down by risk category. In the case of significant individual impaired loans or receivables (e.g. dealer financing
loans/receivables and fleet customer business loans/receivables), specific valuation allowances are recognized
in the amount of the expected loss.

Impairment arises in a number of situations, such as delayed payment over a certain period, the initiation
of enforcement measures, the threat of insolvency or overindebtedness, application for or the initiation of
insolvency proceedings, or the failure of restructuring measures.

Reviews are regularly carried out to ensure that the valuation allowances are appropriate.

Uncollectible loans or receivables that are already subject to a workout process and for which all collateral
has been recovered and all further options for recovering the loan or receivable have been exhausted are writ-
ten off directly. Any valuation allowances previously recognized are utilized. Income subsequently collected in
connection with loans or receivables already written off is recognized in profit or loss.
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Loans and receivables are reported in the balance sheet at the net carrying amount. The provision for credit
risks relating to off-balance sheet irrevocable credit commitments and financial guarantees is recognized with-
in other liabilities.

Disclosures relating to the provision for credit risks are presented separately in note (62).

9. Miscellaneous Financial Assets

Investments in subsidiaries thal are not consolidated and other equily investments are reported as miscella-
neous financial assets.

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss if there are country-specific indications of significant or
permanent impairment {e.g. imminent payment difficulties or economic crises).

The accounting policies applicable to equity investments are set out in note {8} Financial Instruments.

10. Intangible Assets

Purchased intangible assets with finite useful lives {largely software and customer relationships) are recog-
nized at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over a useful life of three to five years (software} or ten
years (customer relationships).

Subject to the conditions specified in IAS 38, internally develeped software and all the direct and indirect
costs that are directly attributable to the development process are capitalized. When assessing whether the
development costs associated with internally generated software are to be capitalized or not, we take into ac-
count not only the probability of a future inflow of econemic benefits but also the extent to which the costs
can be reliably determined. Research costs are not capitalized. Amortization is on a straight-line basis over the
useful life of three to five years and is reported under general and administrative expenses.

At every reporting date, intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested to establish whether there are any
indications of impairment. An appropriate impairment loss is recognized if a comparison shows that the recov-
erable amount for the asset is lower than its carrying amount.

intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized. An annual review is carried out to establish
whether an asset has an indefinite useful life. In accordance with 1AS 36, these assets are tested for impairment
by comparing the carrying amount and recoverable amount at east once a year and additionaily if relevant
events or changes in circumstances should occur. if required, an impairment loss is recognized to reduce the
carrying amount to a lower recoverable amount {(see note 12).

Goodwill is tested for impairment once a year and also if relevant events or changes in circumstances oc-
cur, If the carrying amount of goodwill is higher than the recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recog-
nized. There can be no subseguent reversal of such impairment losses.

The recoverable amount of goodwill is derived from the value in use for the relevant cash-generating unit,
which is determined using the discounted cash flow method. The basis is the latest planning data prepared by
management for a planning period of five years, with growth in subsequent years estimated using a flat rate
percentage. This planning is based on expectations regarding future glohal economic trends, trends in the
overall markets for passenger cars and commercial vehicles and en assumptions derived from these trends
about financial services, taking into account market penetration, risk costs and margins. Planning assumptions
are adjusted in line with the latest available information. The interest rate used is based on the long-term mar-
ket interest rate relevant to each cash-generating unit (regions or markets). The calculations use a standard
Group cost of equity of 6.8% (previous year: 7.5%). If necessary, the cost of equity rate is also adjusted using
discount factors specific to the country and business concerned. The calculation of cash flows is based on the
forecast growth rates for the relevant markets. Cash flows after the end of the planning period are generally
estimated using a growth rate of 1% p.a. (previous year: 1% p.a.).
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11. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment (land and buildings plus operating and office equipment) is carried at cost less depre-
ciation in accordance with estimated useful lives. Depreciation is applied on a straight-line basis over the esti-

mated useful life. Useful lives are reviewed at every reporting date and adjusted where appropriate.

Depreciation is based on the following useful lives:

Property and equipment Useful lives
- e e e e e e ——
Buildings and property facilities 10to 50 years
Operating and office equipment 3 1o 10 years

An impairment loss is recognized in accordance with 1AS 36 if the recoverable amount of the asset con-
cerned has fallen below its carrying amount {see note 12).

The depreciation expense and impairment losses are reported within general and administrative expenses.
Income from the reversal of impairment losses is recognized in net other operating income/expenses.

12. Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

Assets with an indefinite useful life are not depreciated or amortized; they are tested for impairment once a
year and additionally if relevant events or changes in circumstances occur. Assets subject to depreciation and
amortization are tested for impairment if relevant events or changes in circumstances indicate that the recov-
erable amount for the asset concerned is lower than its carrying amount.

An impairment loss is recognized in the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and fair value less value in use. Fair
value is the amount of consideration that would be agreed upon in an arm’s length transaction between
knowledgeable, willing parties. The value in use is defined as the net present value of future cash flows ex-
pected to be derived from the asset.

If the reasons for the recognition of an impairment loss in prior years now no longer apply, an appropriate
reversal of the impairment loss is recognized. This does not apply to impairment losses recognized in respect
of goodwill.

13. Leasing Business

GROUP AS LESSOR
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group operates the finance lease business and the operating lease business. Most
of the lease assets are vehicles, but to a lesser extent also involve land, buildings and dealer equipment.

A finance lease is a lease that transfers beneficial ownership to the lessee. In the consolidated balance sheet,
receivables from finance leases are therefore reported within loans to and receivables from customers and the
net invesiment in the lease generally equates to the cost of the lease asset. Interest income from finance leases
is recognized using the effective interest method and reported under leasing income in the income statement.
The interest paid by the customer is allocated so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the re-
maining balance of the lease receivable.

In the case of operating leases, beneficial ownership of the lease asset remains with the lessor. In the consol-
idated balance sheet, the assets involved are reported separately under lease assets. They are measured at cost
and reduced by straight-line depreciation over the lease term to the calculated residual carrying amount. Any
impairment identified as a result of an impairment test in accordance with IAS 36 using the net selling price as
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the recoverable amount is taken into account by recognizing an impairment loss and adjusting the deprecia-
tion rate. If the reasons for the recognition of an impairment loss in prior years no longer apply, a reversal of
the impairment loss is recognized. Impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses are included in the
net income from leasing transactions before provision foy credit risks. The leasing revenue is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Land and buildings held to earn rentals are reported under the “Investment property” item in the balance
sheet and measured at amortized cost. The Jand and buildings involved are generally leased out to dealer busi-
nesses. Depreciation is applied on a straight-line basis over useful lives of ten to 33 years. Any impairment
identified as a result of an impairment test in accordance with IAS 36 is taken into account by recognizing an
impairment loss.

GROUP AS LESSEE
Lease payments made under operating leases are recognized under general and administrative expenses.

BUYBACK TRANSACTIONS

Leases in which the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has a firm agreement with the lessor regarding the return
of the leased asset are recognized under other loans and receivables within loans to and receivables from cus-
tomers at the amount of the resale value agreed at the inception of the lease¢ and are also recognized under
other assets in the amount equating to the right of use. In the case of noncurrent leases (maturity of more than
one year), the agreed resale value is discounted at the inception of the lease. The unwinding of the discount
during the term of the lease is recognized in interest income. The value of the right of use recognized under
other assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. This depreciation is reported un-
der expenses from the leasing business. Lease payments received under subleases are reported as income from
leasing business,

14. Liabilities

Liahilities to banks and customers, notes and commercial paper issued, and subordinated liabilities are recog-
nized at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses arising from the changes in amor-
tized cost are recognized in profit or loss, including the effects from changes in exchange rates, For reasons of
materiality, current liabilities (due within one year) are not discounted and no unwinding of discount is there-
fore recognized,

15. Provisions for Pensions and Other Post-Employment Benefits

Provisions are recognized for commitments in the form of retirement, invalidity and surviving dependants’
benefits payable under pension plans. The benefits provided by the Group vary according to the legal, tax and
economic circumstances of the country concerned, and usually depend on the length of service and remunera-
tion of the employees.

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group provides occupational pensions in the form of both defined contribution
and defined benefit plans. In the case of defined contributicn plans, the Bank makes contributions to state or
private pension schemes based on statulory or contractual requirements, or on a voluntary basis. Once the con-
tributions have been paid, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has no further obligations. Current contributions
are recognized as pension expenses in the period concerned. In 2018, the total contributions made by the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group came to €12 million {previous year: €2 million}. This amount included contribu-
tions to the compulsory state pension system in Germany in an amount of €7 million (previous year: €2 million).

Pension schemes in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are predominantly defined benefit plans in which
there is a distinction between pensions funded by provisions {without plan assets) and externally funded plans
(with plan assets). The pension provisions for defined benefit commitments are measured by independent actu-
aries using the internationally accepted projected unit credit method in accordance with 1AS 19. This means that
the future obligations are measured on the basis of the proportionate benefit entitlements earned as of the report-
ing date. The measurement of pension provisions takes inte account actuarial assumptions as tc discount rates,
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salary and pension trends, and employee turnover rates, which are determined for each Group company depend-
ing on the economic environment. Actuarial gains or losses arise from differences between actual trends and
prior-year estimaies as well as from changes in assumptions. They are recognized in other comprehensive in-
come, net of deferred taxes, in the period in which they arise. Detailed disclosures on provisions for pensions and
other post-employment benefits are set out in note 49.

16. Other Provisions

Under IAS 37, provisions are recognized if a present legal or constructive obligation to third parties has
arisen as a result of a past event, it is probable that settlement in the future will result in an outflow of eco-
nomic resources and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. If an outflow of resources is
deemed neither probable nor improbable, the amount concerned is treated as a contingent liability. In ac-
cordance with IAS 37, this contingent liability is not recognized but disclosed in note 68.

Provisions for litigation and legal risks are recognized and measured using assumptions about the proba-
bility of an unfavorable outcome and the amount of possible utilization.

Income from the reversal of other provisions is generally recognized in the income statement item or net in-
come item in which the associated expense was recognized in previous fiscal years. Provisions not resulting in
an outflow of resources in the year immediately following are recognized at their settlement value discounted to
the balance sheet date. Discounting is based on market interest rates. The settlement amount also includes ex-
pected cost increases.

Any rights of recourse are not offset against provisions.

17. Trust Transactions

No transactions are entered into on the basis of the administration or placement of assets for third-party ac-
counts (trust transactions).

18. Estimates and Assumptions by Management

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain estimates and
assumptions that affect the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and the
disclosures relating to contingent assets and liabilities for the reporting period.

Assumptions and estimates are based on the latest available information. In particular, the circumstances
prevailing at the time the consolidated financial statements are prepared and future trends in the global and
sector environment considered to be realistic are taken into account in the projected future performance of the
business. The estimates and assumptions used by management have been made, in particular, on the basis of
assumptions relating to macroeconomic trends as well as trends in automotive markets, financial markets and
the legal framework, These and other assumptions are explained in detail in the report on expected develop-
ments, which is part of the management report.

As future business performance is subject to unknown factors that, in part, lie outside the control of the
Group, cur assumptions and estimates continue to be subject Lo considerable uncertainty. If changes in parame-
ters are different from the assumptions and beyond any influence that can be exercised by management, the
amounts actually arising could differ from the estimated values originally forecast. If actual performance is at
variance with the forecasts, the assumptions and, where necessary, the carrying amounts of the assets and liabili-
ties concerned are adjusted accordingly.

The assumptions and estimates laygely relate to the items set out below.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The procedure for determining the recoverability of financial assets requires estimates about the extent and
probability of occurrence of future events. As far as possible, these estimates take into account the latest mar-
ket data as well as rating classes and scoring information based on experience combined with forward-looking
parameters. Further information on determining valuation aflowances can be found in the disclosures on the
provision for credit risks (note 62).

Management estimates are necessary to determine the fair value of financial instruments. This relates to
both fair value as a measurement standard in the balance sheet and fair value in the context of disclosures in the
notes. Fair value measurements are categorized into a three-level hierarchy depending on the type of inputs to
the valuation techniques used and each level requires different management estimates. Fair values in Level 1 are
based on prices quoted in active markets. Management assessments in this case relate to determining the pri-
mary or most advantageous market. Level 2 fair values are measured on the basis of observable market data
using market-based valuation techniques. Management decisions for this level relate to selecting generally ac-
cepted, standard industry models and specifying the market in which the relevant input factors are observable.
Level 3 fair values are determined with recognized valuation technigues relying on some inputs that cannot be
observed in an active market. Management judgment is required in this case when selecting the valuation tech-
nigues and determining the inputs to be used. These inputs are developed using the best available information.
If the Bank uses its own data, it applies appropriate adjustments to best reflect market conditions.

RECOVERABLE AMOUNT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS, JOINT VENTURES AND EQUITY INVESTMENTS

The impairment tests applied to non-financial assets (particularly goodwill and brand names), equity-
accounted joint ventures and equity investments measuted at cost require assumptions related to the future
cash flows in the planning period and, where applicable, beyond. The assumptions about the future cash flows
factor in expectations regarding future global economic trends, trends in the overall markets for passenger cars
and commercial vehicles and expectations derived from these trends about financial services, taking into ac-
count market penetration, risk costs, margins and regulatory requirements, For further information on the
assumptions relating to the detailed planning period, please refer to the report on expected developments,
which forms part of the management report. The discount rates used in the discounted cash flow method ap-
plied when testing goodwill for impairment are based on specified cost of equity rates, taking into account
historical experience and appropriate assumptions regarding macroeconomic trends. In particular the fore-
casts for short- and medium-term cash flows, and the discount rates used, are subject to uncertainty outside
the control of the Group.

RECOVERABLE AMOUNT OF LEASE ASSETS

The recaverable amount of the lease assets in the Group mainly depends on the residual value of the lease
vehicles when the leases expire because this value represents a considerable proportion of the expected cash
inflows. Continuously updated internal and external information on trends in residual values - based on par-
ticular local circumstances and empirical values from the marketing of used vehicles — is factored into the
forecasts of residual values for lease vehicles. These forecasts require the Group to make assumptions, primari-
ly in relation to future supply and demand for vehicles and in relation to trends in vehicle prices. These as-
sumptions are based on either professional estimates or information published by third-party experts. The
professional estimates are based on external data {where available), taking into account any additional infor-
mation available internally, such as values from past experience and current sales data. Forecasts and assump-
tions are regularly verified by a process of backtesting.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND UNCERTAIN INCOME TAX ITEMS

When determining deferred tax assets, there is a need to make assumptions about future taxable income and the
timings for any recovery of the deferred 1ax assets. The measurement of deferred tax assets for tax loss carryfor-
wards is generally based on future taxable income within a planning horizon of five fiscal years. In the recognition
of uncertain income tax items, the expected tax payment is used as the basis for the best estimate.
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INCOME FROM SERVICE CONTRACTS

The calculation of contractual service rates in service contracts is subject to assumptions about expenses dur-
ing the term of contracts; these assumptions are based on past experience. The parameters used in the calcula-
tion of contractual service rates are regularly reviewed. During the term of contracts, income from service
contracts is recognized on the basis of expenses incurred, plus a margin derived from the contractual service
rates.

PROVISIONS
The recognition and measurement of provisions is also based on assumptions about the probability that future
events will occur and the amounts involved, together with an estimation of the discount rate. Again, experi-
ence or reports from external experts are used as far as possible.

The measurement of pension provisions is based on actuarial assumptions as to discount rates, salary and
pension trends, and employee turnover rates, which are determined for each Group company depending on
the economic environment.

In the case of other provisions, expected values are used as the basis for measurement, which means that
changes are made on a regular basis, involving either additions to the provisions or the reversal of unused
provisions. Changes in the estimates of the amounts for other provisions are always recognized in profit or
loss. The recognition and measurement of provisions for litigation and legal risks included within other provi-
sions requires predictions with regard to decisions to be made by the courts and the cutcome of legal proceed-
ings. Each case is individually assessed on its merits based on developments in the proceedings, the Bank's past
experience in comparable situations and evaluations made by experts and lawyers.
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Income Statement bisclosures

19. interest Income from Lending Transactions and Marketable Securities

The interest income from financial assets measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other compre-
hensive income included in interest income from lending transactions and marketable securities amounted to
€1,396 million. Interest income of £15 million was attributable to financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or [oss. Prior-year interest income from financial instruments not aflocated fo the category of
financial assets or financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss amounted to €1,362 million
for the adjusted previous year.

20. Net Income from Leasing Transactions

The income from leasing transactions includes interest income on impaired loans and receivables amounting
to a total of €11 million (previous year: €14 million).

As in the previous year, the income from leasing transactions includes rental income on investment prop-
erty in an immaterial amount. As in the previous year, this income does not include any amounts from rever-
sals of impairment losses on lease assets and investment property applied in prior years.

The impairment losses recognized as a result of the impairment test on lease assets amounted to €45 million
{previous year: €25 million) and are included in the depreciation of impairment losses on lease assets. Impair-
ment losses are based on continuously updated internal and external information, which is then fed into the
forecasts of residual values for vehicles. Income from yeversals of impairment losses on lease assets applied in
prior years amounted to €6 million (previous year: €1 million) and is included in income from leasing business.

21. Interest Expense

The interest expenses include funding expenses for the lending and leasing business, and an amount of
€367 million (previous year: €233 million) relates to financial instruments not measured at fair value through
profit or loss. Out of this amount, €1 million {previous year: €-1 million) was offset against the net expense
arising from interest income and expenses on derivatives in ineffective hedges in the reporting period.

Interest expenses included negative interest on money market transactions in an amount of €19 millien
(previous year: €15 millicn}. This resulted primarily from the Bank's reserve balance at the ECB in excess of the
minimum reserve requirement and from short-term deposits with domestic banks.

22. Net Income from Service Contracts

Of the total income recognized for service coniracts, an amount of €114 million related to service contracts
requiring the recognition of income at a specific time, and €46 million related to service contracts requiring the
recognition of income over a period of time.

Of the income from service cantracts recognized in the reporting period, income of €102 millien had been
included in the contractual liabilities for service contracts as of January 1, 2018,
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23. Provision for Credit Risks

The provision for credit risks relates to the following balance sheet items: loans to and receivables from banks,
loans to and receivables from customers, marketable securities and other assets; in the context of the provision
for credit risks in respect of credit commitments and financial guarantees, it also relates to the “Other liabili-
ties” balance sheet item.

The breakdown of the amount recognized in the consolidated income statement is as follows:

€ million 2018 2017
e e et e et e e e e e e e e e . - S e - - B I L ————
Additions to provision for credit risks -567 —269
Reversals of provision for credit risks oo e B 524 T m:aﬁsﬂ
Direct write-offs B i 4 T T -81 T Ty
Income from loans and receivables previously writtenoff T 3 18
Net gain or loss from significant modifications ’ - -
Total T S T e 1m0

The provision for additional credit risks to which the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is exposed as a result of
critical situations {economic crises, Brexit impact, block on sales of vehicles) in some European countries was
decreased by €64 million in the year under review (previous year: decreased by €232 million).

24, Net Fee and Commission Income
Net fee and commission income largely comprises income and expenses from insurance brokerage, together

with fees and commissions from the financing business and financial services business. The breakdown is as
follows:

€ million 2018 2017
U PP B i - . N s
Fee and commission income 224 2581

berwﬁirch con‘inii;sic;hé from insuranc; Eroking ) ' ' ' 141 ZD_B
Feeand commission expenses ) T T ae -304
" ofwhich sales commission in the financing business ' ' T
Total o ST T 4100 -3

1 Prior year adjusted as described in the disclosures in the “Adjustment of Prior-Year Figures™ section.
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25. Net Gain or Loss cn Hedges

The “Net gain or loss on hedges” item comprises gains and losses arising from the fair value measurement of
hedging instruments and hedged items.

The detailed breakdown of the gains and losses for the reporting period is as follows:

€ miltion 2018
L e - . R . - EE——
Gams on hedging instruments in fair value hedges 273
Lnsses on hedged items in fair val vaiue hed—Eési’_# o o I ST =273
Catns an the ineffective portron onof | hedging m}tr;n:eﬁs]n tair va!ue h;?ge: oo 15
Gams on the reclassrfcatlor;a_asTflﬁw hedge reserves T T T T 9
Lasses on the translatlon offorelgn currency I Ioansfrecewables s and fi |lab1lmes in cash flow hedges o -9
losses on the |neffe:t|ve portion of hedging ir lnstruments in cash mm&£7 o o o T -3
Total 12

As described in the disclosures on the adjustment of prior-year figures, these effects were included in other
financial gains or losses in the previous year.

26. Net Gain or Loss on Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value and on Derecog-
nition of Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive In-
come

The net gains or losses on derivatives not designated as hedging instruments, net gains or losses on marketable
securities and loans/receivables measured at fair value through profit or loss and net gains or losses an derec-
ognition of marketable securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are reported
unider this item. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives that do not satisfy the
IFRS @ requirements for hedge accounting at micro level or the 1AS 39 requirements for portfolic hedging are
recognized under gains and losses on derivatives not designated as hedging instruments.

The detailed breakdown of the gains and losses for the reporting period is as follows:

€ million 2018
Gains on derivatives not designated as hedging instruments ) 57

Lnsses on marketable : securities n measured at fair value 1hrough plot"t or Iuss -1

Losses on Ioans!lecelvables measured at fa|r valu'e through proﬂt or Ioss -7
Gamsllanes on the derecogmhon of marketab.le securrﬂes meas ured at faur value through o!her comprehenswe income ]
Tutal A8

As described in the disclosures on the adjustment of prior-year figures, effects from derivatives not designated
as hedging instruments were included in other financial gains or losses in the previous year.

BS
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27. General and Administrative Fxpenses

The breakdown of general and administrative expenses is shown in the following table:

€ million 2018 2017°
e, I S
Personnel expenses -292 -158
Non-staff operating expenses T T ~740
Advertising, public relations and sales promotion expenses T e Y
E)_epreciation of and impairment losses on property and eti;ibn;ne;{;&Eﬁ;&ﬁ;ﬂa’i}ment T
losses on intangible assets _14 -10
P e —-1 o r
Income fro _H;Te;ersalofprovishns and accrued liabilties 7 77 ) _' o 40 T

Total , 933 916

1 Priot year adjusted as described in the disclosures in the “Adjustment of Prior-Year Figures” section.

Non-staff operating expenses include expenses of €108 million {previous year: €51 million} for assets (vehicles
and real estate) leased under operating leases.

In accordance with the requirements specified in section 314(1) no. 9 of the HGB, the general and adminis-
trative expenses include the total fees charged in the reporting year by the independent auditors of the consol-
idated financial statements as shown in the following table.

€ million 2018 2617

e e e A  M——
Financial statements audit services 1 1
Other attestation services | o 1 7 6
Tax consulting services o S 1] -
Other services 2 2
Total o T - 3 2

The fee for financial audit services in 2018 was mostly attributable to the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of Volkswagen Bank GmbH and of annual financial statements of German Group companies as well
as to reviews of interim financial statements of German Group companies. Other attestation services related
primarily to other audit services. The other services performed by the independent auditors in the reporting
period mainly consisted of issues relating to banking supervisory law, consulting services on process optimiza-
tion and IT services.
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28. Net Other Operating Income/Expenses

‘The breakdown of the net other operating income/expenses is as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial 5

€ million

Gains oh the measurement of non-hedge formgn currency Ioans!receuvables and ||ab|lmes

Income from cost a\locatlons to other entities the Volkswagen Group

Income from the reversal of g prowsmns and accmed Ilabllltles

lncame Trom claims fnr damages

Income imrnthe disposal of vehlcles under loan agreements and f‘ nancg Iea}es

Income from non-sugmﬂcant modrﬁcatlons

Mnscellaneous operatmg income

P

Expenses frorn nnn-ﬂgnrf' :ant mod lflcahons

gt#herioperagn g Expenses

1 Priorysar adjusted 25 described in the disclosures in the "Adjustment of Prior-Year Figures™ section.

2018

2017

=t

-107

2
)

As described in the disclosures on the adjustment of prior-year figures, gains and losses on the measurement of
non-hedge foreign currency loans/receivables and liabilities were included in other financial gains or losses in

the previous year.

29. Net Gain or Loss on Misceflaneous Financial Assets

The net gain/loss on miscellaneous financial assets includes dividend income.

30. Other Financial Gains or Losses

Other financial gaing or losses mainly congist of interest income and interest expenscs in connection with tax-

related issues, pensions and other provisions.
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in the previous year, other financial gains or losses also included the following components:

€ million 2017
e o e e - S e [ERRN . ——
Gains on hedging instruments in fair value hedges and cash flow hedges 164
Losses on hedged rte_ms_ln?a_r:alu?edgs_ - S =161
Ineffectlve portion of hedging mstrum-::-r-rﬁts in cash ﬂovrril'r;dgies D R -
Galns on the measurement of férergn currency IoanslrecelvabIe;;nE?lraBrﬁtles T T -36
Losses on den;atr;'es not designated as hedgmg mstruments ST =15
Total o T T s

For the reporting period, the gains/losses on hedging instruments in fair value hedges and cash flow hedges,
the gains/losses on hedged items in fair value hedges, and the ineffective portion of hedging instruments in
cash flow hedges are reported in the new income statement item “Net gain or loss on hedges”.

For the reporting period, the gains/losses on the measurement of foreign currency loans/receivables and li-
abilities, 10 the extent that they relate to foreign currency gains/losses on hedged items in cash flow hedges, are
reported in the new income statement jtem “Net gain or loss on hedges”, in all other cases, they are included in
other operating income or other operating expenses.

For the reporting period, the gains/losses on derivatives not designated as hedging instruments are report-
ed in the new income statement item “Net gain or loss on financial instruments measured at fair value and on
derecognition of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income”.

31. Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense includes the taxes charged in respect of the Velkswagen AG tax group, taxes for which the
foreign subsidiaries and branches are the taxpayers, and deferred taxes. The components of the income fax
expense are as follows:

€ million 2018 2017
e e e e e e e e e = e e s [ Y - . ]
Current tax expense, Germany 34 140
Current tax ex ;énse, fo-reign ' 7 R - —154 7547
Current income tax expense S o o o T o V 1;4

E;;hﬁ;rciorinei( )}expense (+} related to prlor perlods h i ) 4 —43
Deferred tax income {—)/expense (+), Germany | S ' 61 o ;
Deferred tax mc;';:(_"):'e-)an_se- (_+)_-f-ore|gn S 15 o 59
Deferred tax income (—)Iexpense {+) 77 142
Income tax expense 275 B T

The reported tax expense in 2018 of €275 million (previous year: €336 million} is €18 million (previous year:
€39 million)} lower than the expected tax expense of €293 million (previous year: €297 million) calculated by
applying a tax rate of 29.9% (previous year: 29.9%) to the consolidated profit before tax.
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The following reconciliation shows the relationship between the income tax expense and the profit before tax
for the reporting period:

€million 2018 2017
Profitbeforetax - o8 0 M
muitiplied by the domestic incorme tax rate of 2.9 X (previous year: 29.9.%) - ‘ - -
= Imputed income tax expense In the reporting period at the domestic income tax rate 283 297
© +Effects from tax credits o . T
+ Effects from aoTestTc/fm;ergn téx rates o ’ - 62 N 1
7+ é;f;ds from char;gés in tax rates 7 17 [+]
+ Effects from permanent dnﬂ‘erences ’ -8 ;-2
+ Effects from tax-exempt income R o - o 12 o 16
A Effects from loss carnyforwards T
+ Effects from non-deductible operating expenses B T
7 +Taxes attrlbutableto prmrpermds ’ o T _—F_; T I?
+ Other vanances ----- ' -3 7 =
= Current incom: t:x Expenie 7 o V ] , o -275 7 —336

The statutory corporation tax rate in Germany for the 2018 assessment period was 15%. Including trade tax
and the solidarity surcharge, this resulted in an aggregate tax rate of 29.9%.

The effects of different income tax rates outside Germany arise because of the different income tax rates in
the individual countries in which the subsidiaries and branches have their registered offices compared with the
rates in Germany. The rates outside Germany vary between 12.5% and 30.0% (previous year: 12.5% and 35.7%).

As of December 31, 2018, there were unused tax loss carryforwards of €1 million {previous year: €5 million}
for which deferred tax assets of €0 million (previous year: €1 million) had been recognized. Of these unused
tax loss carryforwards, an amount of €1 million is deemed usable in the short term and €0 million is deemed
usable in the medium term (previous year: €0 million usable in the short term and €5 million usable in the
medium term).

Tax loss carryforwards not deemed usable amounted to €0 million (previous year: €0 million). Changes in
tax rates have given rise to deferred tax expenses throughout the Group of €-17 million {previcus year:
€-1 million}.

The Group has recognized deferred tax assets of €0 million (previous year: €0 million) against which there
are no deferred tax liabilities in an equivalent amount,

In accordance with I1AS 12.39, deferred tax liabilities of €25 million (previous year: €21 million) have not
been recognized for temporary differences and wundistributed profits of subsidiaries because
Voikswagen Bank GmbH has the relevant control.

Of the deferred taxes recognized in the balance sheet, an amount of €i4 million (previous year:
€11 million) relates to transactions reported in other comprehensive income. Within this figure, an amount of
€19 million (previous year: €17 million} relates tc actuarial gains or losses {(IAS 19), €0 million (previous year:
€0 million) to derivative financial instruments and another €-5 million (previous year: €~6 million) to the fair
value measurement of marketable securities.

32. Further Income Statement Disclosures

The figures reported for fiscal years 2017 and 2018 do not include any commission income not accounted for
using the effective interest method.
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Balance Sheet Disdlosures

33. Cash Reserve

The cash reserve primarily includes credit balances of €1,782 million (previous year: €1,705 millicn}
held with Deutsche Bundesbank.

34, Loans to and Receivables from Customers

The “Loans to and receivables from customers” item includes deductions arising from the provision for credit
risks recognized to cover the expected credit risk. The provision for credit risks is presented in note (23).
Loans to and receivables from customers largely comprise loans to private and commercial customers for the
financing of vehicles. The vehicle itself is normally pledged as collateral for the financing of vehicles. Dealer
financing encompasses floor plan financing as well as loans to the dealer organization for operating equipment
and investment. Assets are pledged as collateral, but guarantees and charges on real estate are also used as
security. Receivables from leasing transactions include receivables from finance leases and receivables due in
connection with lease assets. Other loans and receivables primarily relate to lines of credit and overdrafts
drawn down by customers as well as loans to and receivables from Volkswagen Group entities. They include
subordinated loans in an amount of €0 million (previous year: €1,246 million).

Some of the fixed-income exposures under loans/receivables from retail financing have been hedged
against fluctuations in the risk-free base interest rate using a portfolio fair value hedge.

The reconciliation to the balance sheet values is as follows:

€ million Dec. 31,2018 D, 43,2017
e e = e e A ——
Loans to and ivables from cust ] 65,143 64,912
Fair value adjustment from portfolic hedging -16 —22
Loans to and receivables from customers, net of fair value adjustment from portfolio hedging 65,159 64,934

Receivables from leasing transactions include due receivables amounting to €99 million (previous year:
€94 million). Of this amount, €63 million {previous year: €65 million) is attributable to finance leases and
€36 million {previous year: €28 million) to operating leases. The due lease receivables are payable within one
year.
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The breakdown of receivables from finance leases as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2018 was as fol-
lows:

FAE]

€ million 201% 2022 trom 2023 Total
_— —— . .- - . - . e - I
Future payment§ from finance lease recewables o ) ) ) 5990 14,697 26 20,713
Unearned ﬁnance income from ﬁnance Ieases {dlscountlng) ~532 -1,352 -1 -~1,885
Present value of minimum iease payrnents oulstandmg atthe reportmg date 5458 13345 25 18828
] 2020-
€ million 2019 2021 from 2024 Total
e e O U —
Future payments from finance lease receivables B o 5821 14714 29 20664

edﬁnance income from finance leases (dlscou tlng) B -553  -1,318 -1 -187
Present value ofrn imum lease payments outstan nding at the repoﬂlngdate . 8369 13,396 28 18,792

In the Voikswagen Bank GmbH Group, the present value of the minimum lease payments ¢utstanding as of the
reporting date equates to the net receivables from finance leases disclosed above, The provision for credit risks
in respect of uncollectible outstanding minimum lease payments amounted to €73 million (previous year:
£15 million).

Within loans to and receivables from customers, valuation allowances of €12 million (previous year:
€76 million) had been recognized in relation to loans and receivables in countries subject to additional credit
risk as a result of various critical situations (economic crises, Brexit impact, block on sales of vehicles) at the
end of the reporting period.

21
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35. Derivative Financial Instruments

This item comprises the positive fair values from hedges and from derivatives not designated as a hedging
instrument, The breakdown is as follows:

€ million Dec 31,2018  U:c 31 2017
e e e S

Transactions to hedge against

currency risk on assets using fair Qaluehedges 7 ' T 0 - ‘195
éurfemy visk on Iiabilities]:?ngrfair value hedges o ) - - .

) He?est—rate risk using fair value hedges B ' ' I 129 o 4:_1
of which hedges against interest-rate risk using portfolio fair value heEgE"' o ) 24 T

" interest-rate risk using cash flow hedges e T —9 .
c_urr_eEran;j_p;m_n_g risk on future cash flows using cash flow hé&ée§ I -2 0
Total hedging transactions T —m_—_—-___j_“—_ T —m N 13?
Assets arising from derivatives not designated as hedges 1 52
ot - 257 289

36. Marketable Securities

Marketable securities largely comprised purchased government bonds amounting to €3,284 million {previous
year: €2,086 million) and asset-backed securities issued by special purpose entities of the following:
Volkswagen Finance S$.A, Madrid in the amount of €50million (previous year: €114 million);
Volkswagen Leasing GmbH, Braunschweig in the amount of €18 million (previous year: €302 million); and
Volkswagen Financial Services {UK) Limited, Milten Keynes, United Kingdom in the amount of €379 miilion
(previous year: 1,153 million). With the exception of Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Limited, these special
purpose entities are structured entities not consolidated by Volkswagen Bank GmbH. Please refer to note (73}
for relevant disclosures in this regard.

Marketable securities with a total value of €849 million {(previous year: €1,156 million} have been pledged
as collateral for Volkswagen Bank GmbH's own liabilities. They are deposited at Deutsche Bundesbank and are
furnished as collateral in connection with open market operations.

Due to immateriality, no disclosures are made on (class C) shares in VISA Inc., USA.
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37. Equity-Accounted joint Ventures and Miscellaneous Financial Assets

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Equity-ar ountey

€millien mvestinents
Gross carrying amount

asof Jan. 1, 2017 -
Fore-iigl; é;(cha;éé differences - -
Changes in basis of consofidation ' ' —3
additions o B o m
Reclassifications 7 R
Disposals o o .
Changes recognized in profit or loss o ’ 29
Dividends ' ’ -
Other changes recognized in other comprehensive income o 0
B_aiance as of Dec. 31, 2017 0 T o o ;0;
1mpairmer;t losses -7 o - I S
Balance as of Jan. 1, 2017 -
Fareign exchange differences ) i o ’ T
Win ba;is o—f c;nsoli&‘;tiéa B B ) i - . 9

Additions ' S
Rec assifical iqf\§

Disposals ' o ' B ' -

Reversal of impairment losses

Balance as of Dec 31,3007 T s
Ne} carrying amount as of Dec. 31,2017 - i N 197
Net tarry!rE amount as of Jan. 1, 2017 ) -

Fiscefanecus

financak assets

el oo ioiw

tar |

[ B R |

o

w1

Total

93
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bquity decsuntod Kistllzneis
€ million Invesiments financial assets Total
PO ——— I

Gross tarrying amount

asofjan,1,2018 203 3 206
Foreign exchange differences S 7: ] ) T) 0
Changes in basis of consolidation 7 - - iy
Additions o 9 2
Reclassifications . - 7 : -
Held for sale . _7 .- -
Disposals S 7_ i _— o B 0
Changes/remeasurements recognized in profit or loss S 21 - 1
Dividends o ' - - - -
Other changes recognized in other comprehensive income ) T { o 7-0 0
Balance as of Dec. 31, 2018 o 4 T s 12 236
Impairment losses S T T o

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2018 9 - 9
Foreign exchange differences o ST T VW_- -
Changes in basis of consolidation T S - -
Additions to cumulative amortization T - - -
Additions S - e 0
Reclassifications — - -
Held for sale o o T -
Disposals S 7 7_ : i 7 __;__ . __-— =
Reversal of impairment losses I 7 - - -
Balante as of Dec. 31,2018 s 0 9
Net carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2018 . ne o 27
Net carrying amount as of fan. 1, 2018 108 3 197

1 Asaconsequence of the impad from the new IFRS 8 accounting requirements on financial assets in equity-accounted
joint ventures, there is a difference between the carrying amounts as of December 31, 2017 and the carrying
amounts as of January 1, 2018. This difference is explained in the reconciliation of carrying amounts under Effects of
New and Revised IFRSs— IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
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38 Intangible Assets

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

€ million

Cost

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2017
Fareign exchange differences
ch

es in basis of ;énsolid;tiﬁﬁ

Reclassif&atiég
Held for sale
Disposals

Balance as of Dec. 51, ioi1

Amortization and Impairment fosses.
Balance as of Jan. 1, 2017
Foreign exchange differences

Changes in basis of consolidation

Additions to cumulative amortization

Additians to cumulative im}iairment losses

Reclassifications
Weﬁ?&: sale 7
bi;}osais )
Reversal of impairment losses

Balance as of Dec. 31,2017
Net carrying amount
as of Dec, 31, 017

Net carrying amount
as of Jan. 1, 2017

intermally Other
pencrated Braad nannes miangible
saftwar custe mor hase Gutdwlll assets Total
L]
= 20 _ar 5 95
0 1 1 1 3
1 - - 26 27
- -~ - ] 9
- 1 - 3 2
1 20 18 92 131
- 9 - a7 56
0 0 1 1
1 = = 2 L
it 1 = 6 7
- 1 1 2
A 9 - LE 8
- A 18 19 s
- 1 17 u 39
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Internotly Uther

grrareted Beand »umis, irtangitle
€ million softwary custerr base Cuogwil assts Total
Cost
Balance as of Jan. 1, 2018 1 20 18 92 131
Foreign exchange differences B (_) ;1 “1 :i -2
Changes in basis of conselidation ] - - - T -
Additions - I - _ T 5 13
Reclassifications - _ _ o 77_7 S t -
Hetd for sale - _ - S -2 -26
Disposals - o _ - i 1
Balance as of Dec. 31, 2018 - 1 2 17 - 15
Amortization and impairment losses o s o
Balance as of Jan. 1, 2018 1 9 - 73 83
Foreign exchange differences - E - B o _ - :i -1
Changes in basis of consolidation - o - — _ Tl -
Additions to cumuiative amortization L ; o L T ; ]
Additions to cumulative impairment bosses B UL T T T ~ ) - -
Reclassifications - T T T - L -
Held for sale - - T _ 16 16
Disposals - - o 77) ¢
Reversal of impairment losses - o S i ) z -
Balance as of Dec. 31, 2018 - : - ”1; ' . - ;4 75
Net carrying amount - T T i -
as of Dec. 31, 2018 - 9 17 13 40
Net carrying amount - ) - T
asofjan.1, 2018 - 11 18 19 48

The goodwill of €17 million (previous year: €18 million) and the brand names of €6 million {previous year:
€6 million) reported as of the balance sheet date resulted from the acquisition of Volkswagen Bank Polska S.A.
These intangible assets have indefinite useful lives. The indefinite useful life arises because goodwill and brand
names are linked to the relevant cash-generating unit and will therefore remain in existence for as long as this
unit also remains in existence. The acquired customer base of Volkswagen Bank Polska S.A. is amortized over
ten years.

The impairment tests for the reported goodwill and brand names are based on the value in use, The values
in use determined for the recognized goodwill and brand name in the impairment tests exceeded the corre-
sponding carrying amounts, so no impairment loss requirement was identified. Sensitivity analyses were also
carried out as part of the impairment tests. No conceivable change in a material assumption would lead to the
recognition of an impairment loss for goodwill and brand names. As of the reporting date, intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives amounted to €24 million (previous year: €25 million}.



Consolidated Financial Statements

39. Property and Equipment

Nates to the Consalidated Financial Statements

Lapd zad GRerating ol

€ million truldaiges criice vqinpiment Total
Cost
Balance as of jan. 1, 2017 21 21 42
Foreign exchange differences N - o 1 1
:C;h.;nge-s?t asis of consolidation - ’ 1 26 27
Addiions B 1 3 4
E;c;r.ﬁétions - _ -
nDisposais___- o o T o ) ; 4
Balance as of Dec. 31, 2017 ' 24 Py 71
Depreciation and impailme;wt _lo;ses T ’ h o S o
Balance as of Jan. 1, 2017 - o D 16 33
Foreign exchange differences T ) ' T 0 1
;:hange; in basis mgai}ﬂation ' o 7 7 ) 7 770 ) 1; 12
ﬁdn-iﬁ_ﬁs 'to-éﬁaaétive Eé[;reci;;-ién 1 3 4
Addhiéﬁm};ulative |nr;\an:e:k;;;gs - - -
Reclassifications 7 ) - -
pisposals - ' - 3 3
Revers-aTo; i]npair}n?ﬁi 'I‘nssgs . - . ’ - - =
i'alanc_e__as‘ongn“;;. 2017 T ’ - 18 27 46
Net r.arfyfni amo_u;i as of Dec. 31, 2017 ) T 5 -;o 5

4 5 9

Net carrying amount as of Jan, 1, 2017

97
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Land and Operating 294

€ million butdings ctfice equipment Total
Cost

Balance as of |an. 1, 2018 24 47 n
Foreign exchange differences 7 - 7 D 0 0
Changes in basis of consolidation S - -
Additions ) & S _1 S 3 . a
Redlassifications - ’ ’ - o _ L - =
Held for sale ) B 6 - -78 -8
Disposals S T e 0 73 4
Balance as of Dec. 31, 2018 - o 24 38 63
Amortization and impairment losses 7 o T

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2018 18 n 46
Foreign exchange differences o ] 0 S 0
Changes in basis of consolidation - - -
Additions to cumulative amortization - S T ___1 W4 5
Additions to cumulative impairment tosses T e - T ) : 1
Reclassifications - - -
Held for sale 7 L 6 6
Disposals o 3 3
Reversal of impairment losses 7 7 - - =
Balance as of Dec. 31, 2018 7 - T __1_9 - ’ - 2; 43
Net carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2018 ’ ) ) s T 20
Net carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2018 o 7 75 - ;! 25

Assets under construction with a carrying amount of €1 million {previous year: €1 million) are included in
land and buildings.
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40. Lease Assets and Investment Property

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

99

Movable
lease frneestment

€ million atsets propurty Total

Cost

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2017 1,211 1,213

- Formén exth;;ngé dlfferem:es 74 - 74
changés in| basl: ;)Téons-(?l;&atlon 4,720 - 4,720
Frﬁons 7 ;_(E - 2,008
Redassifications ‘ _ . -

pisposals - ) 1,334 _ 1334

BalancessofDec.31,2007 - 6679 3 6.682

Depre:lation and imbi&rment losses o )

Balanu as of Jan. 1, 2017 334 2 338
Forei-g:e_ic;\ange differences 17 - 17
Changes in basus ofconsolldait;;r; B 7 31_1 o 811
Additions to cumulative depteuéhon ..... w7 0 407
‘Addrttcns to cumulatwe impairment bﬁ: S o T z; ) - 25
Reclassifications ’ e Tl -

Disposals 338 - 339
Reversal of lmpalrment losses ’ "1 _ 1

Balance as of Dec. 31,2017 _ ) 252 1,255

Net carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2017 5426 1 5,426

Net canrying amount a ofjan. 1, 2017 ’ o 1 878

In the prier year, we expected the following payments over the next few years from noncancelable leases:

€ miflion 2018 20192022 Total

Lease payments _ _ 77 160 337
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Wavabic
lease bivestrsent

€ million avsets! E,DEUW Total

Cost

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2018 6,679 3 6,682
Foreign exchange differences o T i -.165 o =102
Changes in basis of consofidation L - -
Additions 5,492 _ 5492
Reclassifications T T T -
Disposals 7 - - S :'H);_ 4,701

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2018 I 7,367 7,369

Depreciation and impairment losses ) 7 T o

Balance as of Jan, 1, 2018 1,254 2 1,255
Foreign exchange differences - m_"i; T -16
Changes in basis of consolidation o _ -
Additions to cumulative depreciation ) gﬁ 0 971
Additions to cumulative impairment losses i i - 45 T 45
Reclassiications ooy e T _ -
Disposals oo 75i S 751
Reversal of impairment losses o 4 S ~ 4

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2018 1,49§ i 1,501

Net carrying amount as of Dec. 31, 2018 ;';; i 5,869

Net carrying amount as of Jan. 1, 2013 S o ;;25 -i 5,426

1 A difference batween the carrying amounts as of Dacember 31, 2017 and the carrying amounts as of January 1, 2018
arose as a result of the adjustment effects in respect of lease assets described under Effects of New and Revised
IFRSS.

Since the fair value of investment property could not be determined without undue cost and effort, this item is
carried at amortized cost in an amount of €1 million {previous year: €1 million). Operating expenses in an
immaterial amount were incurred for the maintenance of investment property in both the reporting period
and in the previous year.

In the reporting period, we expected the following payments over the next few years from noncancelable leas-
es:

€ million 2019

2020~ 2ucd Total
——

Lease payments 209 182 331
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41 Deferred Tax Assets

The deferred tax asscts comprise exclusively deferred income tax assets, the breakdown of which is as follows:

€ million Dec. 31, 2018 Bee 31,2017
—_— - . — . . LW
Eefemid tax assets _ . 3,829 3,858
af which noncurrent o 7 ) &4 12%9
Recognized benefit from unused tax loss carryforwards, net of valuation allowances 0 1
of which noncurrent 1] 1
Offset (with deferre;i tax liab?lrities] -2,187 —2,3§2
Total o 1,642 1,497
Deferred tax assets are recognized in connection with the following balance sheet items:
€ milfion Dec, 31, 2018 Do 31,2017
Loans, receivables and other assets - ) N B 436 287
M}rketaplg securities and cash 3,335 3,453
Intangible assets/property and equipment - S B 1 1
Lease assets B B B o ] 30 18
Liabilities and provisions . ) N 27 99
Valuation allowances for deferred tax assets ontemporary differences - -
Total _ o ) ) 3,829 3,858
42 Cther Assets
The details of other assets are as follows:
€ milfion Deg 31,2018 brec F1oAul?
PR S U U e
Vehicles Igtu(ngq {ur disp(???I _ 166 102
R_estricted cash 438 438
Prepaid expenses 257 60
115 117
395 236

1,370 ] 952
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43, Non-current Assets Held for Sale

The equity investment in SkoFIN, s.r.o., Prague and the leasing portfolio of the Italian branch are to be trans-
ferred to the Volkswagen Financial Services AG Group within the one-year period. As of December 31, 2018,
assets in a total amount of €2,928 million were classified as assets “held for sale” and reported in a separate line
item of the balance sheet in accordance with IFRS 5. The assets “held for sale” were measured at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value. The reported amount comprises the assets of SkoFIN, s.r.o., Prague
(€1,714 million) and the leasing portfolio of the Italian branch (€1,214 million}. The sales do not have any ma-
terial impact on the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group’s results of operations or net liquidity.

The non-current assets held for sale are described below:

Change
€ million Dec. 31, 2018 Dee 41,2017 1 percent
Assets held for sale {IFRS 5) ) -

Cash reserve o - ' ' o —g oo T oL
Loans to and receivables frombanks 4 - -
Loans to and receivables from customers attributableto R B
Reﬁilﬁnéncing 7 I ' L—m - -
Dealer financing ' o I - -
Leasing business T T e - -
Other loans and receivables S o - —9-,' - _ R
:I'otalloanstoand receivables from customers i T ’ __2.474 ) _ -
Intangible assets 7 T - -
Property and equipment T _ -
Leaseassets S ' T 38 = -
Other assets B ' ST T - -
£ 1Y ™ S

Regarding the liabilities attributable to the assets, please refer to the explanations under note (56).
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44 Noncurrent Assets

o which ol which
€ miilion Dec. 31,2018 Lancancnt By 31 2017 sancarit
Ei—i;fﬂ?'j{;:" T ijm o o i 1w - 1,866 -
I‘.;:_a-nstoand receivables from banks 7 ) 661 - ' 77970 -
Loans to ana receivables from customers B o —5_5,14_3 ) 73};,455 54.55 ”376.455
Derivative financial instruments T '—_E 7 :14 - \2;9 203
Marketable securities T s o 2,509 -
EduitraE;uniéd iBi-l-‘Il .ve-ntures 216 216 1977 19?
Jiscellaneous ﬁ‘nancia assets . 7 12 S 7‘1’2 - W; 7 743
@J—bleassetsw ;77 " L a _____E o 4_;; _- a5
”"ﬂegya“de‘l"r‘!",’?ﬂr o . o - 2 ;E 2
Lease}ss?h 1 . B 7 o ) o 5451 5131 _____5’4é iﬁ
Investment property . T 111
Current taxassets - s - 53 -
Otherassets N o 1,370 952 182
Assets held for sale (RS 5) , L 2928 - -
Total 7 o . 8,399 77,250 42,083

45, Liabilities to Banks and Customers

The liabilities 1o banks mainly comprise liabilities to Deutsche Bundesbank arising from targeted longer-term
refinancing operations.

To cover the capital requirements for the leasing and financing activities, the entities in the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group make use, among other things, of the funds provided by the
Volkswagen Group.

The liabilities to customers item primarily contains customer deposits, such as overnight money and time
deposits, as well as various savings bonds and savings plans. In terms of maturity, the “Direkt-Sparplan” and
“Plus Sparbrief” savings products currently offer the longest investment horizon, The maximum maturity is
ten years.

The reconciliation to the balance sheet values is as follows:

€ million Der. 31,2018 Gy 312007
- . I ST
Liabilities to customers 39,602 41,066

Fair value adjus'tmentfrom portfolio he&éing - -

I.iabilitie: to customers, net of fair value adjustment
from portfolio hedging o 9,602 41,066
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46. Notes, Commercial Paper Issued

This item comprises bonds and commercial paper.

€ million Dec. 31,2018 Lo 31,2034
[ e e e . - - . S S—
Bonds issued 15,160 11,546
Commercial paper issued 1,708 1,899
Total 16,868 13,446

47. ABS Transactions

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group uses ABS transactions for funding purposes. The related liabilities are
recognized in the following balance sheet items:

€ million Dec. 31, 2018 Due 31 2617

E——
Bonds issued ) ) ) ) o 10,385 8,287
Subordinated liabilities 2,069 1,686
Total 12,454 9973

The asset-backed securities of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group are backed exclusively by financial assets.
The corresponding carrying amount of the securitized loans and receivables from retail financing and finance
leases is €12,610 million {previous year: €3,961 million). As of December 31, 2018, the fair value of the liabililies
amounted to €12,461 million (previous year: €9,972 million}. The fair value of the assigned loans and receiva-
bles that continue to be recognized, amounted to €13,059 million (previous year: €10,240 million) as of De-
cember 31, 2018. Security is provided in the form of loans and receivables from retail financing and finance
leases as well as cash collateral amounting to €12,894 million {previous year: €10,233 million). In these ar-
rangements, the expected payments are assigned to special purpose entities and the ownership of the collateral
in the financed vehicles is transferred. The assigned loans/receivables cannot be assigned again to anyone else
or used in any other way as collateral. The rights of the bond holders are limited to the assigned
loans/receivables and the payment receipts arising from these loans/receivables are used to repay the corre-
sponding liability.

These asset-backed securities transactions did not lead to the derecognition of the loans or receivables from
the financing business because the credit risk and timing risk were retained in the Group. The difference be-
tween the amount of the assigned loans/reccivables and the associated liabilities results from the different
terms and conditions and from the proportion of the ABSs held by the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group itsclf.

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is under a contractual obligation to transfer funds in certain circum-
stances to the structured entities included in its consolidated financial statements. As the loans/receivables are
transferred to the special purpose entity by way of undisclosed assignment, it is possible that the
loan/receivable has already been reduced in a legally binding manner at the originator, for example if the
debtor effectively offsets it against amounts it is owed by the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. In this case,
collateral must be furnished for the resulting compensation claims against the special purpose entity, for ex-
ample if the rating of the Group company concerned declines to a contractually agreed reference value.

The ABS transactions in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group can be repaid early (with a clean-up call} when less
than 10% of the original transaction volume remains outsianding.
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48. Derivative Financial Instruments

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

This item comprises the negative fair values from hedges and from derivatives not designated as a hedging

instrument. The breakdown is as follows:

€ million Dec. 31,2018 Dot 31,2017
— S SR
Transactions to hedge against
currency risk on assets using fair value hedges 13 35
currency risk on liabilities using fair value hedges - -
intgiggg-raie risk using fair value hedges 4 12
of which hedges against interest-rate risk using portfolic fair value hedges 4 12
interest-rate risk using cash flow hedges - . - -
currency and pricing risk on future cash flows using Ff,h fjmf t'e,‘jgj‘, 1 [¢]
Total hedging transactions S 18 47
Liabilities arising_ from derivatives nat designated as hedges - 197 230
Totat 214 277
49 Provisions
The provisions break down as foliows:
€ million Dec. 31,2018 Do 31,2017
- I — - - L}
Provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits 122 114
Other provisions 415 451
of which provisions for litigation and legal risks 347 381
of which for staff 41 40
of which other B 27 30
Total 536 564

105
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PROVIStONS FOR PENSIONS AND OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
The following amounts have been recognized in the balance sheet for benefit commitments:

£ million Dec. 31,2018 Duc 34,2017
— e e e e e et et e e e R VRSN
Present value of funded obligations 102 99
Fair value of pan assets T E N 7
Fundedstatusfnet) ____._ . _ N N T 2
Present value of unfunded obligations 95 91
Amount nat recognized as an asset because of the ceiling in I1A5 19 ) T _ I
Net liabillty recognized in the balance shest o 20 114
" of which provisions for pensions ) ' 122 ‘114

‘of which other assets - I 2 -

Key Pension Arrangements in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group

For the period after the active working life of employees, Volkswagen Bank GmbH offers its employees benefits
under occupational pension arrangements. Most of the arrangements in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group
are pension plans for employees in Germany classified as defined benefit plans under IAS 19. The majority of
these obligations are funded by provisions recognized in the balance sheet. These plans are now closed for new
members. To reduce the risks associated with defined benefit plans, in particular longevity, salary increases and
inflation, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has introduced new defined benefit plans in recent years in
which the benefits are funded by appropriate external plan assets. The risks referred to above have heen signif-
icantly reduced in these pension plans. The proportion of the total defined benefit obligation attributable to
pension obligations funded by plan assets will continue to rise in the future. The main pension commitments
are described below.

German Pension Plans Funded Solely by Provisions

The pension plans funded solely by recognized provisions comprise both defined contribution plans with
guarantees and final salary plans, For defined contribution plans, an annual pension expense dependent on
income and status is converted into a lifelong pension entitlement using annuity factors (guaranteed modular
pension entitlements). The annuity factors include a guaranteed rate of interest, The modular pension entitle-
ments earned annually are added together at retirement. For final salary plans, the underlying salary is multi-
plied at retirement by a percentage that depends on the years of service up to the retirement date. The present
value of the guaranteed obligation rises as interest rates fall and is therefore exposed to interest rate risk. The
pension system provides for lifelong pension payments. The companies therefore bear the longevity risk. This
is accounted for by calculating the annuity factors and the present value of the guaranteed obligation using the
latest generational mortality tables — the “Heubeck 2018 G” mortality tables — which already reflect future
increases in life expectancy. To reduce the inflation risk from adjusting the regular pension payments by the
rate of inflation, a pension adjustment that is not indexed to inflation was introduced for pension plans where
this is permitted by law.

German pension plans funded by external plan assets

The pension plans funded by external plan assets are defined contribution plans with guarantees. In this case,
an annual pension expense dependent on income and status is either converted into a lifelong pension enti-
tlemenlt using annuity factors (guaranteed modular pension entitlement) or paid out in a single lump sum or
in installments. In some cases, employees also have the opportunity to provide for their own retirement
through deferred compensation. The annuity factors include a guaranteed rate of interest. The modular pen-
sion entitlements earned annually are added together at retirement. The pension expense is contributed on an
ongoing basis to a separate pool of assets that is administered independently of the Bank in trust and invested
in the capital markets. If the plan assets exceed the present value of the obligations calculated using the guar-
anteed rate of interest, surpluses are allocated (modular pension benuses). As the assets administered in trust
meet the IAS 19 criteria for classification as plan assets, they are offset against the obligations.
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The amount of the pension assets is exposed 1o general market risk. The investment strategy and its imple-
mentation are therefore continuously monitored by the trusts’ governing bodies, on which the companies are
also represented. For example, investment policies are stipulated in investment guidelines with the aim of
limiting market risk and its impact on plan assets. In addition, asset-liability management analyses are con-
ducted at regular intervals so as to ensure that investments are in line with the obligations that need to be
covered. The pension assets are currently invested primarily in fixed-income or equity funds. The main risks
are therefore interest rate and equity price risk. To mitigate market risk, the pension system also provides for
funds to be set aside in an equalization reserve before any surplus is allocated.

‘The present value of the obligation is reported as the maximum of the present value of the guaranteed ob-
ligation and of the plan assets. If the value of the plan assets falls below the present value of the guaranteed
obligation, a provision must be recognized for the difference. The present value of the guaranteed obligation
rises as interest rates fall and is therefore exposed to interest rate risk In the case of lifelong pension payments,
the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group bears the longevity risk. This is accounted for by calculating the annuity
factors and the present value of the guaranteed obligation using the latest generational mortality tables — the
“Heubeck 2018 G” mortality lables - which already reflect future increases in life expectancy. In addition, inde-
pendent actuaries carry out annual risk monitoring as part of the review of the assets administered by the
trusts.

To reduce the inflation risk from adjusting the regular pension payments by the rate of inflation, a pension
adjustment that is not indexed to inflation was introduced for pension plans where this is permitted by law.
The calculation of the present value of the defined benefit obligations was based on the following actuarial

assumptions:
_ ___['.FRM_[\ﬁV INTERNATIONAL

Percent Dec. 31,2018 Doe 31,3017 Dec 31,2018 Ded 31 2017

P . . . .- " & B B ]
Discount rate , , 200 190 _ 360-290  130-250
Paytrend . __ 350 o360 a0 -
Pension trend ‘ , .18 150 _ o04p-310  060-3.10
Staff turnover rate 1.00 095 0.03-2.10 1.50-243

!-ieahh care iostjtrenq - - - -

These assumptions are averages that were weighted using the present value of the defined benefit obligation.

with regard to life expectancy, consideration is given 10 the latest mortality tables in each country. For ex-
ample, in Germany calculations are based on the “2018 G” generational mortality tables developed by Profes-
sor Dr. Klaus Heubeck. The discount rates are generally determined to reflect the yields on prime-rated corpo-
rate bonds with matching maturities and currencies. The iBoxx AA 10+ Corporates index was taken as the basis
for the obligations of German Group companies. Similar indices were used for foreign pension obligations.

The pay trends cover expected wage and salary trends, which also include increases attributable to career
development. 'The pension trends either reflect the contractually guaranteed pension adjustments or are based
on the rules on pension adjustments in force in each country. The employee turnover rates are based on past
experience and future expectations.
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The following table shows changes in the net defined benefit liability recognized in the balance sheet:

€ mitlion

Net Ilabllity recognized in th the balarlce sheet as of January 1

Current servlce :ost

Net mterest e

Actuarial gains ( )flosses (+) anslng : from chz changes in demogranhlc assumptlons

Actuarial gains (=)/losses [+) arising from changes in financial assumptions h

Actuanal gams = )Ilosses +) arlsmg frorn experience adjustrnents

Incomelexpenses from plan assets not mcluded in interest i income

Change in amount not recognized as an asset because of the celllng inlas19

Employer contributions to plan assets
Employee contributions to plan assets

Pension payments from company assets

Past service cost (including plan curtallments)

Gains ( )or losses (+) arising from plan se‘rtlements '

Changes in basis of consolidz

Other changes

Foreign exchange differences from foreign plans
Net liability recognized in the balance sheet as of December 31

2018

114

=7

=5

o |w

0

126

2017

‘Hilll-‘ glLlcn—-u—-iﬂ

The change in the amount not recognized as an asset because of the ceiling in I1AS 19 includes an interest com-
ponent, some of which is recognized in profit or loss under general and administrative expenses and some of

which is recognized in other comprehensive income,

The change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation is attributable to the following factors:

€ million

Present value of obligations as of January 1
Current service cost

Interest cost (unwmdlng efshscount on obilgatmns)

Actuanal gains (—)Ilosses (+] arising frum changes in der;ographlc assumptlons

Actuarla! gains (—)Iiosses {+) ansmg from changes in financial assumptlons

Actuanai gains (—}/losses [+) arising from experience adjustments

Employee contributions to plan assets
Pension payments fr from ‘company assets
Pensuon payments from plan assets

Past service cost (mcludlng plan curtaclrnents)

Gams H or Iosses M arlsmg frorn plan seﬂlements
Changes in basis of conselidation

Other changes

Foreign exchange dlfferences from forelgn plans 7
Present value of obllgations as of Decel_nber i

2018

191

[P

=7

oW W o o

197

2017

Lo min

'V ha
b~

e oo
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Changes in the relevant actuarial assumptions would have had the following effects on the defined benefit

obligation:
7 o L GEC 31, 201% . DEC. 31, 2017
Present value of defined benefit Change in Changy in
obligation i € million Eerczm £ ndlion prrtent
is 0.5 percentage
Discount rate y points higher - 177 -o08 iz _ A7
is 0.5 percentage
_ pointslower . 218 1110 -
is 0.5 percentage
Pensiontrend - pointshigher 205 435 L2000 330
is 0.5 percentage
points lower L 189 —402 o 1B2 474
is 0.5 percentage
Pay trend peints higher 158 0.62 192 . 040
is 0.5 percentage
—— _ pointslower 195 —0.59 .. 10 o0
Longevity increases by one year 203 3.05 195 234

The sensitivity analysis shown above considers the change in one assumption at a time, leaving the other as-
sumptions unchanged versus the original calculation. In other words, any correlation effects between the indi-
vidual assumptions are ignored.

To examine the sensitivity of the present value of the defined henefit obligation to a change in assumed
longevity, the estimates of mortality were reduced as part of a comparative calculation by a measuie Ul was
roughly equivalent to an increase in life expectancy of one year.

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation weighted by the present vajue of the defined benefit
obligation (Macaulay duration) is 22 years (previous year: 21 years).

The following table shows a breakdown of the present value of the defined benefit obligation by category
of plan member:

€ million 2018 2017

107 94
_ $ witl . n 3
Retirees 58 58

Totat ’ ’ ' ' 197 19
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The maturity profile of payments attributable to the defined benefit obligation is presented in the foliowing
table, which classifies the present value of the obligation by the maturity of the underlying payments:

€ milfion 2018 017
s mmim e mam e a e o ————— B — - - L]
Payments due within the next fiscal year 4 4
Payrments due between two and ﬂve years S 15 15
Payments due in more than f"ve years 7 7 178 172
Total 197 191

Changes in plan assets are shown in the following table:
€ million 2018 017
- J— - L]
Fair value of plan assets as of January 1 77 12
Intevest income on plan assets determi ned l-m;é 2 1
Incomefexpense; Eo;;;la;ews;eﬁts‘;:t :lt;lu&&d in mteres? linc;;n; =5 ’ T
Employer contributions to plan assets B 4 T
Employee cnntribttttel;; to plan assets - T T T [i] ) e
Pension payments from plan assets S 1 1
Gains. (+j or losses (—-) arising f'rorl"n'plan settlements ' - T
Changes in basis of consolidation o T - 7 36
Otherchanges - o 28
Foreign exchange differences from forelgn plans ) o 0 :~1
bbbk I - - - "=

Fais value of plan assets as of Decemlger 31

The investment of the plan assets to cover future pension obligations resulted in income in the amount of
€2 million (previous year: €2 million). Employer contributions to plan assets are expected to amount to

€5 million (previous year: €9 million} in the next fiscal year.
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Plan assets are invested in the following asset classes:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Dre 11 oz vre T any

Quoted No quoted Quated N quuteds

prices prices prices prices

in active in active Tt ke
€ million markets markets Total arkite niarkets Tutat
Cash and cash equivalents a - 4 3 - 3
Equity instruments - ) 5 ) - 5
Debt instruments 29 - 29 29 - 29

Direct investments in real

estate - - - — -
Derivatives 4 [} 4 4 4
Equity funds - 5 5 g 5
Bondfunds 30 - 30 23 - . 23
Real estate funds 0 - '} 4 - b
Other funds - - -~ g - 8
0 0 1} o - 0

Of the total plan assets, 36% (previous year: 32%) is invested in German assets, 58% (previous year: 62%j in
other European assets and 6% (previous year: 6%} in assets in other regions. Investments of plan assets in debt

instruments issued by the Volkswagen Group are of minor significance.

The following amounts have been recognized in the income s1atement:

€ million

Current service cost

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability
Past service cost (including plan curtailments)
Gains (—) orlo {an settlements

Netincome { and expe-r-nses- t:)-;ecqgﬁlzed in profit or loss

2028 2017
L

6 1

2 1

0 -

9 2

111



112 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Consolidated Financial Statements

OTHER PROVISIONS
The following table shows the changes in other provisions, including maturities:

tmiployee titigatiun aad Murelleneous

eXpLASCE lLgal 1ises provisions Total

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2017 20 282 70 3n2
Foreign exchange differences ' ) | _(_) h _u 0
Changes in basis of consolidation 1; " - 0 19
Utilization 7 ' 15 1_5 40
Additions /new provisions 5 212
Unwinding of discount/effect of change in discount rate - 2
Reversals i B 7475 115
Balance as of Dec. 31, 2017 o 30 451
of which current _27 216
of which noncurrent ) 7 13 _3 235
Balance as of Jan. 1, 2018 B - :J ] ) }; 451
Foreign exchange differences - 3 - 70 o 7770 0
Changes in basis of consolidation o oo T L -
Held for sale . T _2 S - 2
WHilization 7 E 1';7r -15 57
Additions/new provisions 29 34 2?) 83
Unwinding of discount/effect of change in discount rate s ) —0 o T 0
Reversals i _2 B ﬁ_r.; S 775 —__—“'_“—59
Balance as of Dec. 31, 2018 7 7 ;1 S ,,,; o B z; —415
of which current 7 S ;3 7 7 I;1 0 ’ _2; I
of which noncurrent 12_ - ;;5 - -3 T m

Provisions for employee expenses have been recognized for annually recurring bonuses, long-service awards
and other employee expenses.

The provisions for litigation and legal risks reflect the risks identified as of the reporting date in relation to
utilization and legal expenses arising from the latest decisions by the courts and from ongoing civil proceed-
ings involving dealers and other customers. They relate primarily to proceedings in relation to design aspects
of loan agreements with customers that may obstruct the processing of statutory cancelation periods. For
these provisions as well as for provisions for legal disputes in connection with dealer financing agreements and
customer financing brokerage claims, Volkswagen Bank GmbH invokes the safeguard clause within the mean-
ing of 1AS 37.92 and opts not to disclose in detail any amounts, descriptions, or probability assumptions. As of
the reporting date, provisions for litigation and legal risks amounted te €347 million (previous year:
€381 million).

The miscellaneous provisions alse include provisions for indirect credit risks amounting to €0 million
(previous year: €2 million).

The timing of the cash outflows in connection with other provisions is expected to be as follows: 49% in the
next year, 49% in the years 2020 to 2023 and 2% in the years after 2024.
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50. Deferred Tax Liabilities

The breakdown of the deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

Notes te the Consolidated Financial Statements

€ million

of which noncurrent
Offset (with deferred tax liabilities)
‘l’ah!

Dec. 31, 2018 Dec 31,2047

- I
3,844 3,864

1544 1,394

~2,187 =2,362

1,657 1,502

The deferred tax liabilities include taxes arising on temporary differences between amounts in the
IFRS financial statements and those determined in the calculation of taxable profits in the Group entities.

Deferred tax liabilities have been recognized in connection with the following balance sheet itemns:

€ million

Dec. 31, 2018 Do 31,2017
oo RSN USSR

Lnap_ereteivabIes_E nd other assets ) o 79 . 572
Marketablg securities and ¢ash - 3 22
intangible assets/property and equipment 2 3
Lease assets 59 60
Liabiliti 3,001 3,207
Total . 3,844 3.864
51. Other Liabilities

The details of other liabilities are as follows:

€ million Dec. 31, 2018 G 31,0047
i = e mmmem e eee e e & — = e i e —— - — e - NG AR
Ee"eg income i 440 341
Other tax liabllities 88 59
Social security and payroll liabilities 55 45
Miscellaneous 116 184

699 e
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52. Subordinated capital
The breakdown of subordinated capital is as follows:

€ million
Subordinated liabilities

of which: to other Volkswagen Group companies
Total

Dec. 31,2018

2,103
2,069
2,103

Consolidated Financial Statements

Doe 31,2017

1,721
1,686
1,121

The Bank has not entered into any agreement to convert these liabilities into equity or another form of debt,

nor is it planning any such conversion.

53. Noncurrent Liabilities

of which of which
€ million Dec. 31,2018 noncurrent Dec. 31, 2017 noncurrent
A - - - — M—
Liabilities to banks 8,898 6,518 8,032 6,539
ities to customers 39,602 5,567 41,066 o 5,993
Notes, commercial paper issued T 16,868 11,774 13446 8,603
Derivative financial instruments 214 143 277 "180
Current tax liabilities 184 - w0 0 -
Other liabilities . 699 98 625 - 250
Subordinated capital 2103 1568 1721 1,257
Liabilities related to assets held for sale (IFRS 5}y 639 80 _ -
Tow T T 69,208 25,748 65,380 22,!14
54. Equity

Volkswagen Bank GmbH’s subscribed capital amounted to €318 million. There are no preferential rights or

restrictions in connection with the subscribed capital.

The capital contributions made by the sole shareholder, Volkswagen AG, are reported under the capital re-
serves of Volkswagen Bank GmbH. As of December 31, 2018, capital reserves amounted to €8,531 million {pre-

vious year: €8,531 million}.

Retained earnings comprise undistributed profits from prior years and primarily contain other revenue re-

serves.

The HGB profit of €204 million {previous year: €489 million) will be transferred in accordance with the ex-

isting profit-and-loss transfer agreement with the sole shareholder, Volkswagen AG.

The accumulated deferred taxes in equity amounted to €14 million (previous year: €11 million).
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55. Capital Management

In this context, “capital” is generally defined as equity in accordance with the IFRSs. The aim of capital man-
agement in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is to support the Bank’s credit rating by ensuring that the
Group has adequate capital backing, to obtain capital for the planned growth over the next few years and to
satisfy regulatory capital requirements.

Regulatory capital is different from equity as defined by IFRS (for the components, see the statement of
changes in equity). Regulatory capital consists of capital components referred to as Common Equity Tier
{CET) 1 capital, Additional Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital net of cenain deductions and adjustments and must
meet specific requirements defined by law.

Corporate actions implemented by the parent company of Volkswagen Bank GmbH have an impact on
both IFRS equity and regulatory capital.

Under the regulatory provisions — Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR), Kreditwesengesetz (KWG — Ger-
man Banking Act), Solvabilititsverordnung (SolvV - German Solvency Regulation) — the banking supervisor
generally assumes that capital adequacy requirements are satisfied if the entity subject to supervision has a
CET1 capital ratio of at least 4.5%, a Tier 1 capital ratio of at least 6.0% and a total capital ratie of at least 8.0%.
Furthermore, the capital buffer requirements and the capital requirements from the SREP decision must be
fulfilled. In calculating these capital ratios, capital is measured against the own funds requirements determined
in accordance with statutory provisions for counterparty risk, operational risk, market risk and credit value
adjustments (CVAs). To ensure compliance with these requirements at all times, the Group has established a
planning procedure that is integrated inte the internal reporting system. In this procedure, the capital re-
quirement is continuously determined based on actual and forecast business trends. This ensured that the
minimum regulatory capital requirements continued to be satisfied at all times in the reporting period.

The following IFRS-based amounts and ratios were determined for Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group under the
regulatory requirements:

Dec, 31,2018 Dvs 41,2017

Total nsk exposure amount {€ mtlllon)’ 64,157 65 434
nf whlch nsl:-welghted exposure amount_s_f; credit rlsk T o o —7.6-8; ) SB 503

' h T am 2,595
) 4417 4,240

of whnch own funds requirements for cred|t valuatmn adjustments ;Ii E 7 - 7 a a8 o 716
El|glble own funds{t rmlllon) ’ 9973 ’ -10.2(;2
6;E?unds (€ milli 7 9,973 i(ﬁ&Z
" ofwhich Co:r;c_miEqulty Tier 1 capllal ' ’ 9945 10.255
of which Additional Tier 1 capital ' _ -

. ofvm&;”'ai pltal B 7 ) - 28 29
Co;nEn Equlty Tlel 1 capi‘tal raho (pelcent) 155 15_6
Tier 1 capital ratic (pelte;\t) 155 15.6
Totai c'a_g_J'rtalrl“rath' (perrl:eﬁt}’ o 155 ) 157

1 According to Article 92{3} of the CRR.
1 According to Article 92(1j of the CRR.
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56. Liabilities in Connection with Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale

Consolidated Financial Statements

As a result of the planned transfer of assets to the Volkswagen Financial Services AG Group described in note
{43), the liabilities relating to these assets are reported in a separate balance sheet line item. They result exclu-

sively from the liabilities of SkoFIN, s.r.0., Prague.

Liabilities related to the assets held for sale (IFRS 5)
Liabilities to banks

Liabilities to customers |

Notes, commercial paper issued
Provisions

Current tax liabilities

Other liabilities

Dec. 31,2018
I

213
333

25
23
€39

Lvee 31,201/

Changy

epudeint

[ 1
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Financial Instrunent Disclosutes

57. Carrying Amounts of Financial Instruments, by Measurement Category

The carrying amounts of financial instruments (excluding hedge derivatives) as of December 31, 2017 broken
down by IAS 39 measurement category are as foliows:

FINANCIAL RSSETS AND
TINANCIAL LTABLLITILS
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAlK
LOANS AND AVAILABIE FOR SA:E MEASURED AT VALUE THROWGH
¢ MLILUON KECEIVABLES FINANCIAL ASSETS AMORTIZED COST PROFIT OR 1055

Assets ]
Cash reserve 1,866 i - .. g -
Loans to and receivables

frombanks 970 .- . T -
Loans to and receivables
from customers 46,054 - - -
Derivative financial

instruments - - - 52
Marketable securities

1
i
Al
o
D
i
It

Miscellaneous financiaj
assets

Current tax assets

iroi

lw b

T I |

1ol
o
H

Total . asa0s 2509

Equity and llabilities
Liabilities to banks - L - ... . BD:2 . -
Liabilities to customers - - . 41,065 .

Notes, commercial paper h
issued _ ] o 13.446 _
Perivative financial

instruments

I
1
|

LA

P w

=}

Current to labilties s

Other liabilities - - 184 -
ed capita - o= 171 _ -
Total - - 64,610 230

i
]




118 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Consolidated Financial Statements

The carrying amounts of financial instruments {excluding hedge derivatives) as of December 31, 2018 broken
down by IFRS 9 measurement category are shown in the following table:

€ million Dec. 31,2018

R [ Ll R
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 119
Financial assets meas ured at fair value through other cﬂ&}?mﬁgglve income (de?:t_;;\struments) o B 3,284
E;r; r:a;t assets measured at fair value through ather:;w;\;r—e"ﬁ;;w_swe income {equity instruments) - - _-';
Financial assets measured at amortized cost ST T 49,508
Relevant balance sheet items held for sale and measured at amortized cost (assets IFRS S) S - 1,316
Financial liabilities measured at_fa;-\-la- e through prof[t orless - 197
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost o a T s T T 67,647
EeTe;;n_tlbalance sheet items related to assets held for sake and measiureidraiti ;Eraea;{ (I;Eﬂ?»es IFRS S) i : 600

Receivables from leasing business of €18,827 million (previous year: €18,858 million} do not have to be allocat-
ed to any of these categories.

The net gains or losses and income or expenses of the previous year (excluding hedge derivatives) broken
down by JAS 39 measurement category are as follows:

€ million 2017
R — - - - P e e e el - - - - - I
Loans and receivables 1,471
Available-for-sale financial assets 26
Fmanaal i|ab||ut|es measured at amorhzed cost -183

Flnanual assets and ﬁnancnal |labl||tIQs measured at falr value through profit or Ioss ~26
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The net gains or losses and income or expenses in respect of financial instruments (excluding hedge deriva-
tives) for fiscal year 2018 broken down by IFRS 9 measurement category are shown in the following table:

Mio.€ 2018
RN —— - el e e e e e cw e e e e e T
Financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss ) 40
Financial assets measured at amortized cost = 1,319
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensi 10
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost - 390
In 2018, the net gains/losses and income/expenses are determined as follows:

Measurement category Measurement method

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fairvalue  Fair value in accordance with IFRS 9 in conjunction with IFRS 13, including
through profit or loss interest and effects from currency translation

Interest income using the effective interest method and EXPE!:;ES/II\COI’I’IQ
fram the recognition of valuation allowances in accordance with IFRS 9 and
Financial assets measured at amortized cost effects from currency translation

Fair value valuation in accordance with IFRS 9 in conjunction with IFRS 13,
interest income using the effective interest method and expenses/income
Financial assets measured at fair value through other from the recognition of valuation allowances in accordance with IFRS 9 and
comprehensive income [debt instruments) effects from currency translation

Interest expense using thé ;ﬂecti\}e interest meth&i- in ac:ordancerw-i-t-h
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost IFRS 9, including_ effects from currency translation

The interest income {rom financial assets measured at amortized cost or at fair value through other compre-
hensive income included in interest income from lending transactions and marketable securities amounted to
€1,411 million.

Prior-year interest income from financial instruments not allocated to the category of financial assets or fi-
nancial liabilities measured at fair value threugh profit or loss amounted to €1,362 million for the adjusted
previous year.

The interest cxpenses in an amount of €395 million {adjusted previous year: €239 million) relate to financial
instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

58. Classes of Financial Instruments
Financial instruments are divided into the following classes in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group:

> Measured at fair value

> Measured at amortized cost

> Derivative financial instruments designated as hedges

> Not allocated to any measurement category

> Credit commitments and financial guarantees {off-balance-sheet)

Loans/receivables and liabilities designated as hedges with derivative financial instruments are included in the
class “Measured at amortized cost”.
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Within miscellaneous financial assets, subsidiaries and joint ventures that are not consolidated for reasons of
materiality are not deemed financial instruments in accordance with IFRS 9 and therefore do not fall within the
scope of IFRS 7. Equily investments forming part of miscellaneous financial assets are reported as financial
instruments in accordance with IFRS 9 in the class “Measured at fair value”.

In cennection with the initial application of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15, contractual liabilities from service contracts are
reported in the class “Not allocated to any measurement category” from fiscal year 2018. At the same time, as
part of the implementation of IFRS 9, the carrying amounts of lease receivables have been transferred from the
“Measured at amortized cost” class to “Not allocated to any measurement category”. The prior-year figures for
receivables from customers relating to the leasing business amounting to €18,858 million have been adjusted
accordingly in the presentation of the classes.

In this regard, the class “Not within the scope of IFRS 77 has been renamed “Not allocated to any measure-
ment category”. For reasons of materiality, unconsolidated subsidiaries and joint ventures, equity-accounted
joint ventures and other instruments {other than financial instruments} are also classified as “Not allocated to
any measurement category”, in addition to the lease receivables and the components described above, for
reconciliation to the balance sheet.

Violkswongerr Butk GondiH (RS Xeouuad Repend 2048
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The following table shows a reconciliation of the relevant balance sheet items to the classes of financial in-
struments:

DERIVATIVE FINANT AL

INSTRUMENTS WO ALIOCATLR b0
MEASURED AT FAIR MEASEED A1 DEXICNATED AN ANY FALASUREMENT
BALANCE Slatl 1Tt M VALUL AMORIIZED (QSTF HEDLES CAIEGORY
Dex. 31, LI ED) Dec. 31, D¢ 31 Dec. 31, Dur 32 Deg, 31, e 31, Dec. 31, Dec 31,
€ million 2018 2017 2018 2617 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
[ ——
Assets
Cash reserve 1858 866 - - ___1s8se 186 _ - = - - -
Loans to and
receivables from banks 661 970 - - 81 970 - - - -
Loans to and

receivables from

Customers® 65143 64812 - B 5 - . - __1esw 18858
Derivative financial

instruments 257 289 51 52 - - 206 236 _ - N
ﬁrketable securities 3,359 2,509 3,359 2,509 - - - - - -
Equity-accounted joint

ventures 216 187 - - - - - - 216 197
Miscellaneous - T T ST T T
financial assets 12 3 0 0 - - - - 11 3
Current tax assets’ 43 3 _ - - ¢ 3 - - .4 50
Other assets 1370 952 -~ - &1 52 - - &% 440
Relevant balance

sheets items from

assets held for sale

IFRS $) 254 o= A - - - __a@m -
Total __ 75467 70751 3411 2561 50824 49405 206 236 2106 19548
Equity and liabilities

Liabilities to banks 8,898 8,032 - . 8,898 8,032 - - - -
Liabilitiesto - T T T - - o
customers 39602 42066 - - __ 3938 4066 - - 254 .
Notes, commercial

paperissued 16858 1346 - - 16868 13446 - = T
Derivative financial

instruments L2 o7 197 30 - I 2 ___ - it
Current tax liabilities* 184 210 - - 143 162 - - 43 48
OtherYiabilities 689 629 - - 289 84 - - a0 445
Subordinated capital 2,103 - - 2103 a2 - - = -
Relevant balance sheet

itemns from liabilities

related to the assets

held for sale {IFRS 5) 612 - - - 600 - - - 12 -
Total 58,569 69,181 197 230 68,247 64,610 14 47 7118 493

1 Some of the loans to and receivables from customers and liabifities to customers have been designated as hedged items in fair value hedges and are therefore
subject to fair value adjustments. The loans to and receivables from customers and Tiabilities to cust s In the class "M d at amortized cost” are
therefore measured neither entirely at fair value ner entirely at amortized cost.

2 Presentation of recelvables frem customers relating to the leasing business has been changed: these items are now in the “Not allocated to any measurement
categery” class,

3 Revised presentation as a result of including financial instruments in “current tax assets” and "curvent tax liabilities™.

The “Credit commitments and financial guarantees” class contains obligations under irrevocable credit com-
mitments and financial guarantees amounting to €2,313 million {adjusted previous year: €2,112 million).
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59. Measurement Levels for Financial Insiruments in the Classes "Measured at Amor-
tized Cost”, “Measured at Fair Value” and "Derivative Financial Instruments Designated
as Hedges”

For the purposes of fair value measurement and the associated disclosures, fair values are classified using a
three-level measurement hierarchy. Classification to the individual levels is dictated by the extent to which the
main inputs used in determining the fair value are observable in the market or not.

Level 1 is used to report the fair value of financial instruments such as marketable securities or notes and
commercial paper issued for which a quoted price is directly observable in an active market.

Level 2 fair values are measured on the basis of inputs observable in the markets, such as exchange rates or
yield curves, using market-based valuation techniques. Fair values measured in this way include those for
derivatives and liabilities to customers.

Level 3 fair values are measured using valuation techniques incerporating at least one input that is not ob-
servable in an active market. Most of the loans to and receivables from customers are allocated to Level 3 be-
cause their fair value is measured using inputs that are not observable in active markets (see note 60}, Securi-
ties from ABS transactions of unconsolidated, structured entities and derivative financial instruments in
connection with the risk of early termination continue to be reported under Level 3. Inputs for determining the
fair value of derivatives in connection with the risk of early termination are forecasts and estimates of used
vehicle residual values for the models concerned as well as yield curves. An equity investment measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income and using inputs that are not observable in the market is also
reported under Level 3 miscellaneous financial assets. The main inputs used to measure this equity investment
are strategic planning and cost of equity rates.

There was no need to reclassify instruments between the hierarchy levels in the reporting period.
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The following table shows the aliocation of financial instruments to this three-level fair value hierarchy by

class:

vien eviez thveld .
€ million Dec. 31,2018 fhee 31,2017 Det. 31, 2018 Dui 31,2017 Dec. 31,2018 Lue. 31,2017
Assets
Measured at fair value
Loans to and receivables from
customers - - - - - -
Denvatrve fi nancral o - h
instruments - = 51 52 - -
Mérketabi;;;ﬁrrtlés 3,291 2,092 - - 68 AE
Miscellaneous financial asseis - g; - o 0 T e
Mea;uTea at ﬁtﬁoﬂlga cesi
Cash r;;e_n-le 1,858 1,866 - - - -
Lo;;; to and receivables from
banks 660 970 ] 0 - . -
Loans to and receivables from o
customers 0 - 237 238 46,195 46,294
mm tax éssets ' - : 4 R R - =
Otherassets - - 71 SJE - -
Assets held for sale (IFRS 5) 1 - a4 - 1,294 -
Derivative financial '
instruments designated as
hedges - - 20 26 =
Total 5,810 4918 1,213 1041 47,557 46,7111
Equﬂy and liabilitles
Measured at fair value
Derlvatlve fl.nanctal
instruments - - 29 3% 167 152
E;;;Tat amo m:d cost 7 ) B )
Liabikities to banks _ - 5.849 7919 - -
Liabilities torcustoimeirs - - 39,371 4587; - -
Noies commercual ;-a_a;e} o
issued 8,806 6,557 8,067 6,894 ey "
Current tax liabilities® - - 142 162 - -
Other liabiiities - - 289 184 - -
Subordlnated capital - - 2,110 1,730 - -
Llabllltles relate& to assets -
held fov sale (IFRS 5) - - 596 - - -
Derivative financial
instruments designated as
hedges - - 18 47 - -
Total 8,806 6,557 59,472 58,061 167 192
1 Prior-year figures have been adjusted as a result of the ) of lease receivables from the “M d at amartized cost” class.

2 Prior year adjusted.

3 Revised presentation as a result of including finantial instruments in “current tax assets” and “eurrent tax liabilities™.

‘The fair value of receivables from customers relating to the leasing business in the “Not allocated to any meas-
urement category” class is €19,347 million (previous year: €19,597 million) and is allocated to Level 3 in the fair

value hierarchy.

123
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The following table shows the changes in the loans to and receivables from customers, marketable securitics
and miscellaneous financial assets measured at fair value and allocated to Level 3.

€ million 2018' W7
- - I B - B - . . - - . - I AT
Balance as of Jan. 1 1,672 917
' foreign exchange differences S o - -
“Portfalio changes T B ’ o 7 -1,596 o 500
 Measured at fair value through profitor loss ' T e -
* Measured at fair value through profit or loss S ' T i} TS
Balance as of Dec. 31 B T o | ’ T h CooTTT T —“ V“l’

1 The opening carrying amount has been adjusted for the loans to and receivables from customers and marketable securities {see IFRS 9 disclosures).

The remeasurements recognized in profit or loss amounting to €-8 million (previous year: none) have been
reported under net gain or loss on financial instruments measured at fair value. In the year under review, the
nel remeasurement loss was attributable entirely to loans to and receivables from customers held as of the
reporting date and to securities from ABS transactions of unconsolidated, structured entities. In the year under
review, as in the previous year, there were no remeasurements for equity investments recognized directly
under capital reserves.

The risk variables relevant to the fair value of the loans to and receivables from customers or marketable securi-
ties are risk-adjusted interest rates. A sensitivity analysis is used to quantify the impact from changes in risk-
adjusted interest rates on profit or loss after tax.

If risk-adjusted interest rates as of the reporting date had been 100 basis peints higher, profit after tax would
have been €4 million lower (previous year: €25 million). If the risk-adjusted interest rates as of the reporting date
had been 100 basis points lower, earnings after tax would have been €2 million (previous year: €12 million)
higher.

The following table shows the changes in the derivative financial instruments in connection with the risk of
early termination measured at fair value based on Level 3 inputs.

€ mitlion 2018 1017
R, _ _ _ - — - —_ - —. VN iR
Balance as of Jan. 1 192 -
- Fo;elgn e:(cl;ér;ge differences o o - 2 s

Changes in basis of consolidation ' - 11

Measured at fair value throuéh ;;;of?t oriass - o 23 - 77
bﬂliﬂ!! as Ofin!(. 1 S V o ’ i o ’ 167 192

The remeasurements recognized in profit or loss under other net operating income/expense amounted to
€23 million (previous year: €-77 millicn). In the year under review, the net gain was attributable entirely to
derivative financial instruments held as of the reporiing date.

Risks of early termination may arise from country-specific consumer protection legislation that confers a
right to return used vehicles under leases that have already been entered into. The impact on earnings arising
from market-related fluctuations in residual values and interest rates is borne by the
Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group.

The market prices of used vehicles are the main risk variable in the fair value of derivatives in connection
with the risk of early termination. Sensitivity analyses are used to quantify the effects of changes in used vehicle
prices on profit after tax.
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If used vehicle prices for the vehicles taken into account in the derivatives in connection with the risk of early
termination had been 10% higher as of the reporting date, profit after tax would have been higher by
€89 million {previous year: €88 million). If used vehicle prices for the vehicles taken into account in the deriva-
tives in connection with the risk of early termination had been 10% lower as of the reporting date, profit after
tax would have been lower by €128 million (previous year: €108 million),

60. Fair Values of Financial Instruments in the Classes “Measured at Amortized Cost”,
“Measured at Fair Value” and “Derivative Financial Instruments Designated as
Hedges"

The table below shows the fair values of the financial instruments. The fair value is the amount at which finan-
cial instruments could be sold on fair terms as of the reporting date. Where market prices were available, we
have used these prices without modification for measuring fair value. If no market prices were available, the
fair vajues for loans/receivables and liabiiities were calculated by discounting using a maturity-matched dis-
count rate appropriate to the risk. The discount rate was determined by adjusting risk-free yield curves, where
appropriate, by relevant risk factors and taking into account capital and administrative costs. For reasons of
materiality, the fair values of loans/receivables and liabilities due within one year were deemed to be the same
as the carrying amount.

The equity investments included in the “Miscellaneous financial assets” balance sheet item are measured
a$ equity instruments generally at fair value through other comprehensive income (without recycling) in
exercise of the fair value through OCI option. Due to the short maturity and the variable interest rate linked
to the market interest rate, the fair value of irrevocable credit commitments is not material. The fair value of
financial guarantees is not material either.
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€ million

Measured at fair value

Loans to and receivables from
customers®

Derivative ﬁn-ar-icial
instruments

Marketable s;ec:untm;

Miscellaneous financial assets

Measured at amortized cost

Cash reserve

Loans to and receivables from
banks

Loans to and receivables from
customers

Other assets
Assets held for sate {IFRS 5)

Derivative financial
instruments designated as
hedges

Equity and liabilities
Measured at fair value

Derivative financial
instruments

Measured at amortized cost
Liabilities to banks
Libiltes to customars!

Notes, commercial paper
issued

Current tax ﬁ

Other liabiltties

Subordinated capital
Liabilities related to assets
held for sale (IFRs 5)
Derivative financial
instruments designated as
hedges

FAlK VALLE CRRRYING AMOUN]
Dec. 31,2018 Do 21,2017 Dec. 31, 2018 Do 30,2017
51 52 51 52
3,358 2,509 3,359 2,508
0 Ly o . 0
1858 1866 1858 1866
661 970 661 o 9n
46,432 46,532 46,314 . 46,054
4 .. _3 4 .3
671 512 671 512
1,339 - 1,316 -
W6 236 206 Y £
197 230 197 230
8,849 7919 8,898 8,032
39371 41087 39,348 41,066
16,874 - 13451 16,868 13,446
142 182 142 162
289 . g4 289 184
2,119 1,730 2,103 1,721
596 ) - 600 -

L . | 18 . 47

GhEEERENCE
Dec. 31,2018 Bec 33,2017
R
118 478
23 -
=50 -113
24 21
] 6
7 10
—4 -

1 Prior-year figures have been adjusted as a result of the removal of lease receivables from the “Measured at amortized cost” class.
2 Revised presentation as a result of including financial instruments in “current tax assets” and "current tax habilities”.
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The fair values of financial instruments were determined on the basis of the following risk-free yield curves:

Percent EUR [ PR SEK LIk
Interest rate for six months - . -0306 0317 1789 -0.104 1733
Interest rate for one year - —0.263 0.984 C_ATS —£.066 1524
Interest rate for five years , 0197 1305 2125 o508 1830
Interest rate for ten years ) 0.815 1437 2481 1128 1760

61. Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The table below contains information about the effects of offsetting in the consolidated balance sheet and the
financial effects of offsetting in the case of instruments that are subject to a legally enforceable master netting

agreement or a similar arrangement.

The "Financial instruments” column shows the amounts that are subject to a Taster netting agreement but
have not been netted because the relevant criteria have not been satisfied. Most of the amounts involved are
positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments entered into with the same counterparty.

The “Collateral received/pledged” column shows the cash collateral amounts and collateral in the form of
financial instruments received in connection with the total sum of assets and liabilities. It includes such collat-
eral relating to assets and liabilities that have not been offset against each other. The collateral amounts pri-
marily consist of pledged cash collateral in connection with ABS transactions and marketable securities

Pledged as collateral.

127



128 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Consvolidated Financial Statements

AARDORTCHNOT GRESE 1IN ThE BALAGLE

Shitd
Lress attipnrt o f

Crows amourt roenpnizd firancsb Mt amount of

of recegrized s tss Fnarciol ussetsi

finsnvial as5. tef Labnhties effsulimthe lzbhities repeetodan Collataad

o l_\gl‘-_i!rhcs_ . . t‘_;‘l:'ﬂ“‘f’l’:‘f_‘_ . thebalingeshet 0 Fpandalinstramerts recovediphodped ﬂﬂj‘”""’“ﬂr 7

Dec,31, Do 32 Dec.31,  [ec 31 Dec.31, Dic 31 Dec.3%,  Der 31, Dee.31, M 21 Dec.31,  Dec 3l
€ million 2018 2017 2018 2617 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
. - & i B B BN B N W 3 B & N __ ]
Assets
Cash reserve 1858 1866 - - 1858 1866 - - - - __1sss 1866
Loans to and
receivables from banks 614 970 47 - 661 870 - - - - 661 970
Loans to and - E—
receivables from
customers 46,572 46,151 =258 —97 46314 46,054 - - - - _46314 45054
Derivative financial
instruments 304 29 =7 0 257 289 =76 = -72 =171 -197 10 2
Marketable securities 3359 2509 - - 3359 2509 - = 68 - _ 3201 2509
Miscellaneous financial
assets 0 0 - = e o0 _ - - - ...z o __ 09
Current tax assets a 3 - - 4 3 - . .= - .= 4 3
Other assets 686 68 -5 -0 611 512 - = = - __ 61 512
Relevant balance sheets
items from assets held
for sale {IFRS 5) 1,316 - - - 1316 - - - - - - -
Total 54713 52416 =273 117 54440 52203 _ -76 -T2 _ -239  -197 52800 51934
Equity and liabilities o N o
Liabilities to banks BB9S 8,032 - . - __ 8898 8032 - = 911  -1967 7,988 6065
Liabilities to customers 39,605 41,162 —258  -97 _ 39,348 41,066 - = -~ _ 39348 41068
Notes, commercial
paperissucd 16868 13446 - - _ 16868 13446 - - __ -3 -0 1647z 13036
Derivative financial
instruments 214 284 0 -7 214 277 -76 -72 -1 -12 138 193
Current tax liabilities® 142 162 - - 142 162 - - - - 142 162
Other liabilities 304 156 -15 -13 89 184 - - - - 289 184
Subordinated capita! 2103 171 - - 2,103 1721 - - - - 2,103 1721
Relevant balance sheet
items from liabilities
related to the assets
held for sale {IFRS 5) 600 - - - 600 - - - - - 600 _ ~
Total 68,734 65003 -273 -117 68462 64888  -T6 =72 -1308  -2,390 67,080 62426

1 Revised presentation as a result of including financial Instruments in “current tax assets” and "current tax Kabilities”.
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62. Counterparty Default Risk

For gualitative information, please rcfer to the risk report (Credit Risk section), which forms part of the man-
agement report.

PROVISION FOR CREDIT RISKS

Please refer to the provision for credit risks section in note (23} for disclosures on the accounting policies relat-
ing to the provision for credit risks.

The following table shows a reconciliation fer the provision for credit risks relating to financial assets meas-
ured at amortized cost:

Sipliticd
€ million Stape 1 Stage 2 “tage 4 appsach Stage 4 Total
Carsying amount on jan. 1,
we 158 29 25 0 10 B .
Exchange differences on
translating foreign operations 0 [ I Q 0 0 -1
Changes in basis of
consolidation o 4 6 . 15 .0 0 4
Newly granted/purchased
financial assets (additions) 31 - - 2 6 60
Other changes within a stage 6 s 102 0 18 187
Transfer to , , - . o .
Stage 1 ] =40 . - B - -39
Stage 2 =30 131 -22 - -
Stage3 , -12 -20 130 - -
Financial instruments
derecognised during the
period (derecognitions) -32 -102 148 =5 .o 318
Utilizations - - -76 o -1 -7
Model or risk parameter
ghanges 4 -4 -14 - -2 =25
Carrying amount on Dec¢. 31,
2018 130 249 403 8 115 904

The provision for credit risks for marketable securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income amounted to €-2 million after adjustments on the basis of IFRS 9 as of January 1, 2018. As there were
only immaterial changes within Stage 1 in the year under review and the provision for credit risks remained
unchanged at €-2 million as of December 31, 2018, these figures are not presented in a separate table,

129
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The following table shows a reconciliation for the provision for credit risks relating to financial guarantees and

credit commitments:
€ million Stage 1 Stage 2 Stuge 3 stage 4 Total
—
Carrying amount on Jan. 1,
2018 2 o 1 0 5
Exchange differences on
translating foreign operations 0 0 0 - 0
Changes in basis of
consolidation B - = - - -
Newly granted/purchased
financizl assets {additions) B - - 1 g
Other changes within a stage 0 0 o 0 0
Transfer to
Stage 1 0 0 0 - 1]
Stage 2 -1 0 i} - 0
Stage 3 0 0 1 -
Financial instruments
derecognised during the
period {derecognitions) -1 -1 } o «1 -3
Utilizations - - 0 - 0
Model or risk parameter
changes 0 0 1] [i} 1]
Carrying amount on Dec, 31,
2018 g 1 1 0 10

The following table shows a reconciliation for the provision for credit risks relating to lease receivables in the
class “Not allocated to any measurement category”:

Simplified
€ million approach
Carrying amount on Jan. 1, 2018 _m
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations T
Changes in basis of consolidation - -
Newly granted/purchased financial assets (additions) - T T s
Otherchanges 0 T T T
Financial instruments derecognised during the period {derecognitions) T e
utilizations S - =
K‘\;&ei;r nsk pa!'a-metercr;iaﬂnges o o - ' ’ . T ——11
Carrying amount on Dec. 31,2018 ' ' T 278

The following table shows the reconciliation for the provision for credit risks relating to lending and leasing
business for the previous year:
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Forttelip-based

speuficvaluatron vatuation

€ million allowarnees allowances 2017
Balance asof fan. 1 o 532 668 1,140
Exchange rate and other changes o o 2 o 2
Changes in basis of consolidation ' ' 4 87 129
Additions T S 9 166
Utilization - ' S e LT T
Reversals ' ) o 100 296 396
Ei;r:s; l_ncor;e o;\ impagréc-i“ioa;ls a_nci recei\;;bles , ) N “‘—14 - .: 14
Reclassification e e o T) o 6 o
Balance as of Dec. 31 h _ - 598 ass 1,086
MODIFICATIONS

During the reporting period, there were contractual modifications of financial assets that did not lead to a
derecognition of the asset concerned. These modifications were largely caused by changes in credit quality and
related to financial assets in Stages 2 and 3 for which the associated provision lor credit risks equated to the
lifetime cxpected credit loss. To simplify matters, in the case of trade receivables and lease receivables, the
analysis only takes into account credit-guality-related modifications where the receivables concerned are more
than 30 days past due. Prior to the contractual modification, the amortized cost amounted te €44 million. In
the reporting period, the contractual modifications gave rise to total net income/net expenses of €0 million.

At the reporting date, the gross carrying amount of financial assets that had been modified since initial
recognition and that, in the reporting period, had also been transferred from Stage 2 or Stage 3 to Stage 1
amounted to €0 million. As a consequence, the measurement of the provision for credit risks for these finan-
cial assets was switched from the lifetime expected credit Joss to a twelve-month expected credit loss.

MAXIMUM CREDIT RISK

The credit and default risk arising from financial assets is essentially the risk that a counterparty will default.
The maximum amount of the risk is therefore the amount of the claims against the counterparty concerned
arising from recognized carrying amounts and irrevocable credit commitments.

The maximum credit and default risk is reduced by collateral and other credit enhancements. The collateral
heid is in respect of loans to and receivabies from banks and customers in the classes “Measured at amortized
cost”, “Measured at fair value” and “Not allocated to any measurement category”. The types of collateral held
include vehicles, other assels pledged as collateral, financial guarantees, marketable securities, cash collateral
and charges on real estate. In the case of financial assets with objective indicators of impairment at the report-
ing date, the collateral reduced the risk by €760 millien. For financial assets in the “Measured at fair value” class
to which the IFRS 9 impairment requirements are not applied, the maximum credit and default risk was re-
duced at the reporting date by collateral heid with a value of €68 million.

The following table shows the maximum credit risk to which the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group was exposed
as of the reporting date, broken down by class, and to which the impairment model was applied.
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£ million Det. 31,2018
Finandial assete measured atfarvawe S e
Financial assets measured at amortized cost___"_-_ T ST o - : 49,508
;;naﬁil;léaa;anteés and credit commitments 7 7 7 B _ 2481
Not allocated to any measurement category ' N ) 18,829

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group intends to recover the following collateral accepted in the reporting period
for financial assets:

€ million Dec. 31,2018 Due 31,2017
p— S S S R T
Vehicles 46 . 4
Real estate - -

Other movable assets - -

Total 7 I " R -
The vehicles are remarketed to Volkswagen Group dealers through direct sales and auctions.

DEFAULT RISK RATING CLASSES

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group evaluates the credit quality of the borrower before entering into any lend-
ing contract or lease. In the retail business, this evaluation is carried out by using scoring systems, whereas
rating systems are used for fleet customers and dealer financing transactions. Lending evaluated as “good” is
included in rating class 1. Loans to and receivables from customers whose credit quality has not been classified
as “good” but who have not yet defaulted are included under rating class 2. Accordingly, all loans and receiva-
bles in default are allocated to rating class 3.

The following table presents the gross carrying amounts of financial assets as of December 31, 2018, broken
down by rating class:

. Sanphfoed

€ million Slagc 1 Stoge 2 slage 3 approach Stage 4
Default risk rating class 1 (loans/receivables not

at risk of default = normal loans} 41,647 5913 0 19446 .. n
Default risk rating class 2 (loans/receivables at

risk of default —loans with intensified loan

management} 616 2,407 ¢ 3,550 ) 33
Default risk rating class 3 (loans/receivables in

default ~ non-performing loans} ¢ 0 893 223 433

Total 42,263 8,320 893 Ba 538
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The following table shows the default risk exposures for financial guarantees and credit commitments as of the

reporting date, broken down by rating class:

€ million Stape 1 Sluge 2 Stage 3 Sloge 4
Default risk latin;tlass 1 |
(Ioanslrece_ig_abies not at risk of default — normal loans) 2,075 304 - 1
Default risk rating class 2
{loans/receivables at risk of default — loans with intensified loan
manageme_n_@) 7% 15 - 0
Default risk rating class 3
!Igansireceivables in default - non-performing loans) - ) 17 4
Total 2,150 319 17 5
The following tahle presents the credit quality of financial assets as of December 31, 2017:
taass ooy, Nether past due nor Fustdne bt ol

€ mitlion wmourt wnpaired iparred Impairad
Measured at fair value 2,561 2,561
Measured atamortized cost U - -

Cash reserve 1,866 1,866

Loans to and receivables from banks 970 970

Loans to and receivables from customers® 65,998 63924 - 574 1,401

Other assets - o : 512 512
Derivative financial instruments designated as hedges 236 236
Total 2,144 70,069 674 1.401

1 Presentation of receivables relating to the leasing business changed in the “Nat allocated to any measurement category” dass.

The breakdown of neither past due nor impaired financial assets by risk class as of December 31, 2017, is as

follows:

€ million

Measured at fair value

Measured at amortized cost

Cash reseny

Loans to and receivables from banks

Loans to and receivables from customers®
Other assets

Be:ri;'iaitii\'.-ieiﬁ;léncriarl instrumen@s designaied as hedge;
Total

Nesthos past du
for impaired Risk dhass 1 Risk closs 2
2,561 2,561 -
1,866 1,866 -
970 _ -
63,924 55,656 8,268
512 512 0
236 236 .-
70,069 61,801 8,268
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The age analysis of financial assets past due but not impaired, by class, as of December 31, 2017, is as follows:

IN THE FOLLOWING AGED PAST DUE CATECORIES

€ million Past dil butnet impased Up tu Luionth 1tc 3 months Muscthan 3 nenths
-
Measured at fair value - - - -
Measured at amortized cost
Cash reserve - - - -
Loans to and receivables from banks - - - -
Loans to and receivables from
customers® 674 428 240 6
Other assets - - - -
Derivative financial instruments
designated as hedges - - - -
Total 674 a8 L s
63. Liguidity Risk
Please refer to the management report for information on the funding and hedging strategy.
The maturity profile of assets held to manage liquidity risk is as follows:
REFAYABLE ON CMONTHS 101 MOKE THANS
L RASFTS .. DEMAND (LB TC 3 MONTHE YEAR o L10 5 NEARS L YERRE
. Dec. 31, Oee. 31, Dec. 31, e 41 Dec. 31, Oec 31 Dec. 31, Cor 31, Dec. 31, Dol 31 Dec 31, Der 31
€ million 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 207 2018 2017 2018 2017
E————— L
Cash reserve 1858 1866 _ 1858 1,866 - - - - - - - -
Loans to and
receivables
from banks 661 | 970 _ 660 425 L = - = - - - =
Marketable
securities 3284 2086 - - __3am 208 - - - - - -
Total 5802 4922 2518 2201 3284 2631 - - - - - -
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The following table shows the maturity profiie of undiscounted cash cutflows from financial liabilities:

REMAINING CONFRACTUAT MAaTJRITIES

CCASHUUINOWS  pt et drenthstelpes pteSyeac o Monthenapoens

Dec. 31, Doc 3L Dec, 31, Dec 31 Dec. 31, Dot 31, Dec, 31, Deg 31 Dec. 31, Due 31
€ million 2018 2017 2018 2037 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
I - e e DRI AohRTEREE BN AaEAREE
Liabilities to
banks 8,906 8414 2,360 1,695 P31 173 6,423 6,435 101 11
Liabilities to —
customers 30,652 41,535 _ 32223 31540 1,782 3632 4579 4995 1,068 1,368
Notes, commercial
paper issued __ 17,200 13688 2,481 2027 2723 2,897 _ 10,660 7489 1336 1274
Derivative
financial
instruments ___ 5550 7458 2,758 3501 2009 2620 784 1337 _ - -
Other liabilities 89 184 119 89 169 e r e 11
Subordinated
cpital 2196 1803 _ 55 37 __ 540 475 _ 1588 1253 14 bl
lrrevocable credit

2,313 2,112 452 381 1860 1731 0 0 0 Y

76,106 75193 40448 39271 9,103 11538 24035 21,592 2520 2,792

1 The prier-year figure was adjusted by an amount of €-960 million.

The maximum possible cails under financial guarantees at any time can be assumed to be €179 miilion (previ-
ous year: €137 million).

64, Market Risk

For qualitative information, please refer to the risk report within the management report.

For guantitative risk measurement, interest rate and currency translation risk are measured using a value-
at-risk {(VaR) model on the basis of a historical simulation. The value-at-risk calculation indicates the size of the
maximum potential loss on the portfolio as a whole within a time horizon of 4¢ days, measured at a confi-
dence level of 99%. To provide the basis for this calculation, all cash flows from non-derivative and derivative
financial instruments are aggregated into an interest rate gap analysis. The historical market data used in de-
termining the value-at-risk covers a period of 1,000 trading days.

This approach has produced the following values:

€ million 2018 2yt
G e —es - - - - S— . - I SRR AP
Interest rate risk 68 26
Currency translation risk 99 102

Yotal market risk’ 113 !

1 As aresult of correlation effects, the total market risk is not identical to the sum of the individual risks.
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65. Hedging Policy Disclosures

HEDGING POLICY AND FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES
Given its international financial activities, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is exposed to fluctuations in
interest rates on international money and capital markets. The general rules governing the Group-wide curren-
¢y and interest rate hedging policy are specified in internal Group guidelines and satisfy the Minimum Re-
quirements for Risk Management (MaRisk — Mindestanforderungen an das Risikemanagement) issued by the
German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin). The partners used by the Group when entering into
appropriate financial transactions are national and international banks with strong credit ratings whose credit
quality is continuously menitored by leading rating agencies. The Group enters into suitable hedging transac-
tions to limit currency and interest rate risks. Regular derivative financial instruments are used for this pur-
pose.

MARKET RISK
Market risk arises when changes in prices on financial markets (interest rates and exchange rates) have a posi-
tive or negative effect on the value of traded products. The fair values listed in the tables were determined
using the market information available on the reperting date and represent the present values of the financial
derivatives. They were determined on the basis of standardized techniques or quoted prices.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Changes in the level of interest rates in the money and capital markets represent an interest rate risk in the case
of any funding that is not maturity-matched. Interest rate risk is managed on the basis of recommendations
made by the Asset-Liability Management Committee {ALM Committee). Interest rate risk is quantified using
interest rate gap analyses to which various scenarios involving changes in interest rates are applied. The hedg-
ing contracts entered into comprise interest rate swaps and cross-currency swaps.

CURRENCY RISK
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group avoids currency risk by entering into currency hedging contracts, which
may be currency forwards, cross currency swaps or cross-currency interest rate swaps. All cash flows in foreign
currency are hedged as a matter of principle.

DESCRIPTION OF HEDGES AND METHODOLOGIES FOR MONITORING HEDGE EFFECTIVENESS
If possible, the hedge strategy aims 1o recognize hedges for suitable underlying transactions (hedged items)
using micro- or portfolio hedges. The vast majority of hedged items are assets or liabilities on the balance
sheet, Future transactions are only used as hedged items in exceptional cases. The volume represented by the
hedging instruments is generally exactly the same as the volume represented by the designated hedged items.

In the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, hedges to which micro-hedge accounting is applied are normally
held to maturity. Individual risk components are not separated out and designated for the purposes of hedge
accounting.

In portfolio hedge accounting, derivatives are designated as hedges for interest rate hedging on a quarterly
basis. Hedge effectiveness is reviewed for each maturity band. Derivatives are only included in portfolio hedge
accounting for a hedging period if a high level of hedge effectiveness is achieved, both prospectively and retro-
spectively.

With the introduction of IFRS 9, hedge effectiveness in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group is measured
maostly prospectively using the critical terms match methed. Hedge effectiveness is analyzed retrospectively by
testing for ineffectiveness using the dollar offset method. The dollar offset method compares the changes in
the valtue of the hedged item expressed in monetary units with the changes in the value of the hedging instru-
ment expressed in monetary units.

Hedge ineffectiveness in micro-hedge accounting largely results from differences between the mark-to-
market (fair value} measurement of hedged items and that of hedging instruments. Individual yield curves are
used when determining forward interest rates and prices and also when discounting future cash flows for
hedged items and hedging instruments in order to obtain a measurement in line with the market. Other fac-
tors (e.g. in relation to counterpariy risk} are only of minor significance as regards hedge ineffectiveness.
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In portfolic hedge accounting, ineffectiveness generally arises where the changes in the fair values of hedging
instruments do not fully offset those of the hedged items.

DISCLOSURES ON GAINS AND LOSSES FROM FAIR VALUE HEDGES
In fair value hedges, the transactions hedge the risk from changes in the fair value of financial assets and finan-
cial liabilities. Changes in fair value that arise from the recognition of hedging instruments at fair value and
those from the recognition of the associated hedged items at the hedged fair value generally have an offsetting
effect and are reported under the net gain or loss on hedges.

The following table shows the degree of hedge ineffectiveness from fair value hedges broken down by type of
risk, equating to the differences between the gains or losses on hedging instruments and those on hedged

items:

€ million 2018
e —— J R - e L ———
Interest rjﬁﬂe tisk hgiging: ) 28
Currency risk hedging: =16
Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging: 3

DISCLOSURES ON GAINS AND LOSSES FROM CASH FLOW HEDGES
Cash flow hedges are recognized with the aim of hedging risks arising from changes in future cash flows. These
cash flows can arise from a recognized asset of a recognized liability.
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The following table covering gains and losses from cash flow hedges shows the gains and losses on hedges
recognized in other comprehensive income in the reporting period, the hedge ineffectiveness recognized un-
der net gain or loss on hedges and the gains or losses arising from the reclassification of cash flow hedge re-

serves recognized under net gain or loss on hedges:

€ million

Interest rate risk hedging:

Gain or loss from changes in the fair value of hedged items

within hedge accounting

recognized in other comprehensive income

recognized in profit or loss

Reclassifications from the cash flow hedge reserve to the

income statement

As a result of the early termination of hedges

As a result of the recovery of the hedged item

Currency risk hedging:

Gainor loss from changes in the fair value of hedged items

within hedge accounting

recognized in other comprehensive income

recoghized in profit or loss

Reclassifications from the cash flow hedge reserve to the

income statement

As a result of the early termination of hedges

As a result of the recovery of the hedged item

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging:

Gain or loss from changes in the fair value of hedged items

within hedge accounting

recognized in other comprehensive income

recognized in profit or loss

Rectassifications from the cash flow hedge reserve to the

income statement

As a result of the early termination of hedges

As a result of the recovery of the hedged item

In the table, effects recognized directly in equity are presented net of deferred taxes.

2018

-2

-3

The gain or loss from changes in the fair value of hedges within hedge accounting reflects the basis for deter-
mining hedge ineffectiveness. Those gains or losses on changes in the fair value of hedging instruments that
exceed the changes in the fair value of the hedged items constitute the ineffective portion of cash flow hedges.
This ineffectiveness within a hedge arises as a result of differences in the parameters applicable to the hedging
instrument and the hedged item. These gains or losses are recognized immediately under the gain or loss on

hedges.
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NOTIONAL AMOUNTS OF DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The breakdown of the notional volume of the derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 2017 was as

follows:
FEMAINING (OMIRALTUAL MATURKTHES
More than 5
U Uptolyear = 1lioSyears _ years
€ million
Cash flaw hedges

Interest rate swip; o
‘Cross-currency interest rate swaps
Currency forwards
Cross currency swaps
ﬁiscellﬁeﬂug S

interest rate swaps
Cross-currency interest rate swaps

Currency forwards
Cross currency swaps
Total

" -
a1 8,851 15,399
o 516 -
3n3 = B
271 s
19,129 11,184

The following table presents a maturity analysis of the notional amounts of hedging instruments reported
under the hedge accounting rules and those of derivatives to which hedge accounting is not applied as of De-

cember 31, 2018:
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TO1AL
KOTIONAL
o REMDUAL MATURITY _AMOLNG:

€ million Up tu 1 year 1-5yeis  More than 5 years Dec. 31, 2018
Notional amounts of hedging instruments in hedge accounting
Interest rate risk hedging: B

Interest rate swap ) 5jzé 13;77 1_30—0 20,103
Currency risk hedging: ST T T -

Currency forwards/cross currency swaps, GBP S 5.351 ' isg : 3,588

Currency forwards/cross currency swaps, PLN ”;92 o Tgs 7 _ 791

Currency forwards, other currencies . o T',vg I 'L75 j 284
Combined intevest rate and currency risk hedging: 7 N ) -

Cross-currency interest rate swaps, PLN N T _9; I ;8_2 ) _ 281

Cross-currency interest rate swaps, NOK o 1—3—3 R ; 7 ) t 215

Cross-currency interest rate swaps, other currencies o a - 1;; o 7_ .___ 178
Notional amounts of other derivatives
Interest rate risk hedging:

Interest rate swap T 1,1:;5 B ;9'73 - 17,742 20,833
Currency risk hedging: o S o

Currency forwards/cross currency swaps . ' 137 R, - 132
Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging: N S o

Cross-currency interest rate swaps 32 T 509 T 862

The timings of the future payments for the hedged items in the cash flow hedges match the maturities of the
hedging instruments.

As of the reporting date, none of the recognized cash flow hedges involved a hedged item in which the
transaction was no longer expected to occur in the future.

The average exchange rates used in the measurement of currency hedges were as follows for the following
currencies with significant nominal amounts: CZK 25.3861 {cash flow hedge) and 25.9765 {fair value hedge),
GBP 0.8937 (cash flow hedge) and 0.8824 {fair value hedge), PLN 4.3032 (cash flow hedge) and 4.2994 (fair value
hedge).

The average exchange rates used in the measurement of interest rate/currency hedges were as follows for the
following currencies with significant nominal amounts: PLN 4.2239 {cash flow hedge) and 4.3065 {fair value
hedge), GBP 0.772 {fair value hedge}, NOK 9.133 (fair value hedge).

The average interest rates used for cross-currency interest rate swaps (cash flow hedge) was 0.23 % for PLN.

DISCLOSURES ON HEDGING INSTRUMENTS USED IN HEDGE ACCOUNTING
The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group regularly uses hedging instruments Lo hedge changes in the fair value of
financial assets and financial liabilities.
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The following overview for the period under review shows the notional amounts, fair values and changes in
fair value fo determine ineffectiveness in hedging instruments used in fair value hedges to hedge risk arising
from changes in fair value:

Faor velize t Gngr

to detuermang

£ million Notipnal amaunt Uthet assets Other habilites meffediveness
Interest rate risk hedging

" Interest rate swap and interest option contracts T e 3 a T s

Currencyriskhedging B o - o o

i Currency forwards and optioﬁ co;xtr_acts, c_re;s_currenicys“zaf_s ) 4222 - 111 ) h 13- o 110

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging: 7
48

(£~

Cross-currency interest rate swaps 419 47

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group also uses hedging instruments to hedge the risk arising from changes in
future cash flows.

The following tabie for the period under review sets out the notional amounts, fair values and changes in fair
value to determine ineffectiveness in hedging instruments used in cash flow hedges:

Futr valu ¢ ange

te determae
€ million tistion +) amount Otterassels  Otherbabilties  weefiectvencss
tnterest rate ns]:—l;e;g:ni T o o ]
“interestrateswaps S - D o
Currency risk hedging: - - )
" Currency forwards/cross currency swaps ' s i o 3
Current;option contracts S 7 S L T -
Combined interest rate and ;:ﬁrren:y risk imdging: h . ’
) Crosis—ajie_ncyiﬁtﬂest rate swaps N 7 = ﬁ 7 ) 4 N . 7_ 1 4

The change in fair value to determine ineffectiveness equates to the change in the fair value of the designated
components of the hedging instruments.

DISCLOSURES ON HEDGED |TEMS TO WHICH HEDGE ACCOUNTING IS APPLIED
Disclosures on hedged items, broken down by risk category and type of designation, are required in addition to
the disclosures on hedging instruments.
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The table below shows the hedged items hedged in fair value hedges as of December 31, 20138

Larryinig winuuhf

Cumulative bedge

adjustaients

Hudg o
atjustit vnts
urren!

poowdifinaal yoar

Conscolidated Financial Statements

U sdating Beogs,
ajustme ats from
tenminatod hioges

€ millien

Interest rate risk hedging:

Loans to and receivables from banks ) 7 -
Loans to and receivables from customers 9,116
Liabilities to banks 416
Liabilities to customers h - ) 7
Notes, commercial paper issued -3,423
Subordinated capital ) 7__7
Currency risk hedging: I _ -
Loans to and receivables from banks T o -
Loans to and receivables from customers o 7@ o
Liablitles to banks o
Liabilities to customers _
Notes, commercial paper issued =
Subordinated capital - ) - o -

Combined interest rate and currency risk hedging:

Loans to and receivables from banks B -
Loans to and receivables from customers 333
Liabilities to banks ) 7 -

Liabilities to customers

Notes, commercial paper issued -

Subordinated capital 7 _- A =

RN |

=20
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The fellowing table presents the hedged items hedged in cash flow hedges as of December 31, 2018:

RESERVE # OF

Fai value change b

detormine  Esisti g onshitloe Ternunated ish
€ million i Hedhiveness hudgus flew hydpes

Interest rate risk hedging

" Designated components - - I ': -
Deferred taxes - L ' . .
“Total interest rate risk B - 2Tl -

Curl;enr.y risﬁ hedg_lr;g_

" Designated components 0 1 -
Deferred taxes o o B -
Total currency risk_ T ’ g 0 -

Combined Interest rate and currency risk hedging: o R B
Designated componen{s_ - 7 B - o _E -
Deferred tﬁxe.ksriiw B _ b ' -
Total combined interest rate and currency fisk ' - - e -

CHANGES IN THE CASH FLOW HEDGE RESERVE

In the accounting treatment of cash flow hedges, the designated effective portion of a hedge is reported in
other comprehensive income (in “OCI1”). All changes in the fair value of hedging instruments in excess of the
effective pottion are reported in profit or loss as hedge ineffectiveness.

The following table shows a reconciliation for the cash flow hedge reserve (QCIT):

Comtaned intorest

€ million Jiterest rabe nisk Cuilenoy sk " ‘md\“”':”i;:( Total
. o ——
Balance as of Jan. 1, 2018 - 0 - 0
Gains or lo s?rb?n?eic't'ive' hedges - 3 5
Reclassifications fesulting fr;:rﬁ:aange in )

expected materialization of the hedged item - - - -
R_eclassification;- res_umngfrom the recbveﬁriyrofr

the hedged item - -2 -3 -4
Balance as of Dec, 31, 2018 - 1 0 1

In the hedges used by the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group, no derivative components are undesignated.

LIQUIDITY RISK, FUNDING RISK

The Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group takes precautions to minimize the risk from any potential liquidity
squeeze by holding a confirmed credit line at Volkswagen AG and by using debt issuance programs with mul-
ticurrency capability. It also holds marketable securities from public-sector issuers that are readily marketable
and can be deposited with central banks, and can thus be used to help safeguard liquidity.
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DEFAULT RISK
The default risk arising from financial assets is essentially the risk that a counterparty will default. The maxi-
mum amount of the risk is therefore the balance due from the counterparty concerned.

Given that only counterparties with strong credit ratings are used for transactions, and limits are set for
each counterparty as part of the risk management system, the actual default risk is deemed to be low. Further-
more, the default risk in the Group’s transactions is also minimized in accordance with regulatory require-
ments by the use of collateral to be furnished by the counterparty.

Risk concentrations arise in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group in a variety of forms. A detailed descrip-
tion can be found in the report on opportunities and risks within the combined management report.
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Segment Reporting

66. Breakdown by Geographical Market

The presentation of the reportable segments within the meaning of IFRS 8 is based on the internal control and
reporling structure of the Yolkswagen Bank GmbH Group and is broken down according to the geographical
markets in which the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group nperates.

Accordingly, the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group has the following reportable segments: Germany, ltaly,
France, United Kingdom, Sweden and Other; the branches in the Netherlands, Spain, Ireland, Greece, Portugal
and Poland (from September 28, 2018) and Volkswagen Bank Polska 5.A. (until September 27, Z018) are at-
tributable to the “Other” segment. The United Xingdom branch and Volkswagen Financial Services (UK) Ltd are
assigned to the “Uniled Kingdem” segment.

Operating profit or loss is reported as the primary key performance indicator to the chief operating deci-
sion-makers. The information made available to management for management purposes is based on the same
accounting policies as those used for external financial reporting.

All business transactions between the segments — where such transactions take place — are conducted on an
arm’s-length basis. There were no intersegment transactions in the fiscal year under review.

In accordance with IFRS 8, non-current assets are reported exclusive of financial instruments, deferred tax
assets, post-employment benefits and rights under insurance contracts.
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BREAKDOWN BY GEOGRAPHICAL MARKET 2017:

Consolidated Financial Statements

JAN 1T - DEC 31 2017

Consuh

United
€ million Cormany 1aly France Kirigdsmt Swidin Uther datiug Total
P
Interest income fram lending
transactions and marketable
securities in respect of third parties 1,023 119 45 85 8 147 - 1,427
Intersegment interest income from
lending transactions and
marketable securities 82 - - 5 - - ~87 -
Income from leasing transactions
with third parties - 90 566 664 1172 149 - 2641
tntersegment income from
teasing transactions - - - - - = - -
Depreciation, impairment losses
and other expenses from leasing
transactions - 67 —408 -364 -1,158 -102 - —2,099
of which impairment losses in
accordance with AS 36 - - -22 0 -1 -2 - =25
Net income from leasing
transactions - 23 158 300 14 47 = 542
Interest expense =145 -15 =22 =100 -4 -26 87 —226
Income from service contracts
with third parties - 1 38 34 = 1 - 85
Expenses from service contracts - -1 -32 24 - = - —66
Net income from service contracts 0 7 10 - 2 - 15
Provision for credit risks 163 -19 7 ] 2 3 - 150
Fee and commission income from
third parties 120 84 47 1 0 38 - 291
Fee and commission expenses —-151 -44 43 38 ! =21 - -304
Net fee and commission income =31 41 -2 -37 -1 18 - -13
Net gain or loss on hedges -12 = = = = o — = —
Net gain or loss on financial
instruments measured at fair value
and on derecogaition of financial
assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive
income - - - = 3 - 3
General and administrative
expenses 593 -59 -89 ~75 -14 50 4 _ 96
Other operating inceme 215 9 5 89 1 20 -4 335
Other operating expenses -17% -3 -2 =115 -1 -16 - =315
Net other operating
income/expenses 37 [ 3 =26 [1} 4 -4 20
Operating profit 525 9 107 155 8 104 ] 994
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BREAKDOWN BY GEOGRAPHICAL MARKET 2018:

JAN 1 - DEU 21 2014
Unated Cornsoh

€ million Gormany Laly oo Kingdun, S dy i Olhi datean Total
TP — —

Interest income from lending

transactions and marketable

securities in respect of third parties B9S 142 50 83 22 180 - 1,372
Intersegment interest income from

lending transactions and

marketable securities 92 - - 13 - e L] -
Income from leasing transactions
with third parties ) - s 02 2,245 3,087 352 - _ 6470
Intersegment income from
leasing transactions - - - - - - - -

Depreciation, im pairme'nt losses
and other expenses from leasing

transactions - -53 -523 -1,305 -3,028 -300 - -5,209
o ofwhich_i_n-'n_ﬁairment lossesin o o o o . T
accordance with $AS 36 - - ~22 17 -6 0 - —45

Net income from leasing - - T oo T T
transactions - 30 179 939 60 52 - 1,261
Inte‘r;st_;;;el;s-e ’ | . —lli :15 7 3 7 _{33 3 ) -36 105 =366
"~ Income from service contracts T - - T
ith third parties - 1 46 72 - 41 - 160
Expenses fram service contracts - a1 21 o, - -2 T
Net income fromm service contracts oo 15 n '_ o -7 e
Provisionfor credit risks -48 -15 _é _53 _4 -1 26 _—94
* Fer and commission income from T S - T
third parties 54 95 42 3 3 7 - 224

) Ean;mission expenses _15 ) _;1 ._; i _7; ._i _zi-,- - —400
Net fee and commission income h _7107; ; :37 __]vi I V B 0 o =176
Net gain or-l:);-s on hedges _;g; - __ ’ _2; a Z : . .. 12

Net gain or loss on financial
instruments measured at fair value
and on derecognition of financial
assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive

income 7 0 [ 3 w0 S 4

General and administrative

expeases 485 54 $3 -0 -4 -9 g _ 9%
Other operating income 88 7 22 306 16 21 -8 452
Other operating expenses 57 —166 __9 —389 -25 -5 - —£66

Net other operating ___ T o o o T

income/expenses 31 -16¢ 3 -83 -2 12 -8 -3

Operating profit/loss 262 a4 120 451 EL) 110 n 9%

Information on the main products can be taken directly from the income statement.
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The breakdown of non-current assets in accordance with IFRS 8 and of the additions to non-current assets by

geographical market is shown in the following tables:

DEC. 21 2317

- Yrted Cons b
€ million Germany Izaly Kingdorm Dthee dation Total
e —
Noncurrent assets BY 33 2,879 297 110 5,327
Additions to noncurrent
assets - 7 457 62 153 1,180
DEC 31, 201k -
- Unrtedd Conseli-
€ million Germary Italy Kingdam Othet datien Total
e —
Noncurrent assets 210 42 3,006 316 ~188 5627
Additions to noncurrent
asses . .t 10 849 67 0 23 L7¥7

Investment recognized under other assets was of minor significance.

The following table shows the reconciliation to consolidated revenue, consolidated operating profit and con-

solidated profit before tax.

€ millien

Segment revenue

Conselidation

group revenue

gegment;]i)ﬁt or loss (nperatiﬁg profft 6r Ioss_) T
Other companies
Fonsolidation

éperatlng profit

Share of profits and losses of equit
Net gain or loss on miscellaneous financial assets

Other financial gains or losses

Profit before tax

-accounted ]omﬂer]tures

2018 2017
]

8,626 4,613
=105 -87
8,521 i
933 994
19 -0
952 994
23 29

g 13

—4 idid
978 992
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Gther Disclosures

67. Cash Flow Statement

Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group’s cash flow statement documents changes in cash and cash equivalents at-
tributable to cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities. Cash flows from investing activities
comprise purchase payments and disposal proceeds relating to investment property and other assets. Cash
flows from financing activities reflect all cash flows arising from transactions invelving equity, subordinated
capital and other financing activities. All other cash flows are classified as cash flows from operating activities
in accordance with standard international practice for financial services companies.

The narrow definition of cash and cash equivalents comprises the cash reserve, which consists of cash-in-
hand and central bank balances.

The changes in the balance sheet items used to determine the changes in the cash flow statement cannot be
derived directly from the balance sheet because effects from the changes in the basis of consolidation have no
impact on cash and are eliminated.

The following table shows the breakdown of the changes in subordinated capital (as part of financing activities)
into cash and non-cash transactions for the reporting year and the prior year.

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

A af Iathonge cate Changes inbass Mezsaronnt Asof

€ million Jar, 1,2017 Cash chaniges changes  of consohdatin hanges Dec. 31,2017
Subordinated capital 155 59 51 1573 - 1721
NON-CASH TRANS SO ONY : 3 o

ALt Uxchange tate Changes it base of Meauren em as of

€million IRILE A3 T Lash changes hrnges venselidition b pes Dec. 31,2018
o —

Subordinated
capital 1,721 409 7 -27 - - 2,103
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68, Off-Balance-Sheet Liabilities

Eventualverbindlichkeiten

Consolidated Financial Statements

€ million Dec. 31, 2018 fvc 312017
e e e e e o S o IS E————
Contingent liabilities under bank and other financial guarantees 179 137
Other contingent liabilities - -
Total 179 137
OTHER FINANCIAL QBLIGATIONS
DvE_ __ . DuE | _bub rerst
€ millicn 2018 2519 2022 from 2025 31122017
- e e et e e —
Purchase commitments in respect of
Property and equipment - - - -
Intangible assets - - - -
Investment property - - - -
Obligations from o . )
loan commitments to unconsolidated subsidiaries - - - -
Irrevocable credit and leasing commitments to customers® 2112 1] 2,112
Long-term leasing and rental contracts 6 14 & 56
Miscellaneous financial obligations 0 o L 10
1 As part of the implementation of IFRS 9, Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group's obligations under irrevotable credit
commitments were analyzed. This resulted in i change to the basis. The prior-year figure was adjusted by an amount
of €960 million.
__hue o DUE pup o lerar
Mio. € 2019 20207023 from 2024 31.12.2018
——— —— e - - - . —_ I
Purchase commitments in respect of
Property and equipment - - - -
Intangible assets - - - -
Investment property - - - -
Obligations from S
lean commitments to unconsolidated subsidiaries - - - -
Irrevocable credit and leasing commitments to customers 312 [V} 0 2,313
Long-term leasing and rental contracts 8 23 34 64
Miscellaneous financial obligations a - 8

Drawdowns on irrevocable credit commitments are possible at any time.
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69. Trust Transactions

As in the previous year, there were no unrecognized trust transactions as of the balance sheet date.

70. Average Number of Employees during the Reporting Period

2018 2017

. B R - L ]
Salaried employees 3,486 2414
of which: senior managers (OMK) 62 a
of which: part-time employees ) 7 639 ) 349
Vecational trainees 34 23

71. Related Party Disclosures

Related parties within the meaning of JAS 24 are deemed to be individuals or entities who can be influenced by
Volkswagen Bank GmbH, who can exercise an influence over Volkswagen Bank GmbH, or who are under the
influence of another related party of Volkswagen Bank GmbH.

Volkswagen AG, Wolfsburg, is the sole shareholder of Volkswagen Bank GmbH.

The following disclosures apply to Porsche:

Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Stuttgart, controlled 52.2% of the voting rights in Volkswagen AG as of the
reporting date and therefore held a majority. The Exiraordinary General Meeting of Volkswagen AG held on
December 3, 2009 approved the creation of rights of appointment for the State of Lower Saxony. As a result of
these rights, Porsche SE can no longer appoint a majority of the members of Volkswagen AG's Supervisory
Board for as long as the State of Lower Saxony holds at least 15% of Volkswagen AG’s ordinary shares, However,
Porsche SE has the power to participate in the operating policy decisions of the Volkswagen Group and is there-
fore deemed to be a related party within the meaning of IAS 24. According to a notification submitted on Janu-
ary 5, 2016, the State of Lower Saxony and Hannoversche Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Hanover, held 20.060%
of the voting rights in Volkswagen AG as of December 31, 2016 and therefore indirectly had significant influ-
ence over the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group. In addition, as referred to above, the Extraordinary General
Meeting of Volkswagen AG held on December 3, 2009 approved a resolution under which the State of Low-
er Saxony could appoint two members of the Supervisory Board {right of appointment}.

The sole shareholder, Volkswagen AG, and Volkswagen Bank GmbH have entered into a control and profit-
and-loss transfer agreement.

Volkswagen AG and other related parties in Volkswagen AG's group of consolidated entities provide the en-
tities in the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group with funding on an arm’s-length basis. Volkswagen AG and its
subsidiaries have also furnished collateral in our favor as part of the operating business.

The production and importer companies in the Volkswagen Group provide the entities in the
Velkswagen Bank GmbH Group with financial subsidies to support sales promotion campaigns.

All business transactions with unconsolidated subsidiaries and joint ventures and other related parties in
Volkswagen AG's group of consolidated entities are processed at arm's length.

The two tables below show the transactions with related parties. In these tables, the exchange rates used are
the closing rate for asset and liability items, and the weighted average rates for the year for income statement
items.
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FISCAL YEAR 2017

Cther
related
Superwsur Matiags partics
Borrds muent/ inthe
Audif goard of Volts Forserg corsolidated LAY e Joir g
€ million Commattis  Management wagtn AL SE entitins subsidiarics venturus Assuritey
Loans and receivables 0 o 1 - 4227 6 1,477 o =
Valuation allowances on
impaired loans and
receivables = - N - = e - - -
of which additions in
current year - - - - = .= - N
Obligations _ 4 [ 2,556 - 8,356 ) 54 4 -
Interest income 0 i) [i] - 109 - 5 ) -
Interest expense 0 0 0 - e 5 & - -
Goods and services
provided N - - 2 - 625 5 30
Goods and services
received . - - —66 _ - =5425 -1 -1 T
FISCAL YEAR 2018
Cihetr
related
Supetvrsor Monage- parties
Bgard/ mentd n the Mon
Audit Board of Valk.- Farseby consolidated  consohidated Joint
£ millign Commitice  Management w.a‘j(n AL 4E entiies subsidianes wentures Associates
Loans and receivables 0 0 1 - 2,539 1 2,066 -
Valuation allowances on
impaired loans and
receivables - - - - - - _ -
of which additions in
current year - - - ) - = - - -
Obligations _ 6 7 -2,727 - 9,190 53 47 -
Interest income 0 0 0 - a0 - 2 -
Interest expense 0 0 0 - -13¢0 0 - . -
Goods and services
provided _ - T 1 T 1435 16 . o T
Goods and services
received - ) - -9 - =439 - =215 -

The “Other related parties in the group of consolidated entities” column includes, in addition to sister entities,
joint ventures and associates that are related parties in Volkswagen AG’s group of consolidated entities. The
relationships with the Supervisory Board/Audit Committee and the Management/Board of Management com-
prise relationships with the relevant groups of people at Volkswagen Bank GmbH and the Group parent com-
pany Volkswagen AG. As in the prior year, relationships with pension plans and the State of Lower Saxony were
of lesser significance.

The “Goods and services received” line item primarily contains sales revenue from vehicle sales. The
“Goods and services provided” line item consists primarily of income from leasing transactions.

P P B R
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if the United Kingdom leaves the European Union (EU) without a deal {hard Brexit}, action will be taken to
transfer Volkswagen Financial Services (UK)}Itd, its subsidiaries MANFinancial Services plc. and
Volkswagen [nsurance Service {Great Britain) Ltd,, and Volkswagen Financial 11d. to Volkswagen Financial Ser-
vices AG.

Members of the Management and Supervisory Board/Audit Committee of Volkswagen Bank GrabH are mem-
bers of supervisory boards of other entities in the Volkswagen Group with which we sometimes conduct trans-

actions in the normal course of business. All transactions with these companies are cn an arm’s-length basis.

MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION

€ million 2018 o
Short-term benefits . .. 3 2
Long-term bepefits o o I L 1
Termination benefits _ - >
Post-employment benefits o Q 9

As in the previons year, the total payments made to former members of the Managemen! and their surviving
dependents amounted to less than €0.5 million in the reporting period. The provisions recognized for this
group of people to cover current pensions and other post-employment benefits amounted to €8 million (pre-
vious year: €7 million).

SUPERVISORY BOARD REMUNERATION

In accordance with a resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting, the members of the Supervisory Board
who are not employees of the Volkswagen Group are entitled to annual remuneration. This remuneration is
independent of the performance of the Bank and the Supervisory Board role undertaken by the person con-
cerned, The members of the Supervisory Board who are employees of the Volkswagen Group receive flat-rate
remuneration from Volkswagen Bank GmbH. If they are also members of other supervisory boards of Group
companies of Volkswagen AG, remuneration received for these functions is deducted from their entitlement.
As a result, a total amount of less than €0.07 miilion was granted to the members of the Supervisory Board in
the reporting period.

The employee representatives on the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH also receive their regu-
lar salaries under the terms of their employment contracts. This salary is based on the provisions in the Be-
Lriebsverfassungsgesetz (BetrVG — German Works Constitution Act) and is an appropriate remuneration for the
relevant function or activity in the Bank. The same also applies to the representative of the senior exXecutives
on the Supervisory Board.
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72. Governing Bodies of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group
‘the members of the Management are as follows:

DR. MICHAEL REINHART
Chairman of the Board
Corporate Management of VW Bank GmbH

HARALD HERKE
Member of the Board of VW Bank GmbH. Responsible for Finance.

CHRISTIAN LOBKE
Member of the Board of VW Bank GmbH. Responsible for Risk Management.

DR. VOLKER STADLER
Member of the Board of VW Bank GmbH. Responsible for Operations.

The Supervisory Board had the following members as of the reporting date, December 31, 2018:

DR. JORG BOCHE

Chairman

Executive Vice President of Volkswagen AG
Head of Group Treasury

DR. INGRUN-ULLA BARTOLKE
Deputy Chairwoman
Head of Group Accounting and External Reporting at Volkswagen AG

WALDEMAR DROSDZIOK
Deputy Chairman

Chairman of the Joint Works Councit of Volkswagen Financial Services AG,
Volkswagen Bank GmbH and Furemobil Autevermietung GmbH

MARKUS BIEBER
Managing Director of the General Works Council of Volkswagen AG

BIRGIT DIETZE
Board Member of IG Metall Berlin
Member of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen AG

FRANK FIEDLER
Member of the Board of Management of Volkswagen Financial Services AG
Finance and Purchasing

PROF. DR. SUSANNE HOMOLLE
Chair of Banking and Finance, University of Rostock

THOMAS KAHMS
Member of the Joint Works Council of Volkswagen Financial Services AG,
Volkswagen Bank GmbH and Euromobil Autovermietung GmbH
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LUTZ MESCHKE

Deputy Chairman of the Board of Management and member of the Board of Management of
Dr.1ng. h.c. F. Porsche AG

Finance and IT

OR. HANS-JOACHIM NEUMANN
Head of the Back Office of Volkswagen Bank GmbH

LARS HENNER SANTELMANN
Chairman of the Board of Management of Volkswagen Financial Services AG

SILVIA STELZNER
Member of the Joint Works Council of Volkswagen Financial Services AG,
Volkswagen Bank GmbH and Euromobil Autovermietung GmbH
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The composition of the commitiees of the Supervisory Board of Volkswagen Bank GmbH was as follows as
of the reporting date, December 31, 2018:

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
Dr. Ingrun-Ulla Bartdlke (Chairwoman)

Prof. Dr. Susanne Homotle (Deputy Chairwoman}
Frank Fiedler

Dr. Hans-Joachim Neumann

MEMBERS OF THE RISK COMMITTEE

Prof. Dr. Susanne Homdlle (Chairwoman)
Dr. J6rg Boche (Deputy Chairman)

Frank Fiedler

Silvia Stelzner

MEMBERS OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Dr. Ingrun-Ulla Bartélke {Chairwoman)
Waldemar Drosdziok (Deputy Chairman}
Lars Henner Santelmann

MEMBERS OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Dr. Jorg Boche {Chairmany}

Dr. Ingrun-Ulla Bartélke (Deputy Chairwoman}
Waldemar Drosdziok

Lars Henner Santelmann

73. Disclosures Relating to Unconsolidated Structured Entities

A structured entity is designed so that voting rights or similar rights are not the deciding factor in determining
control over the entity.

Typical features of a structured entity are as follows:

> limited scope of activities;

> narrowly defined business purpose;

> inadequate equity to finance the business activities;

> financing through a number of instruments that contractually bind investors and that give rise to a concen-
tration of credit risk and other risks.

Volkswagen Bank GmbH maintains business relationships with structured entities. These entities carry out a
process of securitization by taking assets from lending agreements and leases for vehicles and transforming
them into securities {asset-backed securities) on a maturity-matched basis. Volkswagen Bank GmbH acquired
these securities in full or in part. Under the principles specified in IFRS 10, these entities are not controlled by
Volkswagen Bank GmbH and are therefore not included in the consolidated financial statements.

The purchase of the securities gave rise to counterparty default risk on the part of the issuer and interest
rate risk. The maximum risk exposure of Volkswagen Bank GmbH arising from its interests in unconsolidated
structured entities is limited to the fair value of the acquired bonds reported in the balance sheet. The following
table contains disclosures on Volkswagen Bank GmbH'’s assets reported in the balance sheet that are related to
unconsolidated structured entities and the maximum risk exposure of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group
(disregarding collateral}. The nominal amount of the securitized assets is also disclosed.
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AHS SEELIAL PURPOSE ERTITIES

€ million 2014 2017
- e e ————

Reported in the balance sheet as of December 31

Marketablreks‘ecurities T a 68 ) 417
Loans tcn- ;ﬁ]:l;eceivai:les from cusibﬁwér; B 1} 1.245
Maximum foss risk ' ) 68 1,662
Ngmirfi]—:\-r_cllu;;;f secuntl;t;d assets ’ 1,822 ?5946

Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group companies did not provide unconsolidated structured entities with any non-
contractual support during the reporting period.

74. Letter of Comfort for Our Affiliated Companies

With the exception of political risks, Volkswagen Bank GmbH hereby declares that, as the shareholder of its
affiliated companies, over which it has managerial control and/or in which it holds a direct or indirect majority
share of the share capital, it will exert its influence to ensure that the latter meet their liabilities to lenders in
the agreed manner. Moreover, Volkswagen Bank GmbH confirms that, for the term of the loans, it will make no
changes to the share structures of these companies which would adversely affect the letter of comfort without
informing the lenders,

75. Events After the Balance Sheet Date

Up to February 19, 2019, there were no significant events that would have required a substantially different
presentation of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss.
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Responsibility Statement

Consolidated Financial Statements

Responsibility Statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated
financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or 1oss of the
Group, and the Group management report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the
business and the position of the Group, together with a description of the material opportunities and risks

associated with the expected development of the Group.
Braunschweig, February 19, 2019

Volkswagen Bank GmbH
The Management

¢

/

L a/duLch

Dr. Michael Reinhart Harald Hef3ke

il 2 \/d\ﬁ\w&\/

Christian Lobke Dr. Volker Stadler
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Country-by-Country
Reporting of
Volkswagen Bank GmbH

The requirements of country-by-country reporting laid down in Article 89 of EU Directive 2013/36/EU {Capital
Requirements Directive, CRD V) have been transposed inlo German law in section 26a(1) sentence 2 of the
KWG - GERMAN BANKING ACT.

In this country-by-country report, required in accordance with section 26a(l) nos. 1to 6 of the KWG, the
Volkswagen Bank Group makes the disciosures listed below as of December 31, 2018:

> Name, nature of activities and geographical location ¢f branch
> Turnover {revenue)

> Number of employees on a full-time equivalent basis

> Profit or loss before tax

> Tax on profit or loss

> Public subsidies received

The report encompasses the disclosures required for all fully consolidated entities included in the IFRS consoli-
dated financial statements. Branches are understood to be the individual subsidiaries and, if appropriate,
branches maintained by subsidiaries in individua} countries. All figures included in this report were deter-
mined on an unconsolidated basis. Revenue has been adjusted for intragroup transacticns within the same
country.

Revenue is defined as the sum of the following components of the IFRS income statement:

> Interest income from lending transactions less interest expenses

> Income from leasing transactions and service contracts

= Net Fee and Commission Income

> Net Gain or Loss on Hedges

> Net Gain or Loss on Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Vaiue and on Derecognition of Financial Assets
Measured at Fair Value through Cther Comprehensive Income

> Other operating income

The number of employees is reported as an average on a full-time equivalent basis.

Tax on profit or loss is reported as effective income tax expense. Information on how the figure is deter-
mined can be found under income tax expense in the notes to the consolidated financial statements of
Volkswagen Bank GmbH as of December 31, 2018.

Public subsidies received are defined as subsidies from local authorities and direct £U subsidies.
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Fablcsubsitis
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Company name Comigrar p Lype Uigmne e Cou ity
EU tountries ) )
VollowagenBankGmbH o _mnk pruscwely  Germany
Dnver Ten GmbH L ) . . 5PV Frankfurt am Main Germanv
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

ToVolkswagen Bank GmbH, Braunschweig

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OF THE
GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

AUDIT OPINIONS

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Braunschweig, and its
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2018, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of profit or loss, con-
solidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the financial year from 1
January to 31 December 2018, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. In addition, we have audited the group management report of Volkswagen
Bank GmbH, which is combined with the Company’s management report, for the financial year from 1 January
to 31 December 2018. In accordance with the German legal requirements, we have not audited the content of
the statement on corporate governance pursuant to § [Article] 289f Abs. [paragraph] 4 HGB [Han-
delsgesetz-buch; German Commercial Code] (disclosures on the quota for women on executive boards).

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,

> the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs as
adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to § 315¢ Abs. 1
HGB and, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of 1he assets, liabilities, and finan-
cial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its financial performance for the financial year
from 1 January to 31 December 2018, and

> the accompanying group management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group's posi-
tion. In all material respects, this group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial
statemnents, complies with German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and
risks of fulure development. Our audit opinion on the group management report does not cover the content
of the statement on corporate governance referred to above.

Pursuant to § 322 Abs, 3 Satz [sentence] 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to any reservations relat-
ing to the legal comptiance of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report,

BASIS FOR THE AUDIT OPINIONS

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report in ac-
cordance with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation {No. 537/2014, referred te subsequently as “EU Audit
Regulation”) in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits prom-
ulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftspriifer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] {IDW}. Qur responsibili-
ties under those requirements and prin-ciples are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated TFinancial Statements and of the Group Management Report” section of our auditor’s
report. We are independent of the group entities in accordance with the requirements of European law and
German commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements. In addition, in accordance with Article 10 (2) point {f} of the EU Audit
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Regulation, we declare that we have not provided non-audit services prohibited under Article 5 {1) of the EU
Audit Regulation. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS IN THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2018. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our audit opinion thereon; we do not provide a separate audit opinion on these matters.

In our view, the matters of most significance in cur audit were as follows:

9 Risk provisions in dealer financing
] Provisions for legal risks
L ] First-time application of new rlies for measuring financial instruments in accordance with IFRS ¢

Our presentation of these key audit matters has been structured in each case as follows:

0] Matter and issue
@ Audit approach and findings
® Reference to further information

Hereinafter we present the key audit matters:

O Risk provisions in dealer financing

O) In the Company's consolidated financial statements receivables from dealer financing amounting to
EUR 12.2 billion are reported under the “Loans to and receivables from customers” balance sheet item. As at
December 31, 2018, risk provisions for the loan pertfolio consisting of individual and general valuation allow-
ances are reported in the balance sheet. The measurement of the risk provisions for the dealer financing busi-
ness is determined in particular by the executive directors’ estimates with respect to future loan defaults, the
structure and quality of the loan portfolios and general ecenomic factors. The amount of the individual valua-
tion allowances for dealer financing reflects the difference between the outstanding amount of the loan and
the lower value assigned to it as at the balance sheet date. Existing collaterals are taken into account. A portfo-
lio allowance is recognized for deferred credit default risks and is measured in accordance with the expected
credit loss model set out in [FRS 9. The amounts of the valuation allowances in the dealer financing business
are highly significant for the financial performance of the Company and they involve considerable judgment
on the part of the executive directors, Furthermore, the measurement parameters applied, which are subject to
material uncertainties, have a significant impact on the recognition and the amount of any valuation allow-
ances required. Against this background, this matter was of particular significance during our audit.

@ As part of our audit, we initially assessed the appropriateness of the design of the controls in the
Company's relevant internal control systems and tested the controls’ effectiveness. In doing so, we considered
the business organization, the IT systems and the relevant measurement models. Moreover, we evaluated the
measurement of the receivables in dealer financing, including the appropriateness of estimated values, on the
basis of sample testing of loan exposures. For this purpose, we assessed, among other things, the available
documentation of the Company with respect o the economic circumstances as well as the recoverability of the
collaterals. For real estate as collateral, we obtained an understanding of and critically assessed the source data,
measurement parameters applied and assumptions made on which the expert valuations provided to us by the
Company were based and evaluated whether they lay within an acceptable range. In addition, for the purpose
of assessing the individual and global valuation allowances applied, we evaluated the calculation methodology
applied by the Company together with the underlying assumptions and parameters. Based on our audit proce-
dures, we were able to satisfy ourselves that overall the assumptions made by the executive directors for the
purpose of testing the recoverability of the receivables in dealer financing are appropriate, and that the pro-
cesses implemented by the Company are appropriate and effective.
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@ The Company's disclosures on risk provisions in dealer financing are contained in numbers 8 and 23
of the notes to the consolidated financial statements and in the section entitled “Financial Performance” in the
Group management report.

o Provisions for legal risks

) The Company is exposed to various legal risks; during the financial year, these related in particular to
potential claims in connection with the brokerage of customer financing and proceedings in relation to the
structuring of customer lending agreements, which can have a negative impact on statutory rescission periods,
impeding certain processes. Al the balance sheel date, the Company had recognized EUR 347 million in litiga-
tion and legal risk provisions. The determination of whether or not a provision should be recognized te cover
the risks to which the Company is exposed, and if so, in what amount, is subject to a high degree of uncertain-
ty. In light of this background, we consider these matters to be of particular importance for our audit.

@ As part of our audit, we assessed risk assessment carried out by the executive directors on the basis of
the process cstablished by the Company to ensure that a legal dispute is recorded and accounted for. In this
connection, we also examined the content of the material legal risks and assessed the risk estimates made in
that regard. As of the balance sheet date, we also obtained external legal confermations that support manage-
ment’s risk assessments with regard to the provisions specified in the section above. Furthermore, we also held
regular meetings with the Company's legal department in order to receive updates on current developments
and the reasons for the corresponding assessments. Our assessmenl took into account the knowledge obtained
in the course ol these meetings as well as the current development of the material legal disputes. We were able
to follow the assumptions applied by the Management, and deem appropriate the assessments arrived at by
the Management to serve as a basis for the measurement of these provisions.

©) The Company’s disclosures relating to provisions for legal disputes are contained in numbers 16 and
49 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

L ) First-time application of new rules for measuring financial instruments in accordance with IFRS 9

@ The Company has been applying the IFRS 9 accounting standard entitled “Financial Instruments”
since January 1, 2018. Financial assets are now split into three categories, resulting in differences in measure-
ment for the purposes of subsequent recognition in each case. The business model in which the financial in-
struments are held and the contractual structure of these financial instruments are decisive factors in their
classification under [FRS 9. For those [inancial instruments that are measured at amoriized cost or at fair value
outside profit or loss, in other comprehensive income, the new impairment provisions (expected credit loss
model) replace the previous incurred credit loss model. Risk provisions are now presented in a three-stage
model, with financial instruments being added to stage 1 as a general rule. Expected twelve-month losses are to
be recognized for these financial instruments. If the default risk increases considerably compared with the time
of initial recognition, the amount of the expected losses over the entire remaining term is recognized under
risk provisions (stage 2). The same applics to {inancial instruments thal are credit-impaired (stage 3). Within
this context, the Company has adjusted its internal models and processes for the calculation of the expected
loss pursuant to IFRS 9. The first-time application of the rules of IFRS 9 resulted overall in a EUR -104 million
effect after taxes on recognized equity as of January 1, 2018, which was attributable primarily to the new rules
for calculating risk provisions. Due to the scope for judgment and uncertainties in the estimations made in
connection with the initial application of IFRS 9 and subsequent measurement, and given the material impact
of the overall amounts involved on the results of operations of the Group, these matters were of particular
significance in the context of our audit.

@ Our audit involved evaluating the technical and procedural implementation of the require-ments for
the classification and measurement of financial instruments pursuant to IFRS 9, including the calculation of
valuation allowances. Among other things, we evaluated the technical concepts, the allocation of the financial
instruments (o business madels, the models for calculating the expected loss and their implementation in the
Company’s processes in order to determine whether they were consistent with IFRS 9. In order to do so, we
used sample testing to check whether the financial instruments had been classified to the various measure-
ment categories in accordance with IFRS 9 and whether the models used by the Company to calculate the ex-
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pected loss met the requirements set out in [FRS 9. We also assessed whether the data used in these models was
valid and comptlete. In addition, we reviewed whether significant increases in default risk had been appropri-
ately defined by the Company and used sample testing to analyze whether the classification of financial instru-
ments within the Company’s portfolio had been performed correctly. In addition, we calculated the probabili-
ties of default used in the models for selected sub-portfolios and the risk provision calculated using the model
on a test basis for all three risk provisioning levels. We examined the concept established by the Company for
validating the risk provisioning model for appropriateness and assessed the Company’s validation activities
conducted during the fiscal year. Based on our audit procedures, we were able to satisfy ourselves that the
assumptions used by the executive directors to classify and measure financial instruments including the calcu-
lation of valuation allowances in connection with the initial application of IFRS 9 and subsequent measure-
ment are appropriate overall,

® The Company's disclosures on the first-time application of IFRS 9 are contained in the section “Effects
of new and amended IFRSs” of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

OTHER INFORMATION

The executive directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the state-
ment on corporate governance pursuant to § 289f Abs. 4 HGB (disclosures on the quota for women on execu-
tive boards).

The other information comprises further the remaining parts of the annual report — excluding cross-references
to external information — with the exception of the audited consolidated financial statements, the audited
group management report and our auditor’s report.

Our audit opinions cn the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report do not
cover the other information, and consequently we do not express an audit opinion or any other form of assur-
ance conclusion therean.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in so doing, to consider
whether the other information

> js materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the group management reporl or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
> otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND THE SUPERVISORY BOARD FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND THE GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

The executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that com-
ply, in all material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German com-
mercial law pursuant to § 315e Abs. 1 HGB and that the consolidated financiai statements, in compliance with
these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position, and financial perfor-
mance of the Group. In addition the executive directors are responsible for such internal control as they have
determined necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from mate-
rial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the executive directors are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. They alse have the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for financial reporting based on the going
concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate the Group or {o cease operations, or there
is no realistic alternative but to do so.

o e Tl i



166 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT Consolidated Financial Statements

Furthermare, the executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the group management report that,
as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and is, in all material respects, consistent with
the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal requirements, and appropriately presents
the opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the executive directors are responsible for such
arrangements and measures (systems) as they have considered necessary to enable the preparation of a group
management report that is in accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, and to be able to
provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the group management report.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements and of the group management report.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OF THE GROUP
MANAGEMENT REPORT

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the group management
report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and, in all material respects, is con-
sistent with the consolidated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the
German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as
well as to issue an auditor’s report that includes our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements
and on the group management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with § 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for
Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprifer (IDW) will aiways detect a mate-
rial misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements and this group management report.

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

v

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consclidated financial statements and of the
group management report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one re-
sulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial statements
and of arrangements and measuzes {systems) relevant to the audit of the group management report in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an audit opinion on the effectiveness of these systems.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the executive directors and the reasonableness
of estimates made by the executive directors and related disclosures.

> Conclude on the appropriateness of the executive directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or condi-
tions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related dis-
closures in the consolidated financial statements and in the group management report or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our respective audit opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence ob-
tained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group 1o
cease (o be able Lo continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial staterments present the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabili-

v

v
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ties, financial position and financial performance of the Group in compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the
EU and the additiona)l requirements of Gennan commercial lJaw pursuant to § 315e Abs. 1 HGB.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the
group management repart. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and perfermance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinions.

Evaluate the consistency of the group management repornt with the consclidated financial statements, its
conformity with German law, and the view of the Group's position it provides.

Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the executive directors in the group
management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, the sig-
nificant assumptions used by the executive directors as a basis for the prospective information, and evaluate
the proper derivation of the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not express a separate
audit opinioh on the prospective information and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial
unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from the prospective information.

'

¥
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the relevant
independence requirements, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may rea-
sonably be thought 1o bear on our independence, and where applicable, the related safeguards.

From the matters comununicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter.

OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

FURTHER INFORMATION PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 10 OF THE EU AUDIT REGULATION
We were elected as group auditor by the annual general meeting on 20 March 2018, We were engaged by the
supervisory board on 14 June 2018. We have becn the group auditor of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH, Braun-
schweig, without interruption since the financial vear 1949,

We declare that the audit opinions expressed in this auditor’s report are consistent with the additional re-
port to the audit committee pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (fong-form audit report)
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GERMAN PUBLIC AUDITOR RESPONSIBLE FOR THE ENGAGEMENT
The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is Burkhard Eckes.
Hanover, 21 February 2019

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH

Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft

Burkhard Eckes ppa. Mirko Braun
Wirtschaftspriifer Wirtschaftspriifer
(German Public Auditor) {German Public Auditor)
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ed Financial Stat t Report of the Supervisory Board

Report of the
Supervisory Board

of Volkswagen Bank Gmibh

During the reporting period, the Supervisory Board has regularly concerned itself closely with the situation and
development of the Bank. The Management reguiarly provided the Supervisory Board with timely and com-
prehensive information, both written and oral, on the key aspects of planning, on the situation of the Bank,
including the tisk position and risk management, and on business development. On the basis of these reports
by the Management, the Supervisory Board continually monitored the conduct of the Bank’s business and was
thus able to perform the functions entrusted to it by law and under the articles of association without any
restrictions, All decisions of fundamental importance to the Bank and other transactions requiring the approv-
al of the Supervisory Board in accordance with the rules of procedure were reviewed and discussed with the
Management before a resolution was adopted.

The Supervisory Board has twelve members. It held four regular meetings in the reporting period; there were
no extraordinary meetings. The average attendance rate was 94%. Three Supervisory Board members attended
three meetings, all others aticnded all four meetings. Two resolutions were passed in writing, and one resolution
was adopted by the Chairman of the Supervisory by way of expedited procedure,

COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES

‘The Supervisory Board sel up commiltees in accordance with section 25d of the Kreditwesengesetz (KWG -
German Banking Act).

Audit Commiitee

The Audit Committee held two regular meetings and one extraordinary meeting in the reporting period.
During the reporting period, there were no urgent transactions that would have required a decision by circula-
tion of written resolutions for approval. All members of the Audit Commitiee were present at the meetings.

At the meeting held on the March 2, 2018, the Audit Committee reviewed the annual financial statements
and the management seport, the consolidated financial statements and the group management report of
Volkswagen Bank GmbH for the year ended December 31, 2017 together with the proposa) for the appropria-
tion of profit. As part of this review, the Audit Committee discussed with the external auditors the reports on
the audit of the annual financial statements, the management repori, the consolidated financial siatements
and the group management report of Volkswagen Bank GmbH as well as material transactions and issues relat-
ed to financial reporting. The Committee gathered details to establish the extent to which there were relation-
ships of a professional, financial or other nature between the external auditors and the Bank and/or its govern-
ing bodies with a view to assessing the independence of the external auditors. In this regard, the Audit
Committee obtained information on the services that the external auditors had provided for the Bank in addi-
tion to the auditing activities and on whether there were any grounds for disqualification or partiality. Follow-
ing a detailed evaluation of the independence of the external auditors, the Audit Committee submitted a rec-
ommendation to the sole shareholder regarding the election of the external auditors and drew up the
resolution covering the issue of the audit engagement in preparation for the Annual General Meeting, In addi-
tion, the Comimittee received reports on progress with the implementation of IFRS 8, the implementation of
the European General Data Protection Regulation and on internal and external audit procedures and the relat-
ed findings. The Committee deall, moreover, with the preselection result in the process for choosing a new
auditor.
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The Audit Committee devoted its entire extraordinary meeting held on November 1, 2018 to the selection
process for appointing a new auditor from 2020 onward and submitled its recommendation in this regard to
the Supervisory Board. The Audit Committee's recommendation consisted of two proposals and an indication
of its preference for one of the two firms proposed.

At its meeting on December 13, 2018, the Audit Committee discussed the audit planning, key audit matters
and the obligations of the external auditors to provide information and subsequently prepared a proposal to
the Supervisory Board for the election of the auditor for the current fiscal year. The external auditors also re-
ported on significant results of the preliminary audits. The Committee then heard a report on the findings of a
number of external reviews as well as a report from the Head of Internal Audit. Finally, the Committee con-
cerned itself with the services provided by the auditors in the reporting period.

Risk Committee

The Risk Committee held three regular meetings in the reporting period. During the reporting period, there
were no urgent transactions that would have required a decision by circulation of written resolutions for ap-
proval. All members of the Risk Committee were present at the meetings.

At its meeting on March 2, 2018, the Risk Committce discussed the frequency and intensity of reports on
strategy and risk that the Management is required to present to the Committee. After that, the Committee
dealt with risk management, in particular the risk strategy and risk mitigation, and heard a report on the
ECB’s ongoing activities and a progress report on the cancellation of loan agreements.

At its meeting on May 28, 2018, the Risk Committee debated the recovery plan for Volkswagen Bank, the
current status of the cancellation of loan agreements and of the review of how risk, capital, and liquidity
structures are taken into account, and the probability/due dates of income in the context of setting incen-
tives in the remuneration system,

At the meeting held on December 13, 2018, the Committee heard reports on the risk cuiture, the results
of Volkswagen Bank GmbH in the ECB’s 2018 stress test and the recovery and resolution plan. The Commit-
tee also discussed interest ratc and exchange rate management and limit utilization in the UK subsidiary
Volkswagen Financial Services {UK) and in the UK Branch of Volkswagen Bank GGmbH, as well as the terms
and conditions in the customer business as compared to the business model and risk structure.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee held one regular meeting in the reporting period. A resolution on consent
for the Management's anticipatory resolution on loans to executive bodies was passed in writing. All members
of the Remuneration Committee were present at the meetings.

At its meeting on March 2, 2018, the Remuneration Committee discussed the constraints and determination
of the total amount available for variable remuneratien (bonus peol) in accordance with the Institulsvergiitung-
sverordnung (IVV — German Remuneration Regulation for Institutions), the review of negative performance
contributions in accordance with section 20(5) of the IVV, and the approval of higher variable remuneration.

At its meeting on April 23, 2018, the Committee’s only discussion point was Management remuneration. On
May 28, 2018, the Commitiee asked the remuneration officer to explain the plan for implementing IVV version
3.0

On September 19, 2018, dealt with the appointment of the deputy remuneration officer and the appropri-

ateness of remuneration in accordance with section 12 of the IVV. In addition, the Committee requested an
explanation of the risk taker analysis process.
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The focus of the Remunerstion Committee’s meeting held on December 13, 2018 was on determining the
company bonus at Volkswagen Bank, the IVV-specific changes in the areas of negative perfermance contribu-
tions and sustainability, and the results of the risk taker analysis. Finally. the remuneration officer presented the
remuneration report.

Nomination Committee

‘The Nomination Committee held one meeting in the reporting period, which was attended by all its mem-
bers. There were no written resolutions in the reporting period.

The issues addressed by the Committee at its meeting on October 01, 2018 included the annual assessment
of Management and Supervisory Board, the twaining offering for the members of the Supervisory Board (lifelong
learning), and the definition of targets for the proportion of women at Volkswagen Bank GmbH. Finally, the
Committee addressed the extension of the appeintment of one of the Managing Directors.

Credit Committee

The Credit Committee is responsible for approving issues that the Supervisory Board has to deal with by
law and under the rules of procedure relating 1o loan commitments, the assumption of sureties, guarantees
and similar liabilities, Bank borrowings, the purchasing of receivables and for master agreements governing
the assumption of receivables. The Credit Committee is composed of three members of the Supervisory Board
and makes its decisions by means of written resolutions.

No other committee meetings were held in the reporting period.

The members of the cormmittees also consulted each other on several occasions and were in constant con-
tact with the Management outside comiuiitee meetings. The activities of the committees were reported at the
plenary meetings of the Supervisory Board.

MATTERS DISCUSSED BY THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

Al its meeting on March 2, 2018, the Supervisory Board reviewed in detail and subsequently approved the
2017 consolidated financial statements prepared by the Management and the annual financial statements of
Volkswagen Bank GmbH. Other issues that were discussed inciuded a guideiine on how to deal with conflicts of
interest, capex planning and an update to the investment guideline. Finally, the Supervisory Board approved a
number of company law measures in connection with the separation of Volkswagen Bank GmbH's European
lending business from Volkswagen Financial Services AG’s other activities.

Both at this meeting and at the meetings held on May 29, September 19 and December 13, the Management
provided us with comprehensive reports on the economic and financial position of the Bank.

At the meeting on May 28, 2018, the Board concerned itself in particular with the OPEX {operational excel-
lence) program and heard a report from the Management on regulatory requirements.

On September 19, the Supervisory Board first dealt with arganizational matters. After that, following de-
tailed consultation, it approved the medium-term financial and investment planning of the Bank and Group
and heard a report on Volkswagen Bank's strategic orientation. Other topics included the closure of Direct Bank
branches, management mechanisms for the market in France, and preparations for the impending ECB review,
Finally, the Supervisory Board approved further company law measures in cennection with the bundling of
Volkswagen Bank GmbH's European lending business and its separation [rom the other activities of
Volkswagen Financial Services AG.
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At its meeting on December 13, 2018, the main focus was on the Volkswagen Group's “Together 4 Integrity”
project, a progress report on the ECB review, and the purchase policy for ABS transactions. Other points of
discussion were the effects of WLTP on Velkswagen Bank GmbH, the definition of targets for the proportion of
women and the selection of a new external auditor from 2020 onward. The Supervisory Board also discussed
the results of the annual assessment of Management and the Supervisory Board in accordance with section 25d
of the Kreditwesengesetz (KWG — German Banking Act) and the training programs available to the members of
the Supervisory Board. Finally, we extended a management mandate and approved the establishment of a
payment services company in the Netherlands.

At each of the meetings, the chairpersons of the respective committees reported in detail on the contents of
their committee meetings, as far as these have taken place,

AUDIT OF THE ANNUAL AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PricewaterhouseCaopers GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschafi, Hanover, was appointed to audit hoth the
consolidated financial statements of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group in accordance with the [FRSS and the
annual financiat statements of Volkswagen Bank GmbH in accordance with the HGR for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2018, including the bookkeeping system and management reports.

The consolidated financial statements of the Volkswagen Bank GmbH Group in accordance with the IFRSS
and the annual financial statements of Volkswagen Bank GmbH in accordance with the HGB for the year ended
December 31, 2018, together with the management reports, were submitled to the Supervisory Board. The
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft, Hanover, audited these financial
statements, including the bookkeeping system and the management reports, and issued an unqualified audi-
tor’s opinion in each case.

The Supervisory Board agrees with the findings of these audits. The Supervisory Board had no reservations
after its review of the consolidated financial statements and the annual financial statements, including the
management reports. The independent auditors were present when this agenda item was addressed at the
Supervisory Board meeting and they reported on the main findings of their audit.

At its meeting on March 7, 2019, the Supervisory Board approved both the consolidated financial statements
and annual financial statements of Volkswagen Bank GmbH prepared by the Management. The consolidated finan-
cial statements and annual financial statements have thus been adopted.

In accordance with the existing control and profit-and-loss transfer agreement, the profits reported in the fi-
nancial statements of Volkswagen Bank GmbH for the year ended December 31, 2018 have been transferred to
Volkswagen AG.

The Supervisory Board would like to take this opportunity to express its gratitude and appreciation for the
work of the members of the Management, the members of the Works Council, the managerial staff and all
employees of Volkswagen Bank GmbH and its affiliated companies. The high level of commitment from all of
them has helped to sustain the ongoing growth of Volkswagen Bank GmbH.

Braunschweig, March 7, 2019

Dr. Jérg Boche
Chairman of the Supervisory Board



NOTE ON FORWARD-LOGKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward-looking statements on the business development of Volkswagen Bank GmbH.
These statements are based on assumptions relating to the development of the global economy and of the
financial and automotive markets, which Volkswagen Bank GmbH has made on the basis of the information
available to it and which it considers to be realistic at the time of going to press. The estimates given entail a

degree of risk, and actual developments may differ from those forecast.

Should actual developments turn out to be different, contrary to expectations and assumptions, or unfore-
seen events occur that have an impact on the business of Voikswagen Bank GmbH, this will have a correspond-

ing effect on the business development of the Bank.
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